
Dear Aquila Shareholder:

So much has changed at your company in the past 12 months,
we even have a new name.  UtiliCorp United has become
Aquila, Inc.  Our stock now trades under the symbol ILA.  

The collapse of our biggest wholesale competitor in December
2001 sent far-reaching shock waves throughout our industry
and beyond.  Our most important message to you is that, in
spite of the economic downturn and the turmoil in our indus-
try, Aquila is in sound financial condition.  As capital mar-
kets stabilize, our strong balance sheet provides room to
maneuver. We intend to capitalize on opportunities to expand
operations and gain market share as many of our peers sell
assets to pay down debt and meet credit commitments.

Take a close look at the numbers in this report.  They tell the
story.  Operating earnings per diluted share, excluding non-
recurring items, were $2.44, up 17 percent from $2.08 in 2000.
Earnings per diluted share including the non-recurring items
were $2.42.  At the end of 2001, our debt was 50 percent of
total capitalization, and a month later it dropped to 42 per-
cent, the lowest in many years.  In (Continued on next page)
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Letter to Shareholders

Letter (continued from front cover)
January 2002, we completed the exchange
offer that recombined the company with
its wholesale energy and risk management
subsidiary.  We also completed an offering
of 12.5 million common shares.

Return on average common equity for
2001 was 11.7 percent, even while issuing
more than $750 million in equity over the
year. By that standard, 2001 was one of
our two best years in the past ten. Average
12-month return on equity for our industry
as of September 2001 was 10.5 percent.  

Our credit rating remains at investment
grade. We are firmly committed to keeping
it that way. Our ability to cover interest
costs with cash flow is substantially higher
than in recent years. 

Our systems and procedures for moni-
toring and controlling risk are recognized
as among the best in the business.  We
apply these controls rigorously, both to
limit the risk in our energy trading opera-
tions and to manage our exposure to
credit risk from transactions with others. 

Our fundamental strategy is to manage
our risk and transfer it to the capital mar-
kets. In 2001, two-thirds of our trading
days were profitable and contributed to
record earnings. Our credit risk manage-
ment processes have performed excep-

tionally well, limiting our exposure to both
the California energy crisis and the col-
lapse of Enron to a level well below that of
our peers.

Our New Look
We’d like to point out the kaleidoscope
symbol in the upper corner of our new let-
terhead. It coincides with adoption of our
new name to mark the recombining of
UtiliCorp and its subsidiary formerly
known as Aquila, Inc., which we had
partly spun off in April 2001. It also repre-
sents some of the company’s key qualities
that have contributed to our success. 

Much like a kaleidoscope, your company
is continually developing new perspectives
to create ever-expanding ways to serve our
clients and customers. Our new logo sym-
bolizes our belief that one of our most
valuable abilities is to master change as a
positive catalyst for growth.

The Aquila Values
We’re committed to achieving a winning
combination for our customers, sharehold-
ers and associates. While our core values
define the rules of the game, we believe
success is ensured when our associates
possess the following characteristics:

q Accountable, taking full ownership of
what they do;

q Best in class, performing at the highest
possible level;

q Creative in their efforts to arrive at
win-win-win solutions; and 

q Driven in a relentless pursuit of results
for our clients.

Speaking of results, our expectations for
performance both internally and exter-
nally have never been higher. Externally,
we continue to innovate ahead of the com-
petition and deliver superior solutions to
our clients. Internally, we must be equally
innovative in attracting and retaining the
very best talent.  Our performance-based
culture celebrates and rewards excellence
and demands that performance and be-
havior are aligned with our core values of
integrity, respect and teamwork.  People
who can’t meet these expectations are not
a fit in our culture and business. 

2001 Financial Results
We had operating earnings per diluted
share of $2.44 in 2001. Earnings per di-
luted share were $2.42 per share, after
recording the following non-recurring
items: 

q An after-tax gain of $59 million, or $.51
per share, related to the April 2001 ini-
tial public offering of Aquila Merchant
Services, Inc.;

q An after-tax expense of approximately
$40 million, or $.34 per share, arising
from trading and investment transac-
tions involving Enron and its sub-
sidiaries;

q $9.9 million, or $.09 per share, in after-
tax expenses related to limiting the
build-out of our communications net-
work to only the Kansas City market; 

q A charge of $11.5 million, or $.10 per
share, related to asset valuation re-
serves required at international busi-
nesses.

For the year 2000 we reported earnings
of $2.21 per diluted share, which included
a gain of $29 million, or $.30 per share,
from the initial public offering of
Uecomm, Ltd. in Australia, and after-tax
impairments and other charges totaling
$16.3 million, or $.17 per share.

Sales in 2001 were $40.4 billion, up 39
percent from $29.0 billion in 2000.  Earn-
ings before interest and taxes (EBIT)
were $704.7 million, up 31 percent from
$540.0 million.

▲ On January 1, 2002, the role of Aquila chief executive officer passed from Chairman Richard C. Green, Jr.
(left) to President Robert K. Green, who had served as president and chief operating officer since 1996.

Letter (continued from front cover)
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Disappointing Share Price
In 2001, we had record earnings and met
our growth targets, but our share price
came under pressure. Over the past year,
the equity markets have been turbulent.
Many in our industry have revised their
earnings guidance and come under in-
tense scrutiny.  While it is small consola-
tion, on a relative basis our share price
held up better than most in the current
environment—it was off less than 20 per-
cent while many of our peers suffered
much greater declines.  We continue to
believe our performance ultimately will be
rewarded in the financial markets. 

The New Aquila, Inc.
Nearly a year ago, we completed an initial
public offering of 20 percent of our energy
merchant subsidiary, today known as
Aquila Merchant Services. It was our in-
tent, if market conditions had remained
favorable, to spin off the rest of that unit
within a year to achieve a market valua-
tion more in line with the higher price-
earnings ratios which at the time were as-
sociated with energy merchants. 

Significant events in the energy mer-
chant sector in mid to late 2001 resulted
in your board’s decision to buy back the
Aquila Merchant shares sold in the offer-
ing. The board concluded that greater
shareholder value could be obtained by
recombining the financial strength of
Aquila’s Global Networks Group with the
growth opportunities that lie ahead for
the Merchant group.  This was not a
change in Aquila’s competitive strategy,
but rather a change in how we will fi-
nance the execution of that strategy. 

With the recombination already com-
plete, finalizing our acquisition of Mid-
lands Electricity in England (expected to
occur in late March) will make this a very
different company.  About two-thirds of
our projected earnings this year will be
from energy merchant and risk manage-
ment activities and from international
network operations. All of those have
higher returns and higher growth poten-
tial than our networks in the United
States, which are the most regulated of all
our businesses. Still, the Domestic Net-
works segment remains a stable base of
earnings and cash flow.

Merchant Assets
While we see tremendous opportunity
today to expand Merchant Services’ opera-
tions, we also recognize that the markets
for capital and credit are tightening.  We

evaluate all opportunities against three
criteria.  Each must enhance our strategy,
achieve appropriate risk-adjusted finan-
cial returns, and not diminish our overall
credit rating.

Our philosophy is to have a balanced
mix of assets that complements our trad-
ing and risk management activities.  Cur-
rently, Aquila owns and operates 4,721
megawatts of generation capacity and 62.5
billion cubic feet (Bcf) of natural gas stor-
age capacity, including projects under
construction or in development.  

In 2001, Aquila Merchant Services in-
vested $172 million to expand its genera-
tion portfolio, and with a partner it will in-
vest $220 million in the second quarter of
2002 to acquire and develop a 12 Bcf gas
storage facility in California.

The Aries power plant began operation
as scheduled during the summer of 2001
and construction began on four power
plants which consist of one combined-
cycle plant and three peaking plants.  We
expect three of these plants to be on line
for the 2002 cooling season.

Risk Management Specialists
Another expanding market opportunity for
our merchant business is in products and
services specifically tailored to reduce the
risk inherent in our clients’ businesses.
These risks, if unmanaged, can create
volatility in our clients’ financial results.
For example, we can offer a utility client a
combined product specifically tailored to
reduce their financial exposure to genera-
tion outages, variations from normal
weather patterns and fluctuations in natu-
ral gas or power costs.

Our family of GuaranteedWeather®

products offers solutions to many different
industries that have their earnings at risk
due to weather volatility. The demand for
our products continues to increase, as
companies realize they can stabilize earn-
ings that are subject to weather volatility.
The latest innovations target utilities, the

agricultural market and the chemical fer-
tilizer industry.  Merchant Services has
formed seven partnerships with leading
reinsurance companies to create a global
weather risk portfolio spanning 10 coun-
tries. Today we offer more than 20 risk
management products and Aquila ac-
counts for one third of the rapidly growing
world market for weather derivatives.

With 16 years of experience in risk man-
agement and our expertise in managing
both merchant and network infrastructure
assets, Aquila is ideally situated to take
advantage of today’s increasing conver-
gence of the capital, commodity and in-
surance markets.

Today we trade about 35 different com-
modities.  New offerings include such
things as hourly gas and global liquids.
We have access to the gas transmission
system as well as the electricity grid, en-
abling us to deliver gas or power nearly
anywhere in North America with 30 min-
utes’ notice.

Aquila Merchant Services is well posi-
tioned in Europe.  In 2001, we exited the
retail business, transferred key personnel
from North America and refocused our ef-
forts on the wholesale market. We are
leading there with the same strategy we
deployed in North America.  We build liq-
uidity, gain fundamental knowledge of the
inner workings of a market, and then add
select capacity, building a proprietary net-
work of owned or controlled assets.  

Accounting Practices
A number of accounting methods have
been in the news recently. Some of them
have been portrayed as controversial, if
not downright suspicious. We’d like to
clear the air, particularly regarding what
is known as “mark-to-market” accounting. 

For parts of the Merchant Services busi-
ness, mark-to-market accounting is not an
option—it’s required by accounting stan-
dards.  “Mark-to-market” literally means
what it says. Our trading operations main-
tain books on all their trades. The books
are adjusted—or marked—to reflect the
market value for each contract, using
quotes primarily published in authorita-
tive sources. We also take into account
any associated risks such as credit risk.
These mark-to-market values are shown
on our balance sheet as price risk man-
agement assets and liabilities.   

Global Networks Group
In November 2001 we formed the Global
Networks Group to manage all of our elec-
tricity, natural gas and communicationsBI
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networks and field services worldwide.
Our electric and gas distribution networks
around the world operate in more than 18
regulatory jurisdictions, providing a diver-
sity that stabilizes earnings and limits the
impact of any one regulatory decision.

With the anticipated addition of Mid-
lands Electricity in the United Kingdom in
late March 2002, the group will be serving
more than 6 million network customers in
five countries. Formation of the Global
Networks Group presents a substantial op-
portunity to strengthen our businesses by
applying consistent measures of financial
and operating performance. It enables us
to use global synergies to reduce costs and
improve customer service. 

Aquila Merchant Services helps our net-
works identify and manage the various
types of risks inherent in their businesses.
For example, our risk management ex-
perts have helped our networks establish
weather hedges to reduce the financial
impact of abnormal weather patterns.

We decided to reduce our interests in
the retail aspects of network operations in
Australia, and exit retail altogether in
New Zealand and part of Canada.  Today
we concentrate more fully on the distribu-
tion segment of the business.

Once we’ve invested in a property, our
Global Networks strategy includes opti-
mizing and monetizing that asset. That
means we improve the quality and prof-
itability of operations, then find ways to
extract value so we can redeploy the capi-
tal and repeat the process elsewhere.

International Networks 
Our income from Canadian operations
more than doubled in 2001, reflecting our
successful integration of TransAlta’s
58,000-mile electric distribution system in
Alberta, which we acquired in August
2000.  The integration plan we carried out
last year included combining West Koote-
nay Power with the Alberta business to
find synergies and improve operations.

In Australia’s state of Victoria, we man-
age electric and gas utilities in an envi-
ronment of full retail competition for all
classes of customers, which has been
phased in by class over the past eight
years. United Energy, which we manage as
34 percent owner, continued to perform
well in its core businesses, but its 2001 re-
sults were affected by challenges at its
Uecomm communications subsidiary, as
well as at United Energy’s remaining re-
tail interests, which have been adversely
impacted by recent regulatory decisions.

In Western Australia, AlintaGas had an

excellent year.  It is the state’s major dis-
tributor of natural gas.  Since Aquila and
United Energy became its “cornerstone”
shareholders with a jointly held 45 per-
cent interest in October 2000, AlintaGas
has restructured, reduced its debt, cut op-
erating costs and streamlined its business. 

Our UnitedNetworks unit in New
Zealand achieved 10 percent growth in
earnings compared to 2000 results.  Dur-
ing 2001 it sold its field services business
and reduced financing costs.

Domestic Networks 
Results of the Domestic Networks seg-
ment in 2001 included a full year of opera-
tions of St. Joseph Light & Power, which
we acquired through a $282 million
merger at the end of 2000.

In February 2002, we reached a negoti-
ated settlement with state regulators to
reduce our Missouri electric rates by $4.3
million per year. When we applied for a
$49.4 million rate increase in June 2001,
fuel costs for our power plants had in-
creased dramatically. As the case pro-
gressed, those costs dropped, lessening
the need for the increase.

Communications Networks
We’ve been developing communications
businesses since 1997, when we launched
a network in Australia.  As the supply of
fiber-optic capacity outran demand, we
slowed down our activities in each of the
countries where we have communications
networks.  

Uecomm, Ltd., 66 percent owned by our
United Energy affiliate, went public in
2000.  It serves several metropolitan
areas, including Melbourne, Sydney, Bris-
bane and Perth. Uecomm expects signifi-
cant improvement in its financial results
in 2002 after a difficult 2001. 

Over the past 12 months, Everest Con-
nections, 89 percent owned by Aquila, has
gained a loyal following in several commu-
nities in the Kansas City area.  Everest
provides state-of-the-art, fiber-optic con-

nections that bring a package of services
into homes and businesses. These include
cable television, local and long-distance
telephone, data services and high-speed
Internet.  In neighborhoods where Everest
is available, better than one-third of all
households become Everest customers
within 90 days, with most of those choos-
ing a package of all three services. 

Quanta Services
Our 38 percent equity interest in Quanta
Services, Inc. makes us its largest share-
holder.  Quanta is one of the largest field
services companies in the U.S., serving the
maintenance and construction needs of
utilities, pipelines and telecommunica-
tions companies.  

We believe that Quanta’s disappointing
financial performance underscores the
failure of its current board to create value
for all Quanta shareholders.  Accordingly,
we announced in February 2002 that we
intend to seek control of Quanta’s board
of directors by presenting an opposition
slate of candidates for election by Quanta
shareholders at their 2002 annual meet-
ing.  If our candidates are elected to the
Quanta board, their goal will be to more
aggressively pursue initiatives to maxi-
mize value for all Quanta shareholders.
They will consider a full range of options,
including strategic partnerships, the initi-
ation of a sale process and a stock repur-
chase program in the range of 20 to 25
percent of Quanta’s outstanding shares.

We continue to see significant opportu-
nity for Quanta with outsourcing from util-
ities and upgrading the power transmis-
sion grid to accommodate new generation
and competitive wholesale power markets.
Many of Aquila’s wholesale energy clients
are large Quanta clients.

Dividends
We set the current $1.20 annual dividend
rate on our common stock four years ago.
Each year since then, our earnings avail-
able to common shares have increased.
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This has caused the dividend payout ratio
to decline to its present level of about 48
percent of diluted earnings per share.
This trend is likely to continue as we con-
centrate on long-term earnings growth.

We remain committed to paying the div-
idend at the current level of $1.20.

Office of the Chairman
After serving as chief executive officer for
16 years, Rick Green is now devoting his
full time to the role of chairman of the
board. President Bob Green became CEO
on January 1, 2002. 

When Bob became president in 1996, 58
percent of our earnings before interest
and taxes were from the regulated U.S.
utility business.  Five years later, 56 per-
cent of operating EBIT was from the en-
ergy merchant business, and 19 percent
was from the international networks.
Today our business model is more focused
and better positioned to deliver growth
going forward.  Operating earnings per
share have grown at a compound average
rate of 12 percent over the past five years.

As chairman, Rick is focusing primarily
on key issues that are of great importance
to Aquila’s future. These include helping
the merchant and network businesses be-
come more and more market-driven and
customer-focused; contributing to the de-
bate in Washington on national energy
policy; continuing to lead the company’s
drive to ensure that positive values and
strong ethics are a central part of our cor-
porate culture; and further developing
Aquila’s human capital. 

Your Board of Directors
Gerald L. Shaheen was named a director
in August 2001.  As group president at
Caterpillar Inc., he is responsible for the
design, development and production of
the majority of Caterpillar’s extensive line
of machines, as well as marketing and
sales in North America. 

Heidi E. Hutter, chief executive officer
and a principal of The Black Diamond

Group, LLC, began serving on the board of
Aquila in February 2002. The Black Dia-
mond Group is a New York-based mer-
chant bank and advisory company prima-
rily serving the insurance industry. 

Dr. Shirley Ann Jackson resigned from
our board in May 2001 to devote more
time to her duties as president of Rensse-
laer Polytechnic Institute.

Officer Changes
Keith Stamm took the helm of our Global
Networks Group when it was formed in
November 2001. He served as chief execu-
tive officer of Aquila Merchant Services
since 2000 and prior to that was CEO of
United Energy in Australia for two years.
Jim Miller, CEO of what is now our Do-
mestic Networks segment, has retired. He
had nearly 20 years of service and played
a key role managing the integration of our
utility acquisitions in the 1990s.  

Dan Streek became chief financial offi-
cer of the company in August 2001. He re-
placed former CFO Peter Lowe, who re-
turned to Australia last year after his two-
year assignment in Kansas City.  Streek
joined Aquila in 1992 and is a certified
public accountant.

Dale J. Wolf retired in August 2001 after
nearly 40 years of service. The last 12 of
those years he was vice president, finance
as well as treasurer and corporate secre-
tary. Dale’s reputation with shareholders
and the investment community as a man
of integrity and dedication is very well de-
served. 

In September 2001, Leslie J. Parrette,
Jr., our senior vice president and general
counsel, took on the added duty of corpo-
rate secretary. Randal P. Miller became
vice president, finance and treasurer. He
joined Aquila in 1988 and recently served
two years in Australia as chief financial of-
ficer of United Energy. 

A Team of Owners
For more than 15 years, we’ve mentioned
in this annual letter how much we value

the high level of stock ownership among
our employee-associates. This year is no
exception.  More than three-fourths of
Aquila’s people own Aquila common
shares, and more than 10 percent of our
total shares outstanding are theirs.

Our culture is built around the caring
that ownership brings. Aquila associates
care about the company’s future, and they
care about doing what’s best for Aquila
customers and shareholders.

Several years ago our associates helped
us document our expectations regarding
professional and ethical behavior.  We
refer to these standards frequently and
update them periodically.  We also require
that all our people complete training on
these matters.  Our integrity individually
and as a company will continue to be fun-
damental and uncompromising.

The Year Ahead
We expect our balanced portfolio of busi-
nesses to again enable your company to
meet earnings growth targets. Our global
network businesses should continue to
provide stable core earnings while our
merchant businesses deliver growth by
providing high value-added services that
help our clients optimize assets on the en-
ergy grid and manage their business risk.

This combination gives us confidence in
our ability to meet or exceed our target of
10 percent growth in earnings per share
in 2002. For subsequent years, we expect
earnings per share to grow at 10 to 15 per-
cent per year.

The events that have rocked the energy
industry have created further opportunity
for Aquila to grow by expanding our risk
management product offerings and invest-
ing in complementary assets.  As always,
we will maintain conservative financial
structures and the highest integrity.

We expect the long-term results of this
strategy will greatly benefit our sharehold-
ers, customers and associates.  On behalf
of all Aquila associates worldwide, thank
you for your continued support.

RICHARD C. GREEN, JR.
C H A I R M A N

ROBERT K. GREEN
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

F E B R U A R Y  2 8 ,  2 0 0 2
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Financial Snapshot
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In millions, except per share 2001 2000 % Change

Sales $ 40,376.8 $28,974.9 39.4%
Earnings before interest and taxes 704.7 540.0 30.5
Earnings available for common shares 279.4 206.8 35.1

Diluted earnings per common share $ 2.42 $ 2.21 9.5%
Cash dividends per common share 1.20 1.20 —
Book value per common share 22.01 17.94 22.7
Diluted average common shares outstanding 115.71 93.75 23.4

Total assets $11,948.3 $14,026.9 (14.8)%
Total capitalization 5,777.2 5,148.2 12.2
Common equity as percent of capitalization 44.2% 35.0% 26.3
Return on average common equity 11.7% 13.5% (13.3)

s Sales increased 39% in 2001 compared to 2000, and
117% since 1999, primarily due to increased trading
volumes in natural gas and power.

s Total assets decreased primarily due to price risk
management assets reflecting current market condi-
tions.

s The company’s total EBIT rose 31% in 2001 compared
to 2000. EBIT from our merchant business more than
doubled.

s Total capitalization increased 12.2% in 2001, prima-
rily due to our stock offering and our sale of Aquila
Merchant shares.

s The increased earnings from our merchant business
flowed to the bottom line. Earnings available for
common shares rose 35%.

s Return on average common equity decreased in 2001
due to the large equity increase resulting from our
stock offering and sale of Aquila Merchant shares.

s Our dividend payout ratio has continued to decline
as we fund more growth in operations.

s Our share price decreased 18.8% in 2001 due to the
prevailing market conditions.
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In March 2002, UtiliCorp United
changed its name to Aquila, Inc.
and introduced a new corporate
identity that unites all its major
business units under a single
brand. To remember the trading
symbol for Aquila common stock
(ILA), think “ I Love Aquila.”

WELCOME to the fifth edition 
of Aquila’s annual report news-
magazine for shareholders. Our
financial newsmagazine concept
has been very well received over
the past four years. It reflects
our firm belief that annual reports
should be both interesting and
easy to understand. We always
welcome your comments.
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MERCHANT SERVICES

O P E R A T I O N S M A R K E T S

Our wholly owned subsidiary Aquila Merchant Services is one of the largest
and most innovative providers of risk management and wholesale energy in
North America. Its asset portfolio includes electric generation plants; natural
gas gathering, storage, pipeline and processing assets; and a coal terminal.
Aquila Merchant Services markets and trades a diverse portfolio of commodi-
ties including natural gas, power, global liquids and weather derivatives.  

N O R T H  A M E R I C A

E U R O P E

We currently serve utility and industrial clients in several parts of the
United States. Aquila is developing additional power plants in regions
where imbalances of supply and demand are forecast to continue. We
compete with electric utilities and other independent power producers.

■ Natural Gas
We gather natural gas from the wellhead, treat it, process it to
extract the natural gas liquids, and deliver the gas and gas liquids to
various markets. Aquila owns about 3,800 miles of pipeline and is the
14th-largest producer of natural gas liquids in the United States. We
own 62.5 billion cubic feet of natural gas storage capacity, including
facilities under development

■ Power Generation
Aquila owns or controls approximately 4,721 megawatts (MW) of 
non-regulated power generation capacity, including capacity under
development. We have 26 projects in 12 states. Each facility uses 
traditional fuels and proven technologies.

Our natural gas pipelines and processing plants in Texas and Oklahoma
are connected to the major delivery hubs in East and West Texas. Our
gas storage facilities primarily serve utilities and major industrial cus-
tomers. We compete with major integrated energy companies and with
independent pipelines and processors.

■ Coal
We own and operate a coal terminal in West Virginia that provides
throughput, blending and storage services. It has an annual capacity 
of about 5 million tons.

We provide coal and material handling services to the utility and 
industrial markets, primarily in the Central Atlantic region. Our 
competition includes major coal companies and other bulk terminals.

■ Commodity Group
As one of the largest-volume energy wholesalers in North America,
Aquila markets power, natural gas, natural gas liquids, crude oil, 
coal and other related commodities. We also provide a broad line 
of weather-derivative risk management products known as
GuaranteedWeather® which enable clients to reduce numerous 
financial risks related to variations in the weather. Aquila participates
in the global energy market as a founding partner and 5% owner of the
IntercontinentalExchangeTM, the world's largest online commodities
exchange.

We market energy and other commodities to utilities and major industrial
customers across the United States, the United Kingdom, Continental
Europe and Canada. Our weather products serve utilities, cities and a
broad range of businesses that are affected by variations in weather,
including agriculture, construction, commercial fishing, sports and
tourism. Aquila competes with other top-ten energy wholesalers in
North America. The first company to complete a weather derivative
transaction, we are considered a pioneer and one of the few providers
of such products.

■ Client Group
Aquila partners with clients to identify, assess and measure risks, then
create solutions to mitigate energy portfolio risks of all kinds.

Partners we work with include local energy distribution companies,
industrial and manufacturing firms and municipal power providers. 
Our competition is primarily other energy companies and the "Big Five"
accounting firms.

Aquila's European operations, headquartered in London, provide wholesale
energy marketing, trading and risk management services in the United
Kingdom, Germany and Scandinavia. We also own and operate a natural gas
storage facility in Cheshire, England.

We provide a range of wholesale and risk management services to utili-
ties and large-scale energy users in the U.K. and Europe. We also trade
physical products such as coal and global liquids. Our competitors
include major energy companies and risk management providers.

■ Capital Group
We combine our risk management and commodity expertise to structure
energy asset financing for clients in innovative ways, providing a com-
petitive alternative to traditional project financing. Since launching
this business in 1998, we have completed more than 50 transactions
and committed more than $950 million in capital.

Aquila has funded projects in the oil, gas, coal and power sectors 
across the U.S. Clients include owners and developers of energy assets,
producers, independent power providers, industrial firms, utilities, 
reinsurers and new business ventures. Primary competitors include other
energy companies, banks and "mezzanine" lenders.

Capacity Services acquires, develops and manages electric power and natural gas assets. These include generation, transportation, underground gas
storage and related energy delivery assets.

Wholesale Services provides commodity, risk management and financing services, primarily to the energy and technology industries.

Our Businesses

What We Do
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O P E R A T I O N S M A R K E T S

GLOBAL NETWORKS GROUP

U N I T E D  S T A T E S

I N T E R N A T I O N A L

We serve 431,000 electric distribution customers in three states: Missouri,
Kansas and Colorado; and 874,000 gas distribution customers in seven
states: Missouri, Kansas, Colorado, Nebraska, Iowa, Michigan and
Minnesota. Our industrial and commercial gas customers in most of our
states can choose their gas suppliers. We have a number of programs to
provide smaller-volume customers in certain states with price-choice
alternatives.

■ Electricity and Natural Gas
Our electric and gas distribution utilities, which used to operate under
various division names, are changing to the name Aquila Networks. 
We deliver energy through networks of wires and pipes serving seven
states in the Mid-continent. Our operations serve territories with rates
for service set by state or local regulators. We also market natural gas
to a range of gas transportation customers and sell wholesale power.
We generate most, but not all, of the power we distribute.

ServiceOne serves about 139,000 contract and home warranty customers
in seven states, both inside and outside our utility territories. It competes
with local repair services and a few regional and national providers.

■ Appliance Services
Our ServiceOne® subsidiary repairs and services appliances, heating
and air conditioning equipment and other critical systems, primarily
through service contracts, home warranty and other services.

Competing directly against established local telephone and cable television
providers, Everest has achieved market penetrations of more than 50% in
some areas where it has completed installation of its fiber-optic network,
which provides a bundled package of voice, video and data services.

■ Communications Networks
Aquila owns 89% of Everest Connections, which provides local and
long-distance telephone, cable television, high-speed Internet and
data services to areas of Greater Kansas City. Everest began serving
residential and business customers in the Kansas City market in early 2001.

Based in Houston, Quanta works nationwide. It serves utilities, 
telecommunications and cable television operators, and government. 
It has grown rapidly by acquiring smaller specialized contracting firms.

■ Field Services
Aquila holds an effective 38% equity interest in Quanta Services, Inc.,
one of the nation's largest companies specializing in building and main-
taining networks used to carry energy and telecommunications.

We provide electricity for 377,000 electric distribution customers in
Alberta and 140,000 in British Columbia. In Alberta, we provide the
power under long-term contract to the retailer. In our British Columbia
territory, we are an integrated utility with no competition.

■ Canada
UtiliCorp Networks Canada distributes electricity in Alberta and the
southern interior of British Columbia. In British Columbia it also gener-
ates hydroelectric power and manages the retail accounts of its distri-
bution customers. It will change its name later in 2002.

This utility distributes electricity under long-term contract to a retail
power provider serving 2.3 million customers in and around the city of
Birmingham, England. It is the fourth-largest regional electric company
in the United Kingdom.

■ United Kingdom
We expect to complete our acquisition of Midlands Electricity in March
2002. Located near Birmingham, England, Midlands operates an elec-
tric distribution network and holds interests in three independent
power plants. We plan to operate it as Aquila Networks UK.

UnitedNetworks serves 506,000 electricity consumers, mostly in the
Auckland and Wellington areas, and 124,000 gas distribution customers.
Its fiber-optic networks serve the business communities of Auckland and
Wellington.  There is full competition for all electric and gas retail 
customers. UnitedNetworks has limited gas network competition. In
communications, we compete with established telephone companies.

■ New Zealand
UnitedNetworks, 55%-owned by Aquila, is New Zealand's largest energy
distribution company. It owns and operates electricity, natural gas and
communications networks.

United Energy and Multinet Gas distribute energy to 571,000 electric cus-
tomers and 625,000 gas customers in areas of metropolitan Melbourne,
Victoria. Their retail energy customers are serviced through the Pulse Energy
joint venture. The state of Victoria introduced full competition in the retail
electricity market in 2002. AlintaGas has 450,000 gas distribution customers
in Western Australia, including the city of Perth. Industrial and commercial
retail gas customers in Western Australia can choose their supplier. Uecomm
serves corporate, government and wholesale customers.

■ Australia
United Energy, managed and 34%-owned by Aquila, is an electric distri-
bution utility in Melbourne, Victoria. United Energy also manages the
gas distribution of Multinet Gas, in which Aquila has a 25.5% interest.
Uecomm, 66%-owned by United Energy, owns fiber-optic communica-
tions networks. AlintaGas, 45%-owned by Aquila and United Energy
jointly, is the major supplier and distributor of natural gas in the state
of Western Australia. United Energy and Multinet jointly own 50% of
Pulse Energy, an electricity and gas retailer.

We manage electricity and natural gas distribution networks in the U.S.
and in four other countries through our Global Networks Group. This group
also provides appliance services, operates communications networks, and
has an investment in a major provider of field services for utilities and
telecommunications companies. 

A Q U I L A  2 0 0 1 9



U N I T E D  S T A T E S
G A S  A N D  E L E C T R I C I T Y  M A R K E T I N G

I N D E P E N D E N T  P O W E R  P R O J E C T S

P L A N T S  U N D E R  C O N S T R U C T I O N
P L A N T S  I N  D E V E L O P M E N T
C O A L  T E R M I N A L

G A S  P I P E L I N E S  —  O W N E D
G A S  P I P E L I N E  —  E Q U I T Y  I N T E R E S T
G A S  S T O R A G E  
G A S  S T O R A G E  U N D E R  C O N S T R U C T I O N

G A S  P R O C E S S I N G  P L A N T

C A N A D A
G A S  A N D  E L E C T R I C I T Y  M A R K E T I N G

E U R O P E

G A S  S T O R A G E

G A S  A N D  E L E C T R I C I T Y  M A R K E T I N G

G A S  S T O R A G E  I N  D E V E L O P M E N T
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U N I T E D  S T A T E S
G A S  D I S T R I B U T I O N

E L E C T R I C I T Y  D I S T R I B U T I O N
C O M B I N A T I O N  G A S / E L E C T R I C I T Y

C O M M U N I C A T I O N S  N E T W O R K

C A N A D A  

E L E C T R I C I T Y  D I S T R I B U T I O N

U N I T E D  K I N G D O M
E L E C T R I C I T Y  D I S T R I B U T I O N
( P E N D I N G  A C Q U I S I T I O N )

A U S T R A L I A  

G A S  D I S T R I B U T I O N  

C O M B I N A T I O N  G A S / E L E C T R I C I T Y  

N E W  Z E A L A N D

G A S  D I S T R I B U T I O N
E L E C T R I C I T Y  D I S T R I B U T I O N

C O M M U N I C A T I O N S  N E T W O R KC O M M U N I C A T I O N S  N E T W O R K

GLOBAL NETWORKS GROUP
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irst there was weather. Then there
was life on Earth. Then, in 1996, to
help manage the risks weather

presents to life on Earth, Aquila created
the first weather derivative product. The
rest, as they say, is history.

Okay, that’s a rather compressed ver-
sion, but it’s hard to overestimate the sig-
nificance of Aquila’s risk management
products, not just for the company, but
for the way our clients conduct their busi-
ness. The fact is, it’s hard to think of a
business that doesn’t have to manage
weather-related risks. Eel fishers, power
companies, sunflower growers, ski 
resorts—all are examples of clients who
benefit from Aquila’s portfolio of risk
management products.

Redefining Risk
Aquila’s interest in managing weather-
related risk should be no surprise, since
weather is at the heart of most energy
risk. What sets us apart is our attitude 
toward risk management. 

“Instead of treating risk defensively, as
something to be warded off, we take a
proactive approach to risk management,”
says Aquila President and CEO Bob Green. 

To do that, Aquila built one of the
largest weather desks in the world and 
invested heavily in intellectual capital—
meteorologists, climatologists, actuaries
and weather traders. The investment paid
off in a highly sophisticated, profitable
and constantly evolving product line.

How do Aquila’s risk management
products differ from ordinary insurance,
such as flood insurance?  Insurance in-
demnities are paid on actual physical
losses, whereas weather derivatives pay
based on the occurrence (or non-occur-
rence) of a particular weather event.
Further, our products are specifically tai-
lored to our clients and generally address
unusual seasonal trends, rather than one-
time catastrophic events. 

The whole topic of weather derivatives,
as these products are technically known,

is about as complicated as astrophysics,
but a few examples can help provide an
understanding of how they operate. An
east coast utility company presents a clear
example (in fact, Aquila sold its first
weather contract in 1996, to a big New York
utility). Demand for energy to heat homes
rises in the winter. If the winter is excep-
tionally mild, demand, and consequently
utility income, is less than expected. 

In order to protect itself from this volu-
metric risk—less energy sold—the utility
can purchase a GuaranteedWeather®

product from us, tailored to its specific
geographic location and priced accord-
ingly. If the average winter temperature
is higher than the contract’s “strike”
point, we pay an agreed-upon amount. 

Disciplined Innovation
Aquila has formed a number of mutually
profitable partnerships, called quota
share arrangements, with traditional in-
surers and reinsurers. That allows us to
limit our financial exposure to predeter-
mined amounts and allows our partners
to broaden the scope of their products. 

Last year, for instance, we teamed up
with Kemper Insurance Companies, a
leading provider of insurance and risk
management products here and abroad,
to jointly provide risk management for
power companies. Both power generators
and their customers face increased risk
as the deregulating power markets in-
crease power price volatility. 

While unexpectedly low demand can
erode profits, usage peaks or unexpected
outages can force utilities into the spot
market at the most inopportune times. To
manage that risk, we offer protection
against volumetric risk, as described in
the example above, and we also offer
GuaranteedGenerationSM, which provides
customers with physical delivery of
power. That’s something no insurance
company can do by itself. The trick, of
course, is to accurately assess the risks
and fairly price the contract. We’ve be-

come expert, perhaps more expert than
anyone else in the world, at doing just
that. As a result, profit growth from this
business has risen dramatically and con-
sistently over the past five years. 

Perhaps even more important, we’ve be-
come expert at developing new products
that answer complex, pressing needs for a
whole host of businesses and industries.
Which brings us back to those eel fishers. 

In 2001, we formed a partnership with
Mitsui Sumitomo, one of Japan’s largest
insurance companies. Eel, an expensive
seafood, is extremely popular during the
warm months in Japan, especially during
the hot days of August. But if August
proves unusually cool, eel consumption
plummets. 

Working with an eel fishing company,
we calculated the effect of temperature
variation on the company’s sale of eel.
Factoring in our understanding of
weather trends in Japan, we tailored a
hedge for the company that helped shield
them from a previously unmanaged but
potentially overwhelming risk. 

The Japanese market for our products
is huge, including the same industries we
serve elsewhere, such as power compa-
nies, the resort and entertainment indus-
try, and agriculture, as well as more un-
usual industries, such as eel fisheries.

We Manage the Weather!
A pioneer in the field of weather risk management, Aquila excels 
at developing new tools that are helping businesses around the world.

F

Risk Management

▲ Ski resorts typify the kind of business that
can be at the mercy of the weather. Aquila’s
weather risk management products can reduce 
a resort owner’s economic risk.
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Entrée to all of these potential clients is
greatly eased through our partnership
with Mitsui. In fact, such partnerships
around the globe serve as powerful exten-
sions of our own sales force, giving us a
truly local presence overseas we could
otherwise not hope to enjoy.

Extending the Product Line
While we can’t guarantee how many eels
people in Tokyo will eat, we do guarantee
the number of bushels of corn a county
will yield through GuaranteedYieldSM. 
This product assists agribusinesses in
managing risks associated with crop yield
volatility.

The first industries being targeted for
GuaranteedYield are not farmers, who
are already protected by federal crop in-
surance programs, but farm credit insti-
tutions, grain elevators, processors and
merchandisers. These businesses are vul-
nerable to revenue loss when crop yields
fall; GuaranteedYield will help them man-
age those risks. 

We’ve spent over a year researching
and developing GuaranteedYield prod-
ucts, although we’re hardly strangers to
the vicissitudes of farming. Our head-
quarters are located in the heart of corn,
soybean and wheat country and our util-
ity business has supplied these indus-
tries for the better part of a century. 

To begin with, we’ll be marketing
GuaranteedYield on a county- and area-
wide basis in the United States, although
we plan to extend our market abroad
within a year or two.

Through the introduction of another
new product, GuaranteedForecastSM,
Aquila is helping companies manage the
risk of an incorrect short-term weather
forecast. GuaranteedForecast is already

helping a South American agrochemicals
producer. Like most fertilizer, its product
is subject to dilution from rain. Wet
weather within 72 hours of application
means a second application; alternatively,
the farmer can apply extra fertilizer the
first time around, but that’s expensive
and environmentally hazardous. 

To help manage that risk, Aquila will
post a forecast telling farmers whether or
not to apply the fertilizer based on the
likelihood of precipitation in their area in
the following 48 to 72 hours. If the forecast
indicates a dry period, the farmer notifies
Aquila that he will be applying the chemi-
cal and locks in a “no-rain guarantee.”

If it then rains within the specified pe-
riod, we’ll reimburse the farmer for the
cost of a second application. That bene-
fits the farmer, who no longer risks the
cost of a second application; the manu-
facturer, who can offer this extra protec-
tion to its customer; and the environment,
by reducing the detrimental impact of
over-application.

Aquila plans other forays into the agri-
cultural market for 2002, including other
risk management products targeted at the
fertilizer industry. Our plan is to begin by
managing price risk volatility associated
with nitrogen and then to add phosphate
and sulfur derivative products. The effort
will focus on the U.S. and Canadian mar-
kets initially and then expand to London
as a base for the European market. 

Accelerating Growth
Our weather products have proved an ob-
vious boon to Aquila and to its clients. We
expect the worldwide market for these
products to grow to $50 billion by 2005,
and recent trends could drive that figure

higher. Insurance companies have be-
come more reluctant to offer business in-
terruption insurance. Since September 11,
that reluctance has increased, and the
price of such insurance, in some cases, is
now so high as to be prohibitive to many
companies. That presents significant op-
portunities for Aquila, both in terms of po-
tential clients and in terms of pricing.

But the value of the products we’ve in-
troduced goes beyond earnings and share-
holder value. At the end of 2001, a joint
announcement was made by Aquila and
the International Finance Corporation
(IFC), the private-sector arm of the World
Bank, that has broad social implications. 

IFC chose to partner with Aquila and
the reinsurance companies we work with
to extend our weather risk management
services to developing economies. We’re
already working with a Mexican insur-
ance firm to provide protection for corn,
soybean and sorghum growers to offset
the risk of drought and frost that can
have a catastrophic effect on crop yields.
Aquila is also working with a sugar pro-
ducer in Fiji to hedge against low sugar
cane yields due to El Niño. 

Aquila expects sales from developing
economies to grow ten times this year
compared to last. But the return in social
benefits is far greater than the economic
opportunity. A prime obstacle facing de-
veloping countries is the high cost of capi-
tal. By helping these economies manage
weather risk, we help them become more
attractive to lending institutions. This
brings down the cost of capital and pro-
vides invaluable investment impetus. 

▲ Aquila has been expanding its line of weather
risk products for agriculture-related industries
such as farming and fertilizer production.

▼ Temperature variation can affect the fortunes
of some types of commercial fishing. Aquila has
a risk management tool that can help.

What’s it mean?
Derivative — A financial instrument whose value reflects the price of something else, such as a commodity, contract, security, 
index or exchange rate. Aquila’s GuaranteedWeather ® products provide a financial hedge against the effects of adverse weather.

▲
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or Aquila, today’s changing energy
environment is an opportunity to
selectively acquire undervalued

properties, develop assets at strategic lo-
cations and upgrade or sell underper-
forming assets. Our asset strategy is to
build a balanced portfolio of assets to
serve our clients’ needs and optimize the
return to shareholders using our trading
and risk management capabilities.

Our wholly owned Aquila Merchant
Services subsidiary makes investments 
designed to facilitate longer-term transac-
tions, complement its trading and risk
management activities, and diversify its
asset portfolio across geographic and prod-
uct lines. In 2001 we repositioned our asset
portfolio to take advantage of opportunities
to optimize strategic assets and acquire
new operations at favorable prices. 

Today, both sides of the demand/supply
equation are dominated by unknowns.
On the demand side, the timing of an
economic recovery from the turmoil of
2001 weighs on the market. On the sup-

ply side, there is instability in the Middle
East, volatility in energy prices, and un-
certainty created by discussions around
environmental regulation. Furthermore,
the weather plays a major role in creat-
ing uncertainty on both sides of this
equation. Add to that the uncertainties
introduced by progressive deregulation,
and we see a business environment in
need of the skills Aquila Merchant Services
has honed over the past 16 years. Our un-
paralleled risk management capabilities,
combined with our expertise in manag-
ing both merchant and network infra-
structure assets adds together to provide
comprehensive solutions for our clients.

Repositioning the Capacity Group
Until recently, Aquila Merchant Services’
Capacity Group was focused largely on
gas gathering and processing, a combina-
tion that served us well for many years.
In the last few years it has moved toward
a more balanced mix, with greater em-
phasis on storage, pipeline operations
and the generation of electricity. 

The Capacity Group’s earnings before
interest and taxes (EBIT) in 2001 were
$113.7 million. Storage and pipelines ac-

counted for 7 percent of that amount.
Generation was 74 percent, and gather-
ing and processing contributed 19 per-
cent. Behind the shift in strategy is a de-
cision to focus on assets that will create
sustainable earnings and cash flow.
Furthermore, on the gas side of the
Capacity Group the emphasis moves from
a regional niche to a national presence
providing broader service offerings to a
more diverse client base.

In 2001, we sold facilities that no
longer fit our strategic thrust. These con-
sisted of non-core gas gathering systems
that required almost the same ongoing
attention, personnel and capital as some
of our major, more strategic assets. These
sales are consistent with our “invest, 
optimize and monetize” approach that
we call a “merchant mentality.” 

At the same time, we’ve been achieving
growth in other operations. Earnings from
our interest in the Oasis Pipe Line system
more than doubled last year. The Oasis
system runs from West Texas to Houston.
We also improved the performance of our
gas processing facility at Elk City,
Oklahoma. 

Adding Stability for California 
During the second quarter of 2002, we ex-
pect final approval from the California

Our Asset Strategy
Aquila Merchant Services redefines and expands its portfolio 
of power and natural gas assets to achieve ongoing growth.

F

Capacity Group

▲ Mechanic Gene Turner uses a gas leak detector
as he readies some of the systems at the Lodi natu-
ral gas storage facility in California.

▼ The gas-fired Aries generating facility near
Kansas City, Missouri is one of the most advanced
combined-cycle plants in service today.
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Public Utilities Commission for our new
gas storage facility in Lodi, California, just
south of Sacramento. Located in the heart
of the state’s energy-short northern re-
gion, the Lodi facility is set to assume a
key position in helping bring energy sta-
bility to the region. It’s ideally situated to
serve the major gas-fired power plants
scheduled to come on line in the area dur-
ing 2002 and 2003. 

The facility is a depleted underground
natural gas reservoir that is surrounded
beneath the surface by water. The natu-
rally occurring water helps maintain
pressure on the reservoir, which improves
the withdrawal rate of the stored gas. The
facility ultimately will store about 12 bil-
lion cubic feet (Bcf) of natural gas. 

The planned rate at which gas can be
injected underground at Lodi is 400 mil-
lion cubic feet per day (mmcf/d), and the
withdrawal rate will be 500 mmcf/d, allow-
ing our customers to turn over the facility’s
gas inventory six times a year. Since most
facilities in the area can cycle inventory
only once or twice a year, Lodi will be one
of the most efficient storage facilities in
California.

Adequate storage is critical because
this area is downstream of significant
pipeline bottlenecks and experiences
large spikes in demand. Aquila’s Lodi 
facility, sited at this uniquely competitive
location, will provide valuable stability
in the supply of natural gas for our
clients in the western United States.

A Major Upgrade at Katy
Like the Lodi facility, Aquila’s Katy gas
storage facility is competitively located
west of Houston, at the center of one of
the busiest gas hubs and largest natural
gas consuming areas in North America.
The facility has a total working capacity
of 21 Bcf and is connected to 12 differ-
ent pipelines. Thus, Katy gas storage cus-
tomers have access to the major pipe-
lines connecting the Texas Gulf Coast to
the northeast and midwest demand re-
gions. Aquila purchased the operation in
1999.

The Katy facility’s working capacity is
nearly twice that of Lodi. Until recently,
though, it was operated as a baseload 
facility. It was a “two-turn” operation. 

That means it was capable of turning
over its inventory only twice a year. 

In February 2002, we completed a
major upgrade at Katy that converted it
to a five-turn facility. While the capacity
remains the same, this renovation dra-
matically increased the facility’s finan-
cial value by giving it the withdrawal and
injection capacity necessary to meet the
higher-premium, multi-cycle services de-
manded by our clients in today’s market-
place. 

That’s exactly the kind of investment
that fits Aquila’s strategy for sustainable
earnings and cash flow, without large
continuing capital outlays.

Going For Generation 
The goal for our generation assets is the
same: Achieve highly predictable, sus-
tainable earnings and cash flow. That
entails a three-pronged approach:
Acquiring and developing assets that fit
our strategic thrust, at favorable prices;
improving existing facilities; and selling
those that no longer serve core needs.
Last year we made significant progress
on all these fronts.

New Power Plants Perform 
Our acquisition of six power plants from
GPU Inc. at the end of 2000, with a total
capacity of 489 megawatts, is a good ex-
ample of our strategy in action. The for-
mer GPU plants are strategically located
in four eastern states and came with at-
tractive long-term capacity and energy
sales contracts. They provide sustainable
earnings and cash flow. 

But, it’s definitely not Aquila’s philoso-
phy to just pursue a passive acquisition

strategy. We’re determined to optimize
all of our assets to enhance their finan-
cial performance. It’s an operating prin-
ciple that pays off in results. In the case
of the six plants acquired from GPU, we
surpassed our original earnings projec-
tions by 41 percent.

A Major Project Comes On Line 
In 2001, the Aries plant, a 580-megawatt
facility located about 20 miles southeast
of Kansas City, Missouri, became opera-
tional—on time and on budget. Aries 
is one of the most advanced gas-fired,
combined-cycle power plants in service
today. With the majority of the plant’s
capacity sold under intermediate-term
agreements, it now provides Aquila with
sustainable earnings and cash flow. 

Our asset strategy continues to grow.
Next up: Two 340-megawatt peaking 
facilities are scheduled to begin com-
mercial operations this summer, one 
in Illinois and the other in Mississippi,
and a 510-megawatt, gas-fired plant in
Illinois called Goose Creek is scheduled
to go on line in 2003. 

Looking beyond these committed facil-
ities, we are constantly on the lookout
for further investment opportunities in
gas and power assets that fit our strat-
egy. They must complement our trading
and marketing activities in the
Commodity Group, offer solutions to our
clients’ needs for capacity, and provide
our shareholders sustainable sources of
earnings and cash flow.

What’s it mean? 
Simple-cycle — In simple-cycle generation, natural gas is burned in a combustion turbine to produce electricity, and 
leftover heat goes to waste. In combined-cycle operations, that heat is recovered and used in a steam turbine to 
produce additional power. The Aries plant began combined-cycle operations in February 2002.

▲

▼ The Lodi underground storage complex is capa-
ble of storing about 12 billion cubic feet of natural
gas for later withdrawal by Aquila customers.
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quila formed the Global Networks
Group in November 2001 to bring
management of all our networks,

here and abroad, under one umbrella and
to realize the synergies that come from
sharing experience and expertise across
different geographies and in varying eco-
nomic and regulatory environments. 

Keith Stamm, previously CEO of the
Aquila Merchant Services subsidiary,
was tapped to head up Global Networks.
He not only has a merchant perspective
on how to apply risk management ex-
pertise to the networks side of our busi-
ness; he also spent two-and-a-half years
as chief executive officer of our United
Energy affiliate in Australia and prior to
that managed Aquila’s regulated genera-
tion in the United States.

This new group inherits a legacy of deep
experience and excellence in handling
the assets that form the core of our origi-
nal business. Global Networks is pipes
and wires, power generation, distribution
of natural gas and electricity, teams with
expertise in customer service, asset man-
agement and regulatory matters. And by
executing successful strategies under dif-
ferent market conditions, we hone what
we do best in specific locales into truly
best-of-class, world-class standards.

Growth Spurt in the U.K. 
Aquila started the ball rolling last year to
make its largest acquisition ever. Our pur-
chase of Midlands Electricity in the United
Kingdom is scheduled to close in March
2002. We plan to operate the company
under the name Aquila Networks UK.

Aquila has had a presence in the U.K.
since 1991, originally in natural gas pipe-
lines and wholesale services. We’ve been
active in trading and risk management
there since 1995, but this marks our first
move into British electricity distribution. 

Based in Worcester, south of the city of
Birmingham, Midlands is the U.K.’s
fourth-largest regional electric company.
It had total 2001 sales of $566 million. Its

38,000-mile distribution network spans a
large area in the middle of England and
serves 2.3 million customers.

The sheer size of its distribution busi-
ness offers valuable economies of scale.
The acquisition also includes Midlands’
ownership interest in three independent
power plants. The purchase serves as a
springboard for future expansion of our
operations into other countries in Europe.

The Midlands acquisition is clearly a
very significant step in the 85-year his-
tory of Aquila’s network operations.
After the deal closes, we will serve
nearly 6.5 million network customers—
80 percent of them outside the United

States, and about 70 percent outside
North America.

Aquila’s Global Networks Group will
be managing operations that serve what
is heavily an international customer
base. It’s a big contrast to how the com-
pany was configured less than 20 years
ago, when its entire service territory was
in northwest Missouri and comprised
only 193,000 customers.

What’s New in New Zealand 
Our strategy for optimizing and monetiz-
ing our assets is well illustrated by devel-
opments last year in New Zealand
where, as 55 percent owner, Aquila oper-
ates UnitedNetworks, the country’s
largest electricity and natural gas net-
work company. 

Going by the principle that when it
comes to networks bigger is better, the
company made a number of acquisitions
in power and natural gas, starting in
1998. The immediate focus was to real-
ize synergies. However, to optimize the
operations, UnitedNetworks strength-
ened its asset management capabilities
with improved systems and processes,
extracting critical knowledge and turn-
ing it into value. 

Realizing economies of scale by imple-
menting best practices across the net-
work is common sense. And so is exiting
businesses that can be more efficiently
run by others, especially when those
businesses detract from our asset owner-
ship and management focus. That’s why
UnitedNetworks sold its contracting field
services business to Siemens Energy Ser-
vices Ltd. in July 2001. 

“For a company with our focus,” says
UnitedNetworks CEO Dan Warnock, “we
must be proficient in finance, regulatory
management, risk assessment, data gath-
ering and information management, and
integrated engineering and commercial
decision-making. Servicing the network
is not a necessary core competency.”

Siemens is one of the largest electrical

Extending the Franchise
To better manage growth of its electricity and natural gas networks
in five countries, Aquila draws on its breadth of energy expertise.

A

Global Networks

▲ Aquila’s pending acquisition of Midlands Elec-
tricity is expected to close in March 2002. Above:
A university scene in Birmingham, England.
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and electronic engineering companies in
the world. Its global experience and ex-
pertise in servicing networks will result
in superior and more innovative repair
and maintenance services on our net-
works in the long term.

Seeing the opportunity to apply its 
expertise to the natural gas business,
UnitedNetworks bought the gas distribu-
tion system of Orion New Zealand in the
spring of 2000 for $274 million. As with
electricity distribution, the gas business
required optimizing the operations, but
more importantly, we needed to optimize
its growth opportunities.

Since natural gas has a much less de-
veloped market in New Zealand than in
the United States, there are still signifi-
cant prospects for further growth.

“There is very low customer awareness
in New Zealand about natural gas and its
benefits,” says Warnock.  “Our approach
has been to work with our industry part-
ners to make natural gas more accessi-
ble and desirable for the consumer.”

During 2001 UnitedNetworks launched
a branded marketing campaign to edu-
cate gas users about the consumer bene-
fits of using the fuel.  These efforts have
produced solid results that Warnock ex-
pects will lead to accelerated growth for
UnitedNetworks in 2002, with greater
market penetration and more demand.

Raising the Bar Down Under
In January 2002, Australia’s most popu-
lous states, Victoria and New South
Wales, introduced deregulation of the 
retail electricity market. (In Australia’s
inimitable slant on English, it’s called
“full retail contestability.”) Translation:
Some 5 million Australian residential
and small business customers can now
choose the retailer that supplies their
electricity. Full gas retail contestability
also went into effect in New South Wales
in January, and is scheduled to start in
Victoria in October 2002.

United Energy, which is managed and
34 percent owned by Aquila, will be gain-
ing invaluable experience operating in a
fully deregulated environment. The util-
ity serves about 571,000 electric distribu-
tion customers in parts of metropolitan
Melbourne, Victoria. It has very little di-
rect retail exposure, except for its 25 per-
cent stake in Pulse, an electricity and
natural gas retailer. 

Since Aquila and an investment partner
acquired it in 1995, United Energy has
had a front row seat for the entire utility
deregulation process in Australia. It was

the first electricity distribution company
privatized by the state of Victoria, and in
1998 it became the first electric utility to
list on the Australian Stock Exchange. It’s
been setting the standard, both for its net-
work management and for its back office
operations, ever since. 

Before Aquila began managing United
Energy, for the state of Victoria the aver-
age interruption duration index, which is
a measure of the average length of time
customers are without power in a year,
stayed stubbornly in the range of 400-500
minutes. By 2001, on the United Energy
system that number had fallen to 72.3
minutes and its average customer had
only 1.1 interruptions. 

“Those are world-class numbers,” says
Bob Holzwarth, CEO of United Energy.
“Anyone looking for justification for pri-
vatization should look at this dramatic
improvement in the quality of service,
coupled with the lower rates.” 

Coming to Melbourne from Calgary,
where he headed Aquila’s Canadian net-
work operations, Holzwarth says Australia’s
incentive-based regulatory environment,
directly linked to performance, provides
an extra motivation for companies to
excel. He’s used to that way of business,
because Aquila has pioneered similar sys-
tems in part of Canada.

But the importance of what United
Energy has achieved goes even further.
The company is developing metrics—
that is, standards by which to measure
performance—that determine the opti-
mum relationship between increased
costs and increased benefits when it
comes to service improvements in an in-
centive-based system. 

An important corollary to United 
Energy’s network operations is its back-
office services business, Utili-Mode,
which provides call center, metering,
billing and account collections for en-
ergy retailers and others. 

As competition heats up under dereg-
ulation, how well and how efficiently 
retailers perform these back-office serv-

ices becomes critical to their profits and
even to their survival. Utili-Mode’s call
center has achieved customer service
satisfaction levels in excess of 95 per-
cent. Last October, it earned Interna-
tional Customer Service accreditation
from the Customer Service Institute,
which sets worldwide standards for call
center operations.

There’s one other achievement by
United Energy that outgoing chief execu-
tive officer Don Bacon is particularly
proud of, and that’s employee safety. 
Although the employees involved in field
operations are exposed to potentially se-
rious hazards every day, during 2001 not
a single lost-time accident was reported.
Not one. That’s what United Energy and
Aquila like—a standard that can’t be
beat. 

Going West Pays Off 
By any measure, the joint Aquila/United
Energy acquisition of a 45 percent inter-
est in AlintaGas Limited at the end of
2000 has proved to be an excellent move. 

Previously the monopoly natural gas
distribution company owned by the state
of Western Australia, AlintaGas was pri-
vatized by selling us our “cornerstone”
interest, with the remaining 55 percent
sold to the public in an initial public of-
fering. 

Western Australia’s principal city is
Perth, where the company is headquar-
tered. The state is in a growth mode, and
so is AlintaGas. The company supplies
natural gas to 58 percent of the house-
holds in Western Australia, as well as to
the state’s largest industrial and com-
mercial customers. 

That ongoing growth, leveraged by the
optimization strategy that Aquila applies
to every acquisition, yielded solid growth
in sales for the fiscal year ended June
2001—15 percent higher than was pre-
dicted in the offering prospectus. 

But the real story is the transforma-
tion of AlintaGas from a government-
owned gas distribution company to a
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▼ Areas served by UnitedNetworks in New Zealand include the cities of Auckland (below) and Wellington.
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publicly owned, entrepreneurial energy
products and infrastructure company. 

The first order of business was to con-
duct a thorough review of the company’s
operating structure, process design, and
administrative and support services. The
first result was an immediate restructur-
ing to achieve greater operating effi-
ciency. The second was a detailed strate-
gic plan that fundamentally redefined
AlintaGas. 

Partly as a result of the restructuring
effort, net profit for the six months
ended December 31 increased 22 per-
cent over the same period a year ago.
With that effort largely complete, the
chief focus in 2002 will be on executing
our growth strategy.

Earnings from gas distribution should
continue to grow between 3 and 5 per-
cent per year. That provides a stable
earnings base, but to achieve our tar-
geted 10-15 percent growth rate requires
diversifying beyond AlintaGas’s tradi-
tional core business. One initiative is the
formation of National Power Services
(WA), a joint venture that will reduce
costs through an outsourcing contract
while transforming the company’s field
services group from a cost center to a
profit center by contracting it out to
other companies throughout Australia. 

AlintaGas has operated successfully
on the industrial side for years in a
deregulated environment, but a key goal
for 2002 is to translate this success fully
to the retail market when it deregulates
in Western Australia next year. 

The next phase of its strategic plan 
involves the pursuit of a number of po-
tential acquisitions, joint ventures and
partnerships. 

“There are about 20 investment op-
portunities we’re seriously looking at,”
says AlintaGas CEO Bob Browning, who
went to Perth from Kansas City shortly
after the company was privatized. 

“In a busy and dynamic energy indus-
try, making it simpler for customers to
know who we are and what we do, re-
gardless of what regulatory jurisdiction
we are in, was a key objective in adopt-
ing a single name in Canada,” says UNC’s
CEO, Fauzia Lalani. “That’s why we’ll
continue to evolve our brand identity,
migrating from UtiliCorp to Aquila Net-
works to support the strategy of the new
Global Networks Group.

“We may be the largest investor-owned
networks company in Canada,” she says,
“but we’re still a very unique player
since 80 percent of Canadian network
assets remain government owned.”

UNC has embarked on an aggressive
campaign to be a credible, reliable ex-
pert in electric market restructuring.
The company’s responsible leadership
role was apparent during last year’s
three-month strike by members of the
International Brotherhood of Electrical
Workers (IBEW) in British Columbia.
Members of the Office and Professional
Employees International Union honored
IBEW picket lines, which meant closing
customer service centers in our British
Columbia service territory. However, in-
convenience to customers was mini-
mized by routing telephone inquiries
through the Calgary service center and
by invoking essential services legislation
to ensure that outage restoration and
system control functions continued with
minimal interruption. 

In the end, UNC achieved a four-year
agreement that struck the necessary bal-
ance between productivity improvements
and competitive rates for customers.

UtiliCorp Networks Canada has taken
an active role in provincial policy discus-
sions on restructuring the industry and
implementing incentive-based regula-
tion. Among the innovative solutions ad-
vanced by UNC is a Customer Advisory
Board designed to resolve customer con-
cerns without the need for an adversar-
ial and costly regulatory hearing. The
board will have a pilot run in Alberta
during the first half of 2002. 

By leveraging the company’s extensive
experience in the deregulating markets
of Australia, New Zealand and the
United Kingdom, UNC is well positioned
to help reform and restructure the elec-
tricity market throughout Canada. In
turn, the lessons learned in Canada will
help nourish ongoing efforts to increase
the value of our networks elsewhere as
we shift toward a global Aquila Networks
business portfolio.

Just as United Energy went from elec-
tric-only to electric and gas, Browning is
intent on having AlintaGas diversify to
build a portfolio of income streams and
achieve its growth goals.

The company’s relationship with its
major shareholders, Aquila and United
Energy, provides AlintaGas with a strong
competitive advantage. United Energy’s
deep understanding of the Australian
energy industry and Aquila’s extensive
experience managing risk, navigating ad-
vanced regulatory environments and op-
erating energy businesses around the
world will be enormously important in
meeting the goal of consistent double-
digit earnings growth.

In Canada, Consolidation
Last year was a period of significant con-
solidation for UtiliCorp Networks
Canada (UNC). Its transition to the
name Aquila Networks Canada will pick
up speed later this year. Our north-of-
the-border networks subsidiary began its
“Team of One” initiative, designed to
build on the best in global practices and
integrate our electricity operations in 
Alberta and British Columbia.

In fall 2001, the first step was making
“UtiliCorp Networks” the unifying oper-
ating name in Canada.  The company
had operated as West Kootenay Power in
British Columbia since acquiring the
104-year old hydroelectric utility in 1987.
It was the company’s first international
purchase. UtiliCorp Networks Canada
came into being in August 2000 with the
purchase of the Alberta electric distribu-
tion operations of TransAlta Corporation.

Today we have 517,000 customers 
and 62,000 miles of electric network in
Canada. The combination of UNC and
West Kootenay Power under a single
name was a logical business step that
emphasized the companies’ growth and
focus on networks.
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▲ One third of the total area of Alberta, renowned for its scenery, is served by Aquila’s electricity network.
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he 170 wind turbines generating
power on the plains near
Montezuma, Kansas are an arrest-

ing sight. The Gray County Wind Farm,
which began operation in December
2001, was constructed by FPL Energy, a
subsidiary of Florida Power and Light
that is the most experienced builder of
wind farms in the country. 

FPL continues to own and operate the
facility, and Aquila arranged to purchase
its entire output, 110 megawatts, enough
power to supply the needs of 33,000 homes.
We’ll distribute about 75% of that power
to our customers in Kansas and Missouri,
with the rest going to power wholesalers.
The Gray County facility is the product of
vision, not regulation. It’s the largest wind
project in the United States that wasn’t
mandated by state regulations as part of
a utility company’s “green” energy mix.

The Aquila-FPL Energy
project is the largest
U.S. wind farm that
was not mandated by
state regulations.
An Age-old Dream
Harnessing the wind has captivated man’s
imagination for millennia. Using wind to
generate electricity would seem an obvious
goal, but its realization has been frustrat-
ingly elusive. Until recently, the econom-
ics of wind power simply did not work.
While wind is free, the up-front costs of
turbines and towers, amortized over the
life of the equipment, meant costs of more
than 15 cents per kilowatt-hour, far higher
than costs from traditional fuel-powered
turbines. In the past decade or so, how-
ever, big improvements in technology have
lowered the costs of wind-generated power
as much as 80%, bringing it in line with,
and sometimes even below, the typical 

costs of traditionally-fueled generation. 
But cost is hardly the only force behind

the new interest in wind power. It’s abun-
dantly clear our increasing dependence
on foreign oil threatens our national secu-
rity, and concern with the environment, 
a largely local issue 20 years ago, today fo-
cuses on the global issue of greenhouse
gases and climate change. That adds up 
to strong public support for renewable
sources of energy, and the market has re-
sponded accordingly. Wind power capacity
has almost doubled in the past two years,
from about 2,500 megawatts in 1999 to
4,500 megawatts at the end of 2001. 

Still, wind power today accounts for
less than half a percent of the country’s
total installed electric capacity. Wind-
powered generation grew 31% last year,
making it the fastest-growing segment of
generation. Global capacity has increased
500% since 1995, to 23,300 megawatts,
enough to meet the needs of 23 million
people.

Some New Challenges
For Aquila’s dispatchers, wind power
presents unique challenges. You can’t
keep excess wind in storage tanks, and
when the turbines are still, no electrons
flow. While FPL Energy has become 
expert at predicting wind patterns and
finding where those patterns make wind 

generation economic, there’s no way to
predict wind speed moment to moment.
But knowing exactly what power’s needed
on a moment-to-moment basis and where
to find it is exactly what power dispatch-
ing is all about. In order to factor wind
into the generation mix—and wind now
accounts for 2% to 5% of the electricity
supply for Aquila’s networks in Kansas
and Missouri—our dispatchers have
learned to balance wind power with
power from gas-fired turbines. They can
do that almost instantaneously because
the gas turbines respond quickly (unlike
plants fueled by coal).

The Gray County Wind Farm has already
brought Aquila recognition—a nomination
for the Green Power Leadership Award,
sponsored by the U.S. Environmental
Protection Agency, and receipt of the
Missouri Governor’s Environmental
Excellence and Pollution Control Award.

Reaping the Wind
Our huge wind project on the prairie produces electricity 
without using any of the traditional fuels for generation.

T

Green Power

▲ Perhaps Kansas’ answer to the stone sculptures
found on Easter Island, the wind turbines of the
Gray County Wind Farm give a new look to the
landscape, as well as to the generation mix serving
Aquila’s electric customers in two states.

▼ Prior to installation on one of the project’s
towers, a windmill’s blades, each 77 feet long,
dwarf a large barn that stands nearby.
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James L. Witt
Paul K. Wohl
Larry M. Woody
John W. Wortman
James H. Wurster
Steven T. Yates
Michael R. Young
Cheryl L. Zatko
Betty Zimmerman

A Company of Owners

Aquila Partners

Three-fourths of Aquila’s associates in North America own shares of the company’s common stock. At the end of 2001, this group held more than

12 percent of all our shares outstanding. For many years, this level of employee ownership has been one more thing that distinguishes Aquila

from other companies in our industry. We feel it’s an important difference. Every day our people put into action the extra caring that owner-

ship brings. It shows in the way they serve customers and the way they make business decisions. Each year we recognize as Aquila Partners

the individuals who have reached a particularly high level of share ownership compared to salary level. Our Partners for 2001 are presented below.



Common Stock Performance

Banc of America Securities
Credit Lyonnais Securities
Credit Suisse First Boston
Deutsche Banc Alex. Brown
Edward Jones
Fidelity Capital Markets
Goldman Sachs & Co.
JP Morgan Chase

Lehman Brothers
Merrill Lynch & Co.
Morgan Stanley Dean Witter
RBC Dain Rauscher
Robert W. Baird & Co.
Salomon Smith Barney, Inc.
UBS Warburg LLC
Value Line Publishing, Inc.

ABN AMRO
Credit Suisse First Boston
Merrill Lynch & Co.
PaineWebber Incorporated
Prudential Fixed Income
Warburg Dillon Read

Analysts at the following investment firms currently follow Aquila and have issued research reports on our performance:

Equity Research Debt Research

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Dividends (a)
Dividends are declared by the board of directors on: Feb. 6 May 1 Aug. 7 Nov. 6  
The record dates to qualify for a dividend are: Feb. 22 May 22 Aug. 22 Nov. 22

Dividend checks should be received on (b): March 12 June 12 Sept. 12 Dec. 12

Dividend Reinvestment (c)
Dividends for Plan participants are reinvested by 

the company with a 5% discount on: March 12 June 12 Sept. 12 Dec. 12
Additional share purchases may be made periodically subject to

terms of the Plan.
Quarterly statements for Plan participants are mailed: Late March Late June Late Sept. Late Dec.

(a) Declaration of dividends, dividend rates and the dates shown are subject to the discretion of the Aquila Board of Directors. The dates shown assume
past patterns will continue. However, we do not and cannot make any assurances that any or all of the listed events will occur on the dates shown, if at
all. Aquila reserves the right to amend, suspend or terminate the Dividend Reinvestment and Common Stock Purchase Plan at any time. Plan partici-
pants will be notified of any changes in writing.

(b) If you don’t receive your dividend check on the payment date, please allow reasonable time for postal delays before inquiring.
(c) Please refer to the latest Prospectus of the Dividend Reinvestment and Common Stock Purchase Plan. To request a Prospectus and an enrollment form,

call toll-free in the U.S. and Canada: 1-866-235-0223; or download these documents from the investor information section of Aquila’s website at
www.aquila.com.

Jan. 20
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20
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2001 Change: ILA down 18.8% S & P 500 down 13.0%S & P Electrics down 19.6%

Investment Research

Dividend Dates for 2002
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Operating Earnings Before Interest and Taxes
A summary of our Operating EBIT by business segment is shown below.  

Dollars in millions, except per share 2001 2000 1999
Merchant Services:

Wholesale Services $296.5 43.1% $148.3 $ 40.7
Capacity Services 113.7 16.5 53.6 39.0
Minority Interest (26.4) (3.8) — —

Total Merchant Services 383.8 55.8 201.9 79.7
Global Networks Group:

International Networks 133.0 19.3 114.0 129.9
Domestic Networks 166.2 24.1 219.6 208.3

Total Global Networks Group 299.2 43.4 333.6 338.2
Corporate and other 5.7 .8 (12.3) (3.9)
Total Operating EBIT $688.7 100.0% $523.2 $414.0
Operating Earnings Per Share—Diluted $2.44 $2.08 $1.75
Actual Earnings Per Share—Diluted $2.42 $2.21 $1.75

This review of 2001 performance is organized by business seg-
ment, reflecting the way we manage our businesses. Each busi-
ness unit leader is responsible for operating results, expressed
as earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT). Therefore, each
segment discussion focuses on the factors affecting EBIT. 

We use the term “Operating EBIT” to describe our recurring
earnings before interest and taxes excluding items we deem to
be non-recurring. The term is not meant to replace actual EBIT
or other performance measures used under generally accepted
accounting principles.

We generally make decisions on finance, dividends and taxes
at the corporate level. We discuss those topics separately on a
consolidated basis.  2

In 2001, our performance versus our main financial objective
was as follows:

2001

Objective Result
Operating earnings per share growth 15% 17%

At the end of 2001, our three-year total shareholder return
was 15.4%. Total shareholder return is a measure of the change
in price of our common stock over the period plus dividends
paid.

Key Events in 2001
■ In March we raised approximately $332 million through

the sale of shares of our common stock.
■ We completed an initial public offering of Class A Aquila

Merchant common shares in April, which raised approxi-
mately $446 million in net proceeds and left us with an
80% interest in the subsidiary.

■ In June, we exchanged $189.5 million of senior notes
with interest rates ranging from 8.0% to 9.0% for $200
million of new senior notes with interest rates at 7.75%,
maturing in June 2011. We also retired $204.1 million of
senior notes, mortgage bonds and company-obligated
preferred securities.

■ We formed a partnership in August with ArcLight Energy
Partners Fund I, L.P. to buy a gas storage facility under
construction near Sacramento, California. The cost to ac-
quire and complete the facility is about $220 million. Our
investment in this project is expected to be $25.0 million.
We expect to complete the purchase in the second quar-
ter of 2002, subject to regulatory approval.

■ We have agreed to acquire Midlands Electricity plc for
$362 million. Midlands is the fourth-largest regional elec-
tric company in the United Kingdom. The transaction is
expected to close in the first quarter of 2002. Midlands
also has $1.7 billion of debt that would be non-recourse
to us.

■ We announced in November that we would offer to ac-
quire all outstanding publicly held shares of Aquila
Merchant in exchange for shares of Aquila common
stock. We completed the exchange offer in January 2002
by issuing about 12.6 million Aquila common shares. At
that time Aquila Merchant again became a wholly-owned
subsidiary and public trading of its shares ceased.

■ In December 2001, Enron Corporation filed for bank-
ruptcy. As a result, we made provisions for receivables
and open trade positions of $40 million on an after-tax
basis.

Financial Review



As Aquila’s chief financial officer, Dan Streek oversees all of our treasury,

tax, accounting and investor relations activities. A certified public 

accountant, he joined the company in 1992 and was named to his 

current position in August 2001.

Dan Streek
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Non-Recurring Items
Our earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and diluted earnings per share (EPS) for the three years ended December 31, 2001
were affected by several items that we expect will not have a continuing impact on our financial position or results of operations. The
table below summarizes the effect of non-recurring items on EBIT and diluted EPS.

Year Ended December 31, 
2001 2000 1999

In millions, except per share EBIT EPS EBIT EPS EBIT EPS
Actual $704.7 $2.42 $540.0 $2.21 $414.0 $1.75
Gain on sale of Aquila Merchant shares (a) (110.8) (.51) — — — —
Enron exposures (b) 66.8 .34 — — — —
Communications construction and lease terminations (c) 16.5 .09 4.0 .02 — —
Australia asset valuation reserves (d) 11.5 .10 — — — —
Gain on Uecomm IPO (e) — — (44.0) (.30) — —
Merchant asset impairments (f) — — 10.8 .07 — —
Corporate charge for technology assets and intangibles (g) — — 12.4 .08 — —
Operating $688.7 $2.44 $523.2 $2.08 $414.0 $1.75

(a) In 2001, we sold 5.75 million shares of Aquila Merchant as part of the initial public offering of that subsidiary and realized a gain of $110.8 million.
(b) In 2001, we wrote off exposures related to the Enron bankruptcy of $35.0 million in Aquila Merchant and $31.8 million in Domestic Networks.
(c) In 2001, we recorded charges of $16.5 million in our communications business related to preliminary system design and leases in markets we do not 

intend to develop. In 2000, we recorded a charge of $4.0 million related to the construction of our fiber-optic communications network.
(d) In 2001, we recorded charges of $11.5 million in our Australian networks related to valuation allowances on certain deferred taxes and collectibility of certain 

receivables.
(e) In 2000, we recorded a $44.0 million gain on the initial public offering of 34% of Uecomm Ltd. by United Energy.
(f) In 2000, we recorded an asset impairment charge of $7.8 million on certain under-performing pipeline assets and $3.0 million on certain retail assets in

the United Kingdom.
(g) In 2000, we recorded charges of $10.0 million related to certain information technology assets that are no longer used and $2.4 million related to certain

corporate identity intangibles.
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Merchant Services

We conduct our Merchant Services business through Aquila
Merchant Services, Inc. (Aquila Merchant) in two segments,
Wholesale Services and Capacity Services. Wholesale Services
includes our North American and European commodity and
client businesses (including our capital services business).
Capacity Services primarily consists of power development, natu-
ral gas gathering and processing operations, and investments in
independent power projects. 

In 1999, 2000 and the first four months of 2001, we owned
100% of Aquila Merchant. In April 2001, approximately 20% of
Aquila Merchant was sold to the public. In connection with the
initial public offering of Aquila Merchant, we sold 5.75 million
previously issued shares and realized a pretax gain of approxi-
mately $110.8 million. In January 2002, we acquired the out-
standing public shares of Aquila Merchant in an exchange offer
and merger. Aquila Merchant was consolidated in each year
with a minority interest reflected in 2001. The following
Merchant Services financial information includes 100% of
Aquila Merchant before minority interest, which totaled $26.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Impact of Enron on the Commodity Markets
Enron Corporation has been the dominant company in the 
energy commodity markets in recent years with its proprietary

electronic trading platform, EnronOnLine, processing a signifi-
cant share of the trading volume in the market. When Enron’s
financial difficulties became public in late 2001, many compa-
nies doing business with Enron and using EnronOnLine began
to look to other energy companies, including Aquila Merchant,
and other trading platforms for their energy and risk manage-
ment needs. Aquila Merchant experienced a 52% increase in
total Btu equivalent per day volumes during the fourth quarter
of 2001 over 2000. It is difficult to directly attribute this in-
crease to the absence of Enron from the market; however, we
believe a portion of the increase was Enron-related. Interconti-
nentalExchange (ICE), in which Aquila has a 5% ownership 
interest, also experienced increased activity as the markets
shifted from EnronOnLine to other electronic trading platforms.
Total volumes and users on ICE increased by 65% and 30%, re-
spectively, from October to November 2001. ICE also had an in-
creased volume of gas and power trades for next-day delivery
rather than next-month delivery in response to shortened time-
frames for planning.

We also had an increase in the number of client transactions
in the fourth quarter of 2001 compared to 2000. It is still too
early to predict how transactions, volumes and earnings will be
affected by the Enron bankruptcy, but overall we believe the sit-
uation has created a number of market opportunities for us.

Three-Year Review—Wholesale Services
Year Ended December 31, 

Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999
Sales $36,607.1 $25,662.5 $16,345.2
Cost of sales 35,976.7 25,219.4 16,167.0
Gross profit 630.4 443.1 178.2
Operating expenses:

Operating expense 352.4 315.6 148.8
Depreciation and amortization expense 16.2 16.5 9.6
Impairments and other charges 35.0 3.0 —

Total operating expenses 403.6 335.1 158.4
Equity in earnings of investments .2 — —
Other income (expense) 34.5 37.3 20.9
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 261.5 145.3 40.7

Non-recurring items:
Enron exposure 35.0 — —
Retail asset impairments — 3.0 —

Operating EBIT $ 296.5 $ 148.3 $ 40.7

Operating EBIT contribution to Aquila 43.1% 28.3% 9.8%

Identifiable assets $4,653.5 $6,505.0 $2,153.7
Average value at risk $11.3 $6.9 $4.6
Total Btu equivalent per day 24.6 18.4 18.0
Physical gas volumes marketed (billion cubic feet per day) 13.5 12.0 10.5
Electricity volumes marketed (megawatt-hours 000’s) 350,000 189,900 236,500
Natural gas—average price per thousand cubic feet $3.91 $3.71 $2.15
Electricity—average price per megawatt-hour $50.24 $49.45 $33.68



Ed Mills has been president and chief operating officer of Aquila

Merchant Services since 1998. Prior to that, he headed Aquila’s risk

management and trading operations. He joined the company in 1993.

Edward Mills

2001 versus 2000
Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales and cost of sales for our Wholesale Services operations 
increased 43% in 2001 compared to 2000. Gross profit increased
$187.3 million or 42% in 2001 compared to 2000. These increases
were primarily due to the following:

■ A volatile pricing environment for gas and electricity,
particularly in early 2001, provided opportunities to exe-
cute our strategies and deliver products and services to
our clients.

■ Electricity and gas volumes marketed in 2001 increased
84% and 13%, respectively, over 2000, contributing to a
combined 34% increase on a total Btu equivalent per day
basis. These increases, together with a 27% increase in
the number of commodity transactions executed, con-
tributed to the increase in sales, cost of sales and gross
profit.

■ A 5% increase in average gas prices also increased our
sales and cost of sales.

■ A 28% increase in the number of client transactions in
2001 compared to 2000 contributed to a 34% increase in
gross profit from our origination deals and from the more
highly customized products we call Client Services.
These products include our GuaranteedWeather® and
GuaranteedGenerationSM products as well as our longer-
duration gas and electric contracts.

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses increased $68.5 million due to the
write-off of approximately $35.0 million related to our trading
exposures with Enron, the continued expansion of the merchant
business and our strong performance resulting in higher incen-
tive compensation expense. Also impacting operating expenses
was the allocation of $10.8 million of expenses from Corporate
and other. While the $35.0 million write-off represents our best
estimate of our exposure based on our contracts with Enron,
the ultimate outcome is subject to review by the bankruptcy
courts.

2000 versus 1999
Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales and cost of sales for our Wholesale Services operations 
increased $9.3 billion and $9.1 billion, respectively, in 2000
compared to 1999. These increases were primarily due to higher
prices for electricity and natural gas in 2000.

Gross profit increased $264.9 million in 2000 compared to 1999.
The increase in gross profit was primarily due to the following:

■ Strong wholesale commodity results in our gas, power
and origination businesses are due to several factors,
principally related to excellent execution in a favorable
pricing environment. Natural gas and electricity prices
increased 73% and 47%, respectively, in 2000 compared
to 1999. Electricity volumes in 2000 were lower than in
1999, due to the shorter duration of our portfolio com-
bined with higher price volatility.

■ Expansion of our GuaranteedWeather® and Guaranteed-
GenerationSM products compared to 1999. We started our
weather business in 1997 and GuaranteedGeneration in
1999. Combined with our natural gas and power origina-
tion businesses, deal flow in all origination businesses
combined was up 231%.

■ Gross profit in 1999 included a $19.8 million loss from
the retail gas supply business we sold in January 2000.

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses increased $176.7 million due to the ex-
pansion of Aquila Merchant’s business along with higher incen-
tive compensation expense resulting from our strong perform-
ance in 2000. Also, bad debt expense was higher in 2000 due to
the expansion of our overall business and certain accounts re-
ceivable that were not collectible. Depreciation expense was
$6.9 million higher primarily due to the additional investments
in technology assets. In 2000, we also recognized impairment
charges of $3.0 million on retail assets in the U.K.
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2001 versus 2000
Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales and cost of sales for our Capacity Services operations in-
creased 43% and 40%, respectively, in 2001 compared to 2000.
Gross profit increased $76.1 million. These increases were pri-
marily the result of the following factors:

■ The GPU International acquisition in December 2000
added approximately $54.9 million to gross profit in 2001
while adding $81.6 million and $26.7 million to sales and
cost of sales, respectively.

■ We secured power capacity prices on our generation as-
sets above current market prices, improving our margins
in 2001. We attempt to optimize asset positions with for-
ward contracts from time to time. When we take these
positions with derivative instruments, they are recorded
at fair value while the underlying asset position is re-
flected at historical cost. 

■ The additional sales and cost of sales are also the result
of additional capacity brought on line.

Three-Year Review—Capacity Services
Year Ended December 31, 

Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999
Sales $1,162.9 $815.6 $384.8
Cost of sales 952.7 681.5 289.5
Gross profit 210.2 134.1 95.3
Operating expenses:

Operating expense 92.5 66.7 48.7
Depreciation and amortization expense 39.3 32.3 29.5
Impairments and other charges — 7.8 —

Total operating expenses 131.8 106.8 78.2
Equity in earnings of investments 32.4 18.4 34.7
Other income (expense) 2.9 .1 (12.8)
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 113.7 45.8 39.0

Non-recurring items:
Pipeline asset impairments — 7.8 —

Operating EBIT $ 113.7 $ 53.6 $ 39.0

Operating EBIT contribution to Aquila 16.5% 10.2% 9.4%

Identifiable assets $1,595.1 $1,382.1 $935.4
Power capacity owned/controlled (megawatts) 4,357 4,107 546
Gas throughput volumes (million cubic feet per day) 381 449 548
Natural gas liquids—average price per gallon $.44 $.47 $.31
Natural gas liquids produced (thousand barrels per day) 20 22 22

Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) increased $16.4 million in 2000 com-
pared to 1999. This increase mainly stems from our Merchant
Notes Receivable which increased by 75% in 2000 compared to
1999, resulting in increased interest income. This increase was

the result of an increase in the number of financing transac-
tions, reflecting higher demand for capital in the exploration
and production market. This increase was partially offset by fees
associated with the increased amount of accounts receivable we
sold in 2000 compared to 1999.

s In 2001 Merchant Services had exceptional growth in
its trading operations; gas trading and natural gas and
power volumes increased dramatically.
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s EBIT from our merchant activities benefited greatly
from a volatile pricing environment and increased 
natural gas and electricity volumes.
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s Natural gas marketing volumes in 2001 rose 13% over-
all, reflecting strong demand for wholesale energy.
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s Electricity marketing volumes increased 84% in 2001
after declining the year before.
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Aquila applies its risk management expertise across many disciplines.

Our company-wide risk management program, directed by Cal Payne,

covers trading activities, internal auditing, insurable risks and credit

management.

C. E. Payne, Jr.
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Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses increased $25.0 million in 2001 com-
pared to 2000, primarily as the result of our GPU International
acquisition in December 2000. In 2000, impairment charges of
$7.8 million were recorded on certain pipeline related assets.

Equity in Earnings of Investments
Equity earnings increased $14.0 million in 2001 compared to
2000. Approximately $11.6 million of this increase relates to the
equity investments in four independent power plants that we
added to our power capacity as part of our acquisition of GPU
International in December 2000.

2000 versus 1999
Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales and cost of sales for our Capacity Services operations in-
creased $430.8 million and $392.0 million, respectively, in 2000
compared to 1999. Gross profit increased $38.8 million in 2000
compared to 1999. These increases resulted primarily from the
following factors:

■ Additional power capacity in the Southeast in 2000 and
other contractual transactions added about $22 million
to our gross profit.

■ A 52% increase in the average price of natural gas liquids
contributed to a $20 million increase in gross profit.

■ Partially offsetting those increases was an 18% decrease
in natural gas throughput volumes.

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses increased $28.6 million due to estab-
lishing power development and analysis teams to support con-
struction of power plants. In 2000, we also recognized impair-
ment charges of $7.8 million on certain underperforming
pipeline assets.

Equity in Earnings of Investments
Equity earnings decreased $16.3 million in 2000 compared to
1999. This was primarily due to the sale in late 1999 of our inter-
est in a power project that contributed equity earnings of $17.1
million in 1999, including the gain on the sale of the project.

Current Operating Developments
Acquisitions. In August 2001, Aquila Merchant and a partner
agreed to purchase a 12 Bcf gas storage facility under develop-
ment in Lodi, California. This facility is strategically located
and is important in helping to meet the gas needs of the
California energy market.

In January 2002, we acquired property and rights to develop a
12 Bcf gas storage facility near Kingman, Arizona. This facility
is located to serve the Arizona, Nevada and California gas mar-
kets. The first phase of the facility, with a storage capacity of 
6 Bcf, is expected to be in operation by the fourth quarter of
2003, with the full 12 Bcf planned for the fourth quarter of 2004.
Construction/Development. We currently have four power
projects under construction or in development that will produce
an additional 1,770 MW of power capacity. The work is largely
ahead of schedule and below budget and three of the plants are
expected to be on line for the 2002 cooling season.



s Our acquisition of St. Joseph Light & Power and higher
gas prices in early 2001 were the primary reasons for 
the 4% increase in Global Networks Group sales in 2001.
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s Non-recurring items in 2001 and 2000 were the primary
reason for the 2001 decrease in EBIT from Global
Networks.
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Three-Year Review—International Networks
Year Ended December 31, 

Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999
Sales $353.9 $492.4 $309.2
Cost of sales 143.3 311.8 106.3
Gross profit 210.6 180.6 202.9
Operating expenses:

Operating expense 80.7 48.6 46.5
Depreciation and amortization expense 55.8 45.5 42.2
Maintenance expense 2.3 2.3 2.7
Taxes, other than income taxes 15.8 13.5 11.6
Impairments and other charges 11.5 — —

Total operating expenses 166.1 109.9 103.0
Equity in earnings of investments 61.5 44.3 21.7
Minority interest in income of subsidiaries — (3.3) (11.5)
Gain on sale of subsidiary stock — 44.0 —
Other income (expense) 15.5 2.3 19.8
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 121.5 158.0 129.9

Non-recurring items:
Australian asset valuation reserves 11.5 — —
Gain on Uecomm initial public offering — (44.0) —

Operating EBIT $133.0 $114.0 $129.9

Operating EBIT contribution to Aquila 19.3% 21.8% 31.4%

Identifiable assets $1,864.9 $2,174.0 $1,792.1
Electric sales and transportation volumes (MWH 000’s) 25,484 13,785 9,023
Electric customers 1,595,000 1,553,000 1,165,000
Gas customers 1,200,000 1,148,000 587,000

Total customers* 2,795,000 2,701,000 1,752,000

* Includes customer connections in our equity method investments in electricity and gas distribution businesses in Australia and New Zealand.

Our Global Networks Group consists of our investments in inter-
national and domestic regulated electricity and gas utilities 
and communications networks. International Networks includes
our investments in Canada, Australia and New Zealand. Our
wholly owned Canadian electricity distribution company,
UtiliCorp Networks Canada Ltd., has operations in the provinces
of Alberta and British Columbia. Our Australian investments in-
clude a 34% interest in United Energy Limited, an electricity
distribution company in the Melbourne area; a 25.5% interest in
Multinet Gas, a gas distribution company in the Melbourne area;
and a 45% interest, held jointly with United Energy, in AlintaGas
Limited, a gas distribution company in Western Australia. In

New Zealand we have a 55.5% interest in UnitedNetworks Ltd.,
an electricity and gas distribution company based in Auckland.
Domestic Networks includes our electricity and gas network
businesses in Colorado, Iowa, Kansas, Michigan, Minnesota,
Missouri and Nebraska. Also included are our 89% owned sub-
sidiary, Everest Connections, a communications business that is
rolling out comprehensive fiber-optic communication services
in two Kansas City suburbs, and our 38% interest in Quanta
Services, Inc. Quanta is the premier provider of field services to
electric utilities, telecommunications and cable television com-
panies, and governmental entities.

Global Networks Group



Heading up the new Global Networks Group formed in November 2001,

Keith Stamm brings an energy merchant perspective to the management

of our network operations around the world. He was formerly the CEO of

Aquila Merchant Services.

Keith Stamm
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2001 versus 2000
Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales and cost of sales for our International Networks busi-
nesses decreased $138.5 million and $168.5 million, respec-
tively, in 2001 compared to 2000. Gross profit for our Inter-
national Networks businesses increased $30.0 million in 2001.
These changes were primarily due to the following:

■ The deconsolidation of our New Zealand operations in
June 2000 decreased sales, cost of sales and gross profit
by $104.6 million, $32.7 million and $71.9 million, respec-
tively.

■ Our acquisition of TransAlta’s electricity distribution
business in Alberta, Canada in August 2000, and subse-
quent sale of its lower margin retail business effective
January 2001, resulted in a decrease in sales and cost of
sales of $34.7 million and $136.8 million, respectively.
Gross profit increased at our Alberta network by $102.1
million from a full year’s operations in 2001.

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses increased $56.2 million in 2001 com-
pared to 2000. The purchase of our Alberta network increased
total operating expenses by $79.4 million. Deconsolidating our
New Zealand business decreased total operating expenses by
$28.8 million. In 2001, we also recorded charges of $11.5 million
relating to the realizability of deferred tax assets and interest
receivable on shareholder loans in our Australian equity invest-
ments.

Equity in Earnings of Investments
Equity in earnings increased $17.2 million in 2001 compared to
2000. After the sale of a portion of our New Zealand business we
now use the equity method of accounting to record our net
share of that business. This increased equity earnings by $16.5
million. 

Other Income (Expense)
Other income increased $13.2 million, primarily reflecting the
allowed recovery of carrying costs on deferred purchased power
costs ordered by Alberta regulators in December 2001.

Gain on Sale of Subsidiary Stock
United Energy completed an initial public offering of 34% of
Uecomm Limited, its telecom business, which resulted in a
$44.0 million gain in 2000.

2000 versus 1999
Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales and cost of sales for our International Networks busi-
nesses increased $183.2 million and $205.5 million, respectively,
in 2000 compared to 1999. These increases were primarily due
to our acquisition of TransAlta’s electricity distribution business
in Alberta, Canada. Gross profit for our International Networks
businesses decreased $22.3 million in 2000 compared to 1999.
The deconsolidation of our New Zealand business in June 2000
resulted in a $74.9 million decrease in gross profit from the
prior year, when we consolidated our New Zealand business 
for the full year. The purchase of our Alberta network partially
offset the decreases in our New Zealand business by contribut-
ing a gross profit of $52.6 million.

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses increased $6.9 million in 2000 compared
to 1999. The purchase of our Alberta network resulted in a $37.8
million increase in total operating expenses. Deconsolidating our
New Zealand business decreased total operating expenses by
$28.8 million. 

Equity in Earnings, Minority Interest and 
Other Income (Expense)
These items increased $13.3 million in 2000 compared to 1999.
Since the sale of a portion of our New Zealand business, we now
use the equity method of accounting to record our net share of
that business. This increased equity earnings by $13.3 million
and decreased minority interest in income of subsidiaries by
$8.2 million. Equity earnings also increased $9.3 million reflect-
ing higher earnings from our Australian investments. In addi-
tion, other income decreased $17.5 million on lower interest in-
come on loans to our equity investments.

Gain on Sale of Subsidiary Stock
United Energy completed an initial public offering of 34% of
Uecomm, its telecom business, in 2000, resulting in a $44.0 mil-
lion gain.
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Current Operating Developments
Competition in Australia. The State of Victoria is deregulat-
ing its electricity market in stages. In January 2002, all cus-
tomers of United Energy Limited (UEL) chose their retail elec-
tricity suppliers. A majority of UEL’s gross margin comes from
distribution line charges that are not affected by these cus-
tomer choices.
Regulation in New Zealand. An Electricity Act came into
force in August 2001. This new Act empowers the Commerce
Commission to exercise control over goods and services lines
businesses to promote efficient operation of markets through
targeted controls. The Commerce Commission is currently de-
veloping its approach to implementing this legislation.
Purchase of United Kingdom Electricity Network. We have
entered into an agreement to purchase Midlands Electricity plc,
a United Kingdom electricity network, from FirstEnergy Corp.
The price of this investment is approximately $362 million, plus
the assumption of approximately $1.7 billion of debt that would
be non-recourse to us. If consummated, we expect to account
for this acquisition using the equity method of accounting. Under
terms of our agreement, if the transaction is not completed by
April 26, 2002, either party may terminate the transaction.
Although we have received the necessary regulatory approvals,
those approvals require that we have a financial partner. We are
in discussions with FirstEnergy to modify our agreement to allow
us to complete the transaction in a manner consistent with the
regulatory approvals and expect that it will close in March 2002. 
Multinet Gas. In March 1999, we invested in the Multinet gas
distribution business in Melbourne, Australia. Because this
property’s service territory overlapped with our existing electric
distribution property, we expected and have been able to ex-
tract significant synergies. However, since March 1999, the
Melbourne area has experienced consecutive mild winters, one
of them the mildest on record. Additionally, gas volumes, nor-
malized for weather, have not met expectations. 

As a result of this unexpected financial performance, it was
necessary for us to invest, in December 2001, an additional
$81.9 million in the business as subordinated debt. Multinet
used these funds to retire senior bank debt.  In evaluating the
recoverability of our total investment in that business we evalu-
ated its cash flow potential under probable capitalization sce-
narios. Existing shareholder debt will likely be converted to eq-
uity as the result of recent tax law changes. Given this, cash
flow forecasts indicated sufficient cash flow to service and re-
tire the existing senior bank debt and provide a return of in-
vested capital, including shareholder loans, to the equity hold-
ers. As a result, we have determined no impairment of this in-
vestment exists as of December 31, 2001. However, valuation re-
serves totaling about $4.6 million on portions of the carrying
value of certain future income tax benefits were recorded at
Multinet and existing accrued interest balances were written
down as uncollectible.  
Pulse Retail. Our Melbourne, Australia businesses are partners
in the retail energy provider Pulse. Their investments consist
primarily of shareholder loans. In December, the Victorian gov-
ernment capped increases in retail electricity prices at less than
5%, compared with an average price increase sought by retailers
of around 18%. This decision dampened retailers’ enthusiasm
for full retail competition in the residential market, which began
in January 2002. Pulse’s financial outlook has been hampered
by the Victorian government’s actions and accordingly, the full
balance of accrued interest due from Pulse on the shareholder
loans and a portion of the shareholder loan balances were writ-
ten off. These write-offs were approximately $3.9 million and
are reflected in our 2001 financial statements. As the retail
markets continue to evolve under full retail competition, our
distribution businesses in Australia will continue to evaluate
the remaining carrying value of their shareholder loans to Pulse.
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Three-Year Review—Domestic Networks
Year Ended December 31, 

Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999
Sales:

Electric $ 758.2 $ 717.6 $ 675.4
Gas 964.3 826.5 638.2
Non-regulated businesses 569.9 514.0 265.2

Total sales 2,292.4 2,058.1 1,578.8
Cost of sales:

Electric 355.6 378.6 305.4
Gas 720.1 565.7 380.8
Non-regulated businesses 479.7 442.9 215.6

Total cost of sales 1,555.4 1,387.2 901.8
Gross profit 737.0 670.9 677.0
Operating expenses:

Operating expense 359.2 292.3 268.1
Depreciation and amortization expense 162.1 129.3 115.3
Maintenance expense 55.5 54.6 50.5
Taxes, other than income taxes 39.4 39.1 57.7
Impairments and other charges 48.3 4.0 —

Total operating expenses 664.5 519.3 491.6
Equity in earnings of investments 28.5 52.9 13.2
Minority interest in loss of subsidiaries 6.4 1.9 —
Other income 10.5 9.2 9.7
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 117.9 215.6 208.3

Non-recurring items:
Enron exposure 31.8 — —
Communications construction and lease termination 16.5 4.0 —

Operating EBIT $ 166.2 $ 219.6 $ 208.3

Operating EBIT contribution to Aquila 24.1% 42.0% 50.3%

Identifiable assets $3,512.5 $3,584.7 $2,370.0
Electric sales and transportation volumes (MWH 000’s) 13,143 12,173 12,043
Gas sales and transportation volumes (MCF 000’s) 216,559 241,708 247,831

Electric customers 431,000 408,000 349,000
Gas customers 874,000 863,000 831,000
Appliance service contract customers 139,000 156,000 170,000
Total customers 1,444,000 1,427,000 1,350,000

2001 versus 2000
Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales, cost of sales and gross profit for our Domestic Networks
businesses increased $234.3 million, $168.2 million and $66.1
million, respectively, in 2001 compared to 2000. Our acquisition
of St. Joseph Light & Power Company in December 2000 con-
tributed sales, cost of sales and gross profit of $104.1 million,
$40.9 million and $63.2 million, respectively. Also contributing
to increased sales and cost of sales were higher natural gas
prices in early 2001.

Operating Expenses
Operating expenses increased $66.9 million in 2001 compared
to 2000 primarily due to inclusion of a full year’s operations of
St. Joseph Light & Power, which had operating expenses of
$21.9 million. Also contributing to higher operating expenses
were increased bad debt expenses related to higher natural gas

costs in late 2000 and early 2001 and certain industrial cus-
tomer bankruptcies in 2001. Start-up operating expenses in con-
nection with the build-out of our communications networks also
contributed $30.5 million to increased operating expenses.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense
Depreciation and amortization expense increased $32.8 million
in 2001 compared to 2000, primarily as the result of $16.4 mil-
lion of increased depreciation related to the assets acquired in
the St. Joseph Light & Power merger. Also contributing to the
increase was $4.6 million of depreciation due to continued capi-
tal expenditures in our utility operations and $10.3 million due
to our communications network build-out.

Impairments and Other Charges
Impairments and other charges in 2001 included $31.8 million
of unsecured cash participation notes receivable that were writ-
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ten off following the Enron bankruptcy filing in December 2001.
Also included was the write-off of $16.5 million of communica-
tions system assets not being utilized and related leases in mar-
kets not actively being developed as we concentrate on develop-
ing our communications networks in the Kansas City area.

Equity in Earnings of Investments
Equity in earnings decreased $24.4 million in 2001 compared to
2000, primarily due to reduced equity earnings from our invest-
ment in Quanta and the termination of our management fee
agreement with Quanta in December 2000. The slowdown in the
telecom market and the write-off of certain receivables from its
telecom customers by Quanta reduced equity earnings in 2001.

2000 versus 1999
Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit
Sales and cost of sales for our Domestic Networks businesses in-
creased $479.3 million and $485.4 million, respectively, in 2000
compared to 1999. These increases were primarily due to in-
creased natural gas prices. Gross profit for our Domestic
Networks businesses decreased $6.1 million in 2000 compared
to 1999. The decrease primarily related to a 1999 Kansas show-
cause rate case that resulted in a $7.9 million reduction in gross
profit. Costs of fuel and purchased power also increased in
2000, offset in part by higher gross profits due to a hotter sum-
mer and colder winter. 

Total Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses increased $27.7 million in 2000 com-
pared to 1999. Our communications business incurred start-up
costs, depreciation expense and other charges of $23.5 million
in 2000 that were not incurred in 1999. Total operating ex-
penses of our domestic utility networks increased primarily be-
cause of higher depreciation due to continued investments in
network infrastructure, and higher bad debt expense as a result
of the increase in the cost of natural gas.

Equity in Earnings of Investments
Equity in earnings increased $39.7 million in 2000 compared to
1999. In 2000, we included a full year of equity earnings and
management fees in equity earnings of investments and part-
nerships relating to our investment in Quanta. This increased
equity in earnings by $40.5 million compared to 1999. We in-
vested an additional $360 million in Quanta stock in 2000. In
December 2000, we terminated our management services con-
tract with Quanta and received payment of the management
fees recorded, including a termination fee. 

Current Operating Developments
Quanta Ownership. We are presently arbitrating a dispute
with Quanta regarding our right to acquire additional shares of
Quanta. We have informed Quanta’s board of directors that we
intend to present an opposition slate of directors at Quanta’s
2002 annual meeting of shareholders. Although the market
price of Quanta shares was below our cost basis per share at
December 31, 2001, we do not believe that our investment is 
impaired. This conclusion is based on our evaluation of Quanta’s
financial condition and future prospects and our intent and
ability to hold this investment.
Domestic Utility Operations. Our domestic network busi-
nesses operate in a regulated environment. Industrial and large
commercial customers generally have access to energy sources,
so some of the competitive pricing benefits have been trans-
ferred to these customers through open access tariffs relating
to transmission lines and pipelines. Competition at the retail
level is dependent on legislation in each state. 
Sale of Pipeline Assets. On February 1, 2001 we entered into 
an agreement to sell our wholly-owned subsidiary UtiliCorp
Pipeline Systems for our book value of approximately $66 mil-
lion. We closed this transaction in January 2002.
Missouri Rate Case. In June 2001, we filed for a $49.4 million
increase in our Missouri electric rates. Approximately $39 mil-
lion of the requested increase related to anticipated higher fuel
and purchased power costs that did not materialize. In
February 2002, we reached a negotiated settlement with the
Commission staff and all intervenors that will result in a $4.3
million rate reduction.
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Corporate and Other
The table below summarizes corporate and other EBIT for the
three years ended December 31, 2001. Corporate primarily con-
tains the retained costs of the company that are not allocated
to the business units.
In millions 2001 2000 1999
EBIT $5.7 $(24.7) $(3.9)

Non-recurring items:
Write-off of certain technology

and corporate identity assets — 12.4 —

Operating EBIT $5.7 $(12.3) $(3.9)

2001 versus 2000
EBIT
Corporate and other EBIT increased $30.4 million in 2001 com-
pared to 2000 due to $12.4 million of impairments and other
charges recognized in 2000. Also contributing to the increase 
in EBIT was the allocation of $10.8 million of expenses to our
merchant business and $3.6 million of lower accounts receiv-
able sales program costs due to reduced utilization in 2001.

Interest Expense 
Interest expense and minority interests in income of partner-
ship and trusts increased $8.1 million in 2001 compared to
2000. This was primarily due to increased long-term borrowings
in late 2000 and early 2001 related to the acquisitions of our
Alberta network, AlintaGas, St. Joseph Light & Power and GPU
International.

Income Taxes 
Income taxes increased $84.0 million in 2001 compared to 2000.
This was primarily due to the increased earnings before income
taxes in 2001 resulting from the factors discussed previously.
Our overall effective tax rate increased from 36.4% in 2000 to
42.0% in 2001. The increase in our effective tax rate was due
primarily to the effect of increased minority interest in income
of subsidiaries, taxes on the gain recognized on the sale of our
shares in Aquila Merchant, and valuation allowances on certain
international losses.

2000 versus 1999
EBIT
Corporate and other EBIT decreased $20.8 million in 2000 com-
pared to 1999 due to impairments and other charges of $12.4
million. These related to certain technology assets and purchased
intangibles no longer used in our operations. Also contributing
to the decrease in EBIT were certain project costs and other
corporate costs not allocated to business units.

Interest Expense 
Interest expense and minority interest in income of partnership
and trusts increased $29.7 million in 2000 compared to 1999.
The issuance of $250.0 million of company-obligated preferred
securities in September 1999 and $100.0 million in June 2000
resulted in an increase of $15.8 million. Increased short-term
and long-term borrowings to fund acquisitions and investments
resulted in the remaining increase.

Income Taxes 
Income taxes increased $50.0 million in 2000 compared to 1999.
This was primarily due to the increased income before income
taxes in 2000 resulting from the factors discussed previously.
Our overall effective tax rate increased from 29.8% in 1999 to
36.4% in 2000, primarily as a result of an increase in our pretax
earnings in Canada, which has higher statutory tax rates.

Critical Accounting Policies
We have prepared our financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. These statements include some amounts that are
based on informed judgments and estimates of management.
Our significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 1 to
the consolidated financial statements. Our critical accounting
policies are subject to judgments and uncertainties that affect
the application of such policies. As discussed below, while we
believe these financial statements include the most likely out-
comes with regard to amounts that are based on our judgments
and estimates, our financial position and results of operations
may be materially different when reported under different con-
ditions or when using different assumptions in the application
of such policies. In the event estimates or assumptions prove to
be different from actual amounts, adjustments are made in
subsequent periods to reflect more current information. Our
critical accounting policies include:
Sales Recognition. A significant portion of our sales are
recorded in connection with our trading activities and are
recorded under the mark-to-market method of accounting. The
market prices or fair values used in determining the value of
our portfolio are our best estimates utilizing information such
as closing exchange rates, over-the-counter quotes, historical
volatility and the potential impact on market prices of liquidat-
ing our positions in an orderly manner over a reasonable period
of time under current market conditions. As additional informa-
tion becomes available, or actual amounts are determinable,
the recorded estimates are revised. As a result, operating re-
sults can be affected by revisions to prior accounting estimates.
Principles of Consolidation. We consolidate all operations
which we control. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 96-16, we do not consolidate operations in which
we have granted substantive participating and protective rights
to our partners. We account for these unconsolidated investments
using the equity method of accounting. See Notes 4 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We review the carrying
value of long-lived assets, including goodwill, whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that such carrying values
may not be recoverable. Unforeseen events and changes in con-
ditions could negatively affect the fair value of our assets and
result in impairment charges. Fair value is the amount at which
an asset could be bought or sold in a current transaction be-
tween willing parties and may be estimated using a number of
approaches. These approaches may include quoted market
prices or valuations by third parties, present value techniques
based on estimated cash flows, or multiples of earnings or sales. 
Regulatory Accounting Implications. We currently record the
economic effects of regulation in accordance with the provi-
sions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 71
(SFAS No. 71), “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of
Regulation.” Accordingly, our balance sheet reflects certain

Corporate Matters
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costs as regulatory assets. We expect our rates will continue to
be based on historical costs for the foreseeable future. If we dis-
continued applying SFAS No. 71, we would make adjustments to
the carrying value of our regulatory assets. Total net regulatory
assets at December 31, 2001 were $308.8 million, including de-
ferred purchased power costs of $177.5 million related to our
Alberta, Canada electricity business. The Alberta government
issued regulations in December 2001 that permit us to recover
these deferred costs in 2002 to 2003. These regulations also pro-
vide for the current recovery of carrying costs. We, along with
the other Alberta electricity distribution companies, are work-
ing with the provincial government, rating agencies and finan-
cial institutions to pursue the securitization of these balances
as the lowest cost of financing to the customers.

Environmental Matters
We own or once operated former manufactured gas plant sites
which may require some form of environmental remediation. As
of December 31, 2001, we estimate cleanup costs on these iden-
tified sites to be $9.0 million. See Note 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements for further discussion.

We also are currently named as a potentially responsible
party (PRP) at two disposal sites for polychlorinated biphenyl
(PCB). We anticipate that future expenditures on the two sites
and others where we are currently named as a PRP or have re-
mediation liability will be less than $2 million.

In May 2000, the state of Missouri adopted a revised regula-
tion that also requires reduction of nitrous oxide (NOx) from
our power plants. We estimate the cost of compliance to be 
approximately $21.9 million in capital costs and $2.2 million in
annual operation and maintenance costs. The new standard will
be effective in May 2003.

In December 2000, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) announced that it would regulate mercury emissions
from coal- and oil-fired power plants. The EPA is expected to
propose regulations by December 2003 and issue final regula-
tions by December 2004. The impact of this action on our power
plants cannot be determined until final regulations are issued.

Market Risk—Trading
We are exposed to market risk, including changes in commodity
prices, interest rates and currency exchange rates. To manage

the volatility relating to these exposures, we enter into various
derivative transactions in accordance with our policy approved
by the board of directors. Our trading portfolios consist of natu-
ral gas, electricity, coal, global liquids, weather derivatives and
interest rate contracts that are settled by the delivery of the
commodity or cash. These contracts take many forms, including
futures, forwards, swaps and options.

We measure the risk in our trading portfolio using value-at-
risk methodologies, to simulate forward price curves in the en-
ergy markets and estimate the size of future potential losses.
Value-at-risk measures the potential loss in a portfolio’s value
due to market volatility, over a specified time horizon, stated
with a specific degree of probability. The quantification of mar-
ket risk using value-at-risk methodologies provides a consistent
measure of risk across diverse energy markets and products.
The use of this method requires a number of key assumptions,
such as: 

■ Selection of a confidence level (we use 95%);

■ Estimated holding period (this is the time needed to liq-
uidate different commodity and term positions; we use
holding periods of one to five days depending on the
commodity and duration of the position); and

■ Use of historical estimates of volatility and correlation
with recent activity more heavily weighted. 

The average value at risk for all commodities during 2001 was
$11.3 million. Our total value at risk as approved by the board of
directors is limited to $15.0 million. We also use additional risk
control mechanisms such as stress testing, daily loss limits and
commodity position limits, as well as daily monitoring of the trad-
ing activities which is performed by an independent function.

All Merchant interest and foreign currency risks are monitored
within the commodity portfolios and value-at-risk calculation. The
value of our commodity portfolios is impacted by interest rates as
the portfolio is valued using an estimated interest discount factor
to December 31, 2001. We often sell Canadian sourced natural gas
into the U.S. markets accepting U.S. dollars from customers, but
paying Canadian dollars to suppliers. This exposes our portfolio to
currency risk and we generally hedge this exposure.

The table below shows the expected cash flows associated with
the interest rate financial instruments at December 31, 2001.

Dollars in millions 2002 2003 2004 2005
Fixed to variable rate $(.8) $(2.1) $(.1) $(.3)
Average rate paid 6.7% 6.8% 6.7% 6.7%
Average rate received 4.8% 5.2% 4.8% 4.8%

Market Risk—Non-Trading
We are also exposed to commodity price changes outside of price risk management activities. The following table summarizes these
exposures on an EBIT basis as if our positions were completely unhedged:

Commodity EBIT
Price Change Impact (a)

Natural gas liquids price per gallon (b) ± $ .01 $1.7 million
Natural gas price per MCF ± 1.00 .3 million

(a)  Assumes the price change occurs for an entire year. 
(b)  We have hedged approximately 54% of our forward natural gas liquids production to minimize the effect of price changes.



A Q U I L A  2 0 0 1 35

Credit Risk
In conducting our energy marketing and risk management 
activities, we regularly transact business with a broad range of
entities and a wide variety of end users, trading companies and
financial institutions. Credit risk is measured by the loss we
would record if our counterparties failed to perform pursuant to
the terms of their contractual obligations and the value of col-
lateral held, if any, was not adequate to cover such losses. 

We have established controls to determine and monitor the
creditworthiness of counterparties, as well as the quality of
pledged collateral, and use master netting agreements when-
ever possible to mitigate our exposure to counterparty credit
risk. Master netting agreements enable us to net certain assets
and liabilities by counterparty. We also net across product lines

and against cash collateral, provided such provisions are estab-
lished in the master netting and cash collateral agreements.
Additionally, we may require counterparties to pledge addi-
tional collateral when deemed necessary. 

Concentrations of credit risk from financial instruments, in-
cluding contractual commitments, exist when groups of coun-
terparties have similar business characteristics or are engaged
in like activities that would cause their ability to meet their
contractual commitments to be adversely affected, in a similar
manner, by changes in the economy or other market conditions.
We monitor credit risk on both an individual basis and a group
counterparty basis. A majority of our merchant portfolio is with
counterparties who have investment grade credit ratings.

The fair value of contracts maturing in each of the next four years and thereafter are shown below:

2002 2003 2004 2005 Thereafter (a) Total
Prices actively quoted $297.9 $90.7 $ — $ — $ — $ 388.6
Prices provided by other 

external sources — — 71.1 28.2 — 99.3
Prices based on models and

other valuation methods 10.4 1.1 1.9 — 89.6 103.0
Fair value of contracts 308.3 91.8 73.0 28.2 89.6 590.9
Long-term gas contracts (79.7) (81.5) (85.1) (87.8) (498.4) (832.5)
Total price risk management assets

(liabilities) $228.6 $10.3 $(12.1) $(59.6) $(408.8) $(241.6)

(a) The fair value of our long-term contracts is composed primarily of fixed price risk that has been significantly hedged.

Trading Long-term 
In millions Contracts Gas Contracts Total
Fair value of contracts outstanding at the beginning of the year $562.4 $(912.9) $(350.5)
Fair value generated during the year 623.2 — 623.2
Contracts realized or settled during the year—entered into in 2001 (429.0) — (429.0)
Contracts realized or settled during the year—entered into in prior years (191.3) 80.4 (110.9)
Other, net 25.6 — 25.6
Fair value of contracts outstanding at the end of the year $590.9 $(832.5) $(241.6)

Certain Trading Activities
We engage in price risk management activities for both trading
and non-trading activities. Transactions carried out in connec-
tion with trading activities are accounted for under the mark-
to-market method of accounting. Under this method, our energy
commodity trading contracts, including physical transactions
(mainly gas and power) and financial instruments, are recorded
at fair value. As part of the valuation of our portfolio, we value
the credit risks associated with the financial condition of coun-
terparties and the time value of money. We primarily use quoted
market prices from published sources or comparable transac-
tions in liquid markets to value our contracts. If actively quoted
market prices are not available, we contact brokers and other

external sources or use comparable transactions to obtain cur-
rent values of our contracts. When market prices are not readily
available or determinable, certain contracts are valued at fair
value using an alternative approach such as model pricing. The
market prices or fair values used in determining the value of
the portfolio are our best estimates utilizing information such
as closing exchange rates, over-the-counter (OTC) quotes,
volatility, time value, counterparty credit and the potential im-
pact on market prices of liquidating our positions in an orderly
manner over a reasonable period of time under current market
conditions. The changes in fair value of our trading contracts
for 2001 are summarized below:
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Currency Rate Exposure
We do not currently hedge our net investment in foreign operations. As a result, the foreign denominated assets and liabilities fluctu-
ate in value. Historically, our net exposure to changes in foreign currency has been limited as the company’s foreign investments are
financed largely through foreign debt.

The table below summarizes the average value of foreign currencies used to value sales and expenses along with the related sensi-
tivity.

Net Investment Impact of 10% change Average Currency Unit Value in U.S. Dollars
Dollars in millions at December 31, 2001 on 2001 EBIT (a) 2001 2000 1999
Australia $529.5 ± $1.2 $ .52 $ .58 $ .65
Canada 164.3 ± 7.8 .65 .67 .67
New Zealand 386.7 ± 3.1 .42 .46 .53
United Kingdom 1.0 ± 2.2 1.44 1.52 1.62
Total ± $14.3

(a) Assuming a 10% change in local currency value relative to the U.S. dollar if the change occurred uniformly over the entire year, based on 2001 EBIT.

Interest Rate Exposure
We have about $1.6 billion in variable rate financial obligations. A 100-basis-point change in the variable rate financial instruments
would affect net income by about $9.6 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash requirements arise primarily from continued growth,
network construction programs, non-regulated investment op-
portunities, merchant working capital requirements and com-
mon stock dividends. Our ability to attract the necessary finan-
cial capital at reasonable terms is critical to our overall plan.
We have an investment grade rating from credit rating agen-
cies. A downgrade in our credit ratings to non-investment grade
would have a negative impact on our ability to obtain capital on
terms currently available to the company. Historically, we have
financed acquisitions and investments initially with short-term
debt and later funded them with an appropriate mix of common
equity and long-term debt securities, depending on prevailing
market conditions.

A primary source of short-term cash has been bank loans and
commercial paper which aggregated $548.6 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2001. We can issue up to $150 million of commercial
paper supported by a $400 million committed revolving credit
agreement. The current domestic credit agreement is composed
of two parts, a one year $250 million revolving credit agreement
that expires in 2002 and a three year $150 million revolving
credit agreement that expires in 2003. Both of these allow for
issuance of notes at interest rates based on various money mar-
ket rates. At December 31, 2001, we had $135.0 million of com-
mercial paper under the program described above and $305.0
million of other unsecured domestic bank loans outstanding.
We also have a C$150 (US$ 94.2) million commercial paper 
program supported by a C$150 million credit facility expiring 
in 2002 that provides liquidity to our Alberta electricity distri-
bution business. At December 31, 2001, US$66.6 million was
outstanding under this facility. In addition, we have C$80
(US$50.3) million of credit facilities that expire in 2002 with an
outstanding balance of US$36.5 million.

To maintain flexibility in our capital structure and to take ad-
vantage of favorable short-term rates, we have historically sold
our accounts receivable under two programs to fund part of our
short-term cash requirements. The level of funding available
from these programs was limited to $405 million, $275 million
based on the sale of Aquila Merchant receivables and $130 mil-

lion based on the sale of Domestic Networks receivables. The
amount fluctuates seasonally. We had sold $220 million under
the Aquila Merchant program and $77.5 million under the
Domestic Networks program at December 31, 2001. In January
2002, the Aquila Merchant program was terminated.

Under a series of master agreements with our customers,
Aquila Merchant is required to post, and requires our cus-
tomers to post, either cash or a letter of credit when certain
agreed-upon credit limits are exceeded. As of December 31,
2001, $49.3 million of letters of credit were outstanding. We in-
tend to replace our domestic revolving credit agreement with a
new facility totaling $650 million to provide additional liquidity
to support our business needs.

We have a dispute with an insurance company regarding cer-
tain indemnity agreements we have with them. These agree-
ments relate to surety bonds issued to support our obligations
under certain long-term gas supply contracts. The maximum
amount that the insurance company could be required to pay
under the surety bonds is approximately $570 million. Notwith-
standing our continued performance under the gas supply
agreements and strong financial position, this company has 
demanded that we replace it as the surety, or alternatively, that
we post collateral to secure all of their obligations under the
agreements. We believe there is no merit to the insurance com-
pany’s position given our full compliance with the related gas
supply contracts, and that a court would agree with our inter-
pretation of the indemnity agreements.

We executed the following financing transactions which af-
fected our liquidity and capital resources in 2001:

■ In February 2001, we issued $250 million of 7.95% senior
notes due in February 2011.

■ We sold 11,500,000 shares of our common stock in March
2001, which raised approximately $332 million.

■ In April 2001, our Aquila Merchant subsidiary sold
19,975,000 of Class A common stock, including 5,750,000
shares owned by us. The offering raised approximately
$446 million. 



As our senior vice president and chief administrative officer, Leo Morton

is responsible for a wide range of enterprise support functions, including

human resources, corporate services, information technology and corpo-

rate communications.

Leo E. Morton
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■ In June 2001, we exchanged $189.5 million of senior
notes with interest rates ranging from 8.0% to 9.0% for
$200 million of new senior notes with an interest rate of
7.75%, maturing in June 2011.

■ Also in June 2001, we retired $204.1 million of senior
notes, mortgage bonds and company-obligated preferred
securities. 

■ In January 2002, we completed an exchange offer and
merger that resulted in the issuance of approximately
12.6 million shares of our common stock for all publicly
held shares of Aquila Merchant. The holders of 1.8 mil-
lion shares of Aquila Merchant common stock rejected
the consideration in the merger as inadequate and are
pursuing their right to receive fair value in cash.

■ On January 30, 2002, we sold 12.5 million shares of our
common stock to the public, including an over-allotment
of 1.5 million shares, which raised approximately $278
million in net proceeds.

The components of our capital structure at December 31,
2001 and 2000 are summarized in the following table.  2

Pro
Forma 2001 2000

Common stock equity 51.7% 44.2% 35.0%
Company-obligated preferred 

securities 5.7 6.0 8.7
Short-term debt 4.5 9.5 9.7
Long-term debt 38.1 40.3 46.6
Total Capitalization 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

The above pro forma capitalization adjusts the December 31,
2001 amounts for the issuance of approximately 12.6 million
shares of common stock in the Aquila Merchant exchange offer
and the issuance of 12.5 million shares of Aquila, Inc. common
stock in a public offering. The proceeds of approximately $278
million from the public offering were assumed to pay down
short-term debt.  Our intention is to maintain common equity at
50% of total capital or higher.

Our dividend payout ratio was 48.2% in 2001 (annualized divi-
dends of $1.20 divided by basic earnings per share of $2.49). We
expect our earnings per share to grow faster than our dividend.

Cash Requirements and Contractual Obligations
We estimate future cash requirements for capital expenditures for property, plant and equipment additions will be as follows:

Actual Future Cash Requirements
In millions 2001 2002 2003 2004
Capital expenditures $626.1 $643.0 $643.0 $594.0

We also have contractual cash obligations including maturities of long-term debt and company-obligated preferred securities, mini-
mum payments on operating leases and obligations under tolling agreements, power purchase contracts and fuel purchase contracts.
Nearly all of the power to be purchased under tolling and leasing agreements has been sold to third parties over comparable contract
periods. 



s Merchant Services capital expenditures increased as a
result of power plant development by Capacity
Services during 2001.

500
Dollars in Millions

Capital Expenditures—Merchant
273.6
56.1

108.9
00
99

01

100 150 200 250 300

s Network capital expenditures rose in 2001, reflecting
continued system improvements to ensure reliability
and costs to build our U.S. communications system.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries
and Partnerships
We have a number of equity method investments in unconsoli-
dated subsidiaries and partnerships that are discussed in detail
in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements. In most
cases we have no legal or economic obligation to make addi-
tional investments of equity or debt to fund these operations.
Following are descriptions of certain commitments or condi-
tions that could impact our financial condition, liquidity or re-
sults of operations. 

New Zealand Interest
In connection with the sale of a 21% preferred and common stock
equity interest in our New Zealand electricity distribution busi-
ness to a financial partner in June 2000, the financial partner re-
ceived an option that entitles them to sell their equity interest to
us on the third anniversary of the initial sale, or on the occur-
rence of certain events. The purchase would be exercised at par
value for the preferred stock and fair value for the common stock
for a total of approximately $33.0 million. If the option were exer-
cised we would be required to include the financial statements of
this operation in our consolidated financial statements. This op-
eration had total assets of approximately $1.0 billion and long-
term debt of $520.6 million as of December 31, 2001. We expect
to extend or remove this option before it matures and do not ex-
pect to reconsolidate our New Zealand interest.

Quanta Ownership
We are presently arbitrating a dispute with Quanta regarding
our right to acquire additional shares of Quanta. We have in-
formed Quanta’s board of directors that we intend to present an
opposition slate of directors at Quanta’s 2002 annual meeting of
shareholders. As of December 31, 2001, Quanta reported total
assets of $2.0 billion, including $1.0 billion of goodwill, total lia-
bilities of $842.5 million, including debt of $508.3 million, and
equity of $1.2 billion. Quanta’s revenues and net income for
2001 were $2.0 billion and $85.8 million, respectively.

Accounts Receivable Sales Programs
As of December 31, 2001, we had two programs totaling $405
million through which we sold accounts receivable. In January
2002, one program totaling $275 million was terminated.

Leases
We have operating leases of power plants, facilities and other
equipment. Certain of these leases are considered synthetic
leases through special purpose entities for whom we provide
guarantees of their obligations in specific circumstances. See
Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements for further 
discussion.

Credit Rating Triggers
Approximately $167.0 million of our long-term debt facilities
and notes contain provisions that would make a put option 
exercisable by the debt holders if our Standard & Poor’s (S&P)
or Moody’s credit ratings are reduced below investment grade.
We currently have investment grade credit ratings from S&P
and Moody’s.

The amounts of contractual cash obligations maturing in each of the next five years and thereafter are shown below:
In millions 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Thereafter Total
Long-term debt $ 579.1 $148.9 $ 449.8 $ 40.2 $124.2 $ 984.8 $2,327.0
Company-obligated 

preferred securities 100.0 — 250.0 — — — 350.0
Operating leases 31.2 31.7 31.7 27.7 21.6 164.9 308.8
Purchase obligations 379.5 301.9 298.7 241.1 221.0 1,862.3 3,304.5
Total contractual 

cash obligations $1,089.8 $482.5 $1,030.2 $309.0 $366.8 $3,012.0 $6,290.3

We expect that cash generated from operations and new financing activities will be adequate to meet these estimated cash 
requirements and contractual obligations.



Significant Balance Sheet Movements
Total assets decreased $2.1 billion in 2001 compared to 2000.
This decrease is primarily due to the following:

■ Decreased accounts receivable of $1.6 billion that re-
sulted from lower natural gas and electricity prices from
the record prices at the end of 2000.

■ Price risk management assets, current and non-current,
decreased $937.9 million primarily as a result of lower
forward pricing of natural gas and electricity.

■ Prepayment and other increased $135.8 million, prima-
rily due to deferred purchased power costs classified as
current in 2001 as they will be collected from customers
in 2002, as well as cash collateral on turbines that will be
released as turbines are financed at the project level. 

■ A $276.9 million increase in property, plant and equip-
ment, net resulted primarily from increased investment
in power plant development, gas pipeline and storage
and communications networks expenditures.

■ A $126.6 million increase in investments in subsidiaries
and partnerships primarily reflects the additional invest-
ment of $81.9 million in Multinet, an additional $40 mil-
lion investment in Quanta Services, Inc. and undistrib-
uted equity earnings.

■ Merchant notes receivables increased $102.4 million
from continued growth of our structured finance busi-
ness.

■ Deferred charges and other assets decreased $217.0 
million, primarily due to deferred purchased power costs
reclassified to current as discussed above, and cash col-
lateral on turbines not assigned to current projects.

In 2001, total liabilities decreased by $2.6 billion, company-
obligated preferred securities decreased $200.0 million as we
redeemed our Monthly Income Preferred Securities and reclas-
sified $100.0 million to current maturities, and common share-
holders’ equity increased $752.0 million. These changes were
primarily due to the following:

■ Decreased accounts payable of $1.6 billion that resulted
from lower natural gas and electricity prices compared
to the record prices at the end of 2000.

■ Price risk management liabilities, current and non-cur-
rent, decreased $1,046.8 million primarily as a result of
lower forward pricing of natural gas and electricity and
deliveries on long-term prepaid gas contracts.

■ Customer funds on deposit decreased $247.4 million due
to price fluctuations and our customers’ overall position
with our gas and power trading business.

■ Minority interest increased $139.5 million as the result of
the sale of an approximately 20% interest in our Aquila
Merchant business in April 2001.

■ Common shareholders’ equity increased $752.0 million.
This was primarily the result of the sale of 11.5 million
shares of common stock for approximately $332 million,
the sale of shares of our Aquila Merchant business which
raised common equity by $212 million, the issuance of
approximately $112.6 million in shares of common stock
pursuant to stock option exercises and other compensa-
tion plans, and net income of $279.4 million. These in-
creases were offset in part by common dividends paid of
$134.6 million and a $51.3 million increase in accumu-
lated other comprehensive losses related to unfavorable
foreign currency movements.

New Accounting Standards
In 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) is-
sued four new Statements of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS). SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” SFAS No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” and SFAS No.
144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets.” See Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements for
further discussion.

Effects of Inflation
In the next few years, we anticipate that the level of inflation, if
moderate, will not have a significant effect on operations or ac-
quisition activity.

Forward-Looking Information
This report contains forward-looking information. Such state-
ments involve risks and uncertainties and there are certain im-
portant factors that could cause actual results to differ materi-
ally from those anticipated. We generally intend the words,
“may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,”
“believe,” “seek,” “estimate,” “continue,” or the negative of
those terms or similar expressions to identify forward-looking
statements. Some of the important factors which could cause
actual results or liquidity to differ materially from those antici-
pated include:

■ Both our Merchant Services and Global Networks Group
businesses are weather-sensitive. Weather can affect re-
sults significantly to the extent that temperatures differ
from normal.

■ We are exposed to market risk, which may cause us to
incur losses from our Wholesale Services operations.

■ We may not be able to implement our strategy if we are
unable to access or generate capital at competitive rates.

■ The failure to maintain our investment grade bond rating
would increase our borrowing costs and limit our ability
to raise additional capital.

■ The timing and extent of changes in interest rates could
affect our financial results.
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■ We may not be able to successfully integrate acquired
businesses into our operations.

■ The volatility of prices of natural gas and natural gas liq-
uids can significantly affect the earnings contribution
from the Capacity Services segment of Merchant
Services.

■ The pace of well connections to our gas gathering system
can affect the earnings contribution from the Capacity
Services segment of Merchant Services.

■ Our development of merchant power plants may not be
successful or profitable.

■ The pace and degree of regulatory changes in the U.S.
and abroad can affect new business opportunities and
the intensity of competition.

■ The value of the U.S. dollar relative to the British pound,
Canadian dollar, Australian dollar and New Zealand dol-
lar can affect financial results from our foreign opera-
tions.

■ The inability to pass through increased fuel and pur-
chased power costs in certain regulatory jurisdictions
may affect the results of operations of our networks. The
modification of regulations or historical practices in
other jurisdictions in which we rely upon our ability to
recover our costs from our customers could adversely af-
fect our earnings.

■ The result of future rate proceedings could affect future
growth of our networks business.

■ Expansion of electricity markets in the United Kingdom
and Europe will affect both opportunity and competition
in marketing and trading activities.

■ The construction of fiber-optic communications networks
and start-up operations of our communications business
will have a negative effect on results of operations over
the next few years.

■ Current declines in the fair value of certain investments
may become other than temporary.
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Year Ended December 31,
In millions, except per share 2001 2000 1999

Sales:
Natural gas $18,682.4 $10,563.2 $ 8,729.4
Electricity 20,798.5 17,609.5 9,178.7
Other 895.9 802.2 713.4

Total sales 40,376.8 28,974.9 18,621.5
Cost of sales:

Natural gas 17,811.4 9,985.6 8,296.2
Electricity 20,299.2 17,257.6 8,985.0
Other 478.2 303.0 183.5

Total cost of sales 38,588.8 27,546.2 17,464.7
Gross profit 1,788.0 1,428.7 1,156.8
Operating expenses:

Operating and maintenance expense 1,006.5 844.3 635.3
Depreciation and amortization expense 272.9 225.0 193.7
Impairments and other charges 94.8 27.2 —

Total operating expenses 1,374.2 1,096.5 829.0
Equity in earnings of investments 122.8 115.5 69.5
Minority interest in income of subsidiaries (20.1) (1.4) (11.5)
Gain on sale of subsidiary stock 110.8 44.0 —
Other income 77.4 49.7 28.2
Earnings before interest and taxes 704.7 540.0 414.0
Interest expense:

Interest expense—long-term debt 182.4 166.2 160.9
Interest expense—short-term debt 12.2 17.9 9.3
Minority interest in income of partnership and trusts 28.5 30.9 15.1

Total interest expense 223.1 215.0 185.3
Earnings before income taxes 481.6 325.0 228.7
Income tax expense 202.2 118.2 68.2
Net Income and Earnings Available for Common Shares $ 279.4 $ 206.8 $ 160.5

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding:
Basic 112.10 93.05 91.47
Diluted 115.71 93.75 92.11

Earnings Per Common Share:
Basic $2.49 $2.22 $1.75
Diluted 2.42 2.21 1.75

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income

s The primary factor behind our 39% increase in total
sales was a 43% rise in Merchant Services sales.

* Excluding gain on sale of Aquila Merchant shares of
$110.8 million and EBIT from Corporate and other of
$5.7 million.
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December 31,
Dollars in millions 2001 2000

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 262.9 $ 392.6
Funds on deposit 168.2 154.3
Accounts receivable, net 2,926.8 4,485.4
Inventories and supplies 304.2 195.2
Price risk management assets 824.4 1,454.3
Prepayments and other 320.9 185.1

Total current assets 4,807.4 6,866.9
Property, plant and equipment, net 3,412.0 3,135.1
Investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries and partnerships 2,145.0 2,018.4
Price risk management assets 436.5 744.5
Merchant notes receivable 415.6 313.2
Deferred charges and other assets 731.8 948.8

Total Assets $11,948.3 $14,026.9

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Current maturities of long-term debt and 
company-obligated preferred securities $ 679.1 $ 51.7

Short-term debt 548.6 501.0
Accounts payable 3,212.8 4,850.8
Accrued and other current liabilities 542.0 521.3
Price risk management liabilities 573.2 1,296.9
Customer funds on deposit 122.0 369.4

Total current liabilities 5,677.7 7,591.1

Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt, net 1,747.9 2,345.9
Deferred income taxes and credits 347.8 362.0
Price risk management liabilities 929.3 1,252.4
Minority interests 157.6 18.1
Deferred credits  286.4 207.8

Total long-term liabilities 3,469.0 4,186.2
Company-obligated preferred securities 250.0 450.0
Common shareholders’ equity 2,551.6 1,799.6
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $11,948.3 $14,026.9

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

s Our common equity ratio increased due to our sale of
Aquila shares and Aquila Merchant shares. At the end 
of January 2002 our common equity ratio was 52%.
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s Foreign assets declined because of decreases in electri-
city and natural gas prices in our Canadian merchant
operations.

10
Dollars in Billions

3.0
3.8
2.2

00
99

01

2 3 4

Foreign Assets at Year End



s Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding
increased in 2001, primarily from the dilutive effect of
our stock offering during the year.
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s Cash from operations decreased $49.5 million, primarily
due to decreases in price risk management liabilities and
increases in inventories.
* Before changes in funds on deposit, net.

1000
Dollars in Millions

485.0
534.5
634.3

00
99

01

200 300 400 500 600 700

Cash Provided from Operations*

A Q U I L A  2 0 0 1 43

Year Ended December 31,
Dollars in millions, except per share 2001 2000 1999

Common Stock: authorized 400,000,000 at December 31, 2001 and 
200,000,000 shares at December 31, 2000 and 1999, par value $1 per 
share, 115,941,120 shares issued at December 31, 2001 (100,350,977 at 
December 31, 2000 and 93,605,700 at December 31, 1999); authorized 
20,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value $1 per share, 
none issued
Balance beginning of year $ 100.4 $ 93.6 $ 93.6
Issuance of shares to acquire St. Joseph Light & Power — 6.6 —
Issuance of shares in public offering 11.5 — —
Issuance of shares under compensation arrangements 4.0 .2 —

Balance end of year 115.9 100.4 93.6
Premium on Capital Stock:

Balance beginning of year 1,405.7 1,226.5 1,253.5
Issuance of shares to acquire St. Joseph Light & Power — 183.7 —
Issuance of shares in public offering 321.1 — —
Issuance of subsidiary common stock 211.6 — —
Issuance of shares under compensation arrangements 108.6 (4.5) (27.0)

Balance end of year 2,047.0 1,405.7 1,226.5
Retained Earnings:

Balance beginning of year 334.5 239.3 190.0
Net income 279.4 206.8 160.5
Dividends on common stock, $1.20 per share (134.6) (111.6) (111.2)

Balance end of year 479.3 334.5 239.3
Treasury stock, at cost (447 shares at December 31, 2001,  

40,441 shares at December 31, 2000, and 282,233 shares 
at December 31, 1999) — (.8) (5.4)

Accumulated other comprehensive losses (90.6) (40.2) (28.6)
Total Common Shareholders’ Equity $2,551.6 $1,799.6 $1,525.4

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Year Ended December 31,
Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999
Net Income $279.4 $206.8 $160.5
Unrealized translation adjustments, net   (51.3) (42.2) 9.0
Unrealized cash flow hedges .9 — —
Comprehensive Income $229.0 $164.6 $169.5

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statements of Common Shareholders’ Equity
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Year Ended December 31,
Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income $279.4 $ 206.8 $ 160.5
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided from 

operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense 272.9 225.0 193.7
Impairments and other charges 94.8 27.2 —
Net changes in price risk management assets and liabilities (109.0) 178.9 185.7
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits (29.7) (111.0) (8.0)
Equity in earnings of investments (122.8) (115.5) (69.5)
Dividends and fees from investments 57.0 74.4 33.9
Minority interests in income of subsidiaries 20.1 1.4 11.5
Changes in certain assets and liabilities, net of effects of 
acquisitions:  

Accounts receivable/payable, net (59.7) (21.9) 128.2
Inventories and supplies (109.0) 83.4 (30.9)
Prepayments and other (78.7) (53.6) (3.6)
Accrued liabilities, net 84.5 204.2 22.2
Other 185.2 (164.8) 10.6

Sub-total 485.0 534.5 634.3
Funds on deposit, net (261.3) 255.4 (33.9)

Cash provided from operating activities 223.7 789.9 600.4
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Additions to utility plant (252.4) (138.7) (129.3)
Merchant capital expenditures (273.6) (56.1) (108.9)
Increases in merchant notes receivable (102.4) (133.9) (159.2)
Investments in international businesses (105.6) (725.2) (485.0)
Investments in domestic businesses (106.5) (640.6) (421.6)
Sales of assets and partnership investment — — 159.0
Other (46.0) (34.9) (125.4)

Cash used for investing activities (886.5) (1,729.4) (1,270.4)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:

Issuance of common stock 332.6 5.8 —
Issuance of subsidiary common stock 315.4 — —
Issuance (retirement) of company-obligated preferred securities (100.0) 100.0 250.0
Issuance of long-term debt 612.4 973.9 986.0
Retirement of long-term debt (624.1) (309.7) (384.5)
Short-term borrowings, net 47.6 454.3 13.2
Cash dividends paid  (134.6) (111.6) (111.2)
Other 83.8 (5.5) 20.8

Cash provided from financing activities 533.1 1,107.2 774.3
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (129.7) 167.7 104.3
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 392.6 224.9 120.6
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $262.9 $ 392.6 $ 224.9

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid, net of amount capitalized $236.0 $ 215.4 $ 167.7
Income taxes paid 241.5 60.2 76.8

Liabilities assumed in acquisitions:
Fair value of assets acquired $ — $ 2,229.2 $ 898.9
Cash paid for acquisitions — (1,421.9) (898.9)
Stock issued for acquisitions — (190.2) —
Liabilities assumed $ — $ 617.1 $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Aquila, Inc. (Aquila), formerly UtiliCorp United Inc., is an inter-
national energy and energy solutions provider headquartered in
Kansas City, Missouri. We operate in two business groups,
Merchant Services and the Global Networks Group, with four
financial reporting segments. In Merchant Services, we conduct
our business through two segments, Wholesale Services and
Capacity Services, while our Global Networks Group is com-
prised of our International Networks and Domestic Networks
segments.

Our Merchant business operates as Aquila Merchant Services,
Inc. (Aquila Merchant), which markets natural gas, electricity
and other commodities throughout North America and Western
Europe through its Wholesale Services business segment, which
also includes our capital services business. Through its Capacity
Services business segment, it also gathers, transports, stores
and processes natural gas and gas liquids, and owns, operates
or controls power plants. In 1999, 2000 and through April 2001,
we owned 100% of Aquila Merchant. In April 2001, approxi-
mately 20% of Aquila Merchant’s ownership was sold to the pub-
lic. In January 2002, we acquired the outstanding public shares
of Aquila Merchant in an exchange offer and merger. Aquila
Merchant was consolidated in each year with a minority inter-
est reflected in 2001.

The main activity of International Networks is operating 
foreign businesses that distribute and transmit electricity and
natural gas to retail and wholesale customers. Our Canadian
electric generation facilities supply electricity, primarily for our
own distribution systems. International Networks operates in
two Canadian provinces, New Zealand and Australia. 

Our Domestic Networks segment operates domestic busi-
nesses that distribute and transmit electricity and natural 
gas to retail and wholesale customers in seven states. Our elec-
tric generation facilities supply electricity, primarily for our own
distribution systems in three states. However, we also sell to
outside service areas. Domestic Networks also includes our
communications business, which is rolling out comprehensive
communications services in mid-sized and smaller communities
in the Kansas City metropolitan area, and our investment in
Quanta Services, Inc. (Quanta), a field services firm based in
Houston, Texas. Quanta provides specialized construction and
maintenance services to the utility, telecommunications and
cable television industries.

In March 2002, we changed our name from UtiliCorp United
Inc. to Aquila, Inc. to reflect our embracing of the merchant
business.

Use of Estimates
We prepared these financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. We
made certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities. Our estimates and assumptions
affect the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in this
report and reported amounts of sales and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation
Our consolidated financial statements include all of Aquila’s
operating divisions and majority-owned subsidiaries for which
we maintain controlling interests. We use equity accounting for
investments in which we have significant influence but do not
control. In certain investments we have granted substantive
participating and protective rights to our partners, in accor-

dance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 96-16, which
does not allow us to control those investments. We eliminate
significant inter-company accounts and transactions.

Property, Plant and Equipment
We show property, plant and equipment at cost. We expense
repair and maintenance costs as incurred or as provided for 
by regulatory order. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line
basis over the estimated lives of the assets. When regulated
property is replaced, removed or abandoned, its cost, together
with the costs of removal less salvage, is charged to accumu-
lated depreciation. See Note 7.

Goodwill
We have recorded goodwill, representing the excess of the cost
of acquisitions over the fair value of the related net assets at the
dates of acquisition, of $802.8 million, less accumulated amorti-
zation of $52.2 million as of December 31, 2001. We amortize
goodwill on the straight-line method over periods of 40 years or
less. Amortization expense for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999 was (in millions) $22.4, $13.3 and $4.1,
respectively.

Sales Recognition
We recognize sales as products and services are delivered,
except for trading and energy marketing activities. Transactions
carried out in connection with trading activities are accounted
for under the mark-to-market method of accounting. Under this
method, our energy commodity trading contracts, including
both physical transactions and financial instruments, are
recorded at fair value and shown on the consolidated balance
sheets as “Price Risk Management Assets” and “Price Risk
Management Liabilities.” As part of the valuation of our port-
folio, we value our credit risks associated with the financial
condition of counterparties and the time value of money. We 
primarily use quoted market prices from published sources or
comparable transactions in liquid markets to value our con-
tracts. If actively quoted market prices are not readily available,
we contact brokers or other external sources or use comparable
transactions to obtain current values of our contracts. When
market prices are not readily available or determinable, certain
contracts are valued at fair value using an alternate approach
such as model pricing. The market prices or fair values used in
determining the value of our portfolio are our best estimates
utilizing information such as closing exchange rates, over-the-
counter quotes, historical volatility and the potential impact on
market prices of liquidating our positions in an orderly manner
over a reasonable period of time under current market condi-
tions. When the portfolio market value changes (primarily due
to the effect of price changes, newly originated transactions
and the settlement of existing transactions), the change is rec-
ognized as a gain or loss in the period of change. We record the
resulting unrealized gains or losses as price risk management
assets and liabilities.

Funds on Deposit
Funds that our Aquila Merchant business has on deposit with
counterparties consist primarily of margin requirements related
to commodity swap and futures contracts. Pursuant to individ-
ual contract terms with counterparties, deposit amounts
required vary with changes in market prices, credit provisions
and various other factors. Interest is earned on most funds on

NOTE 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
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deposit. We also hold funds on deposit from counterparties in
the same manner.

Inventories
Our inventories consist primarily of natural gas in storage, coal
and materials and supplies valued at the lower of weighted
average cost or market.

Development Activity
We incur project-related development costs. These include costs
of feasibility studies, bid preparation, permitting, licensing and
contract negotiations that are expensed as incurred until the 
project is deemed to be probable. At that point, we expense or
capitalize the costs based on their nature. These costs may be
recoverable through partners in the projects or other third par-
ties, or classified as investment and recovered through future
project cash flows. Accumulated capitalized costs for project

development are expensed during the period in which we deter-
mine it is probable the costs will not be recovered.

Income Taxes
We use the liability method to reflect income taxes on our
financial statements. To estimate deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties, we apply current tax regulations at the end of a reporting
period to the cumulative temporary differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the
financial statements. We amortize deferred investment tax cred-
its over the lives of the related properties.

Cash Equivalents and Cash Flow Information
Cash includes cash in banks and temporary investments with 
an original maturity of three months or less. As of December 31,
2001, 2000, and 1999, our cash held in foreign countries was
$93.7 million, $198.3 million, and $46.6 million, respectively.

Earnings Per Common Share
The table below shows how we calculated diluted earnings per share and diluted shares outstanding. Basic earnings per share and
basic weighted average shares are the starting point in calculating the dilutive measures. To calculate basic earnings per share,
divide earnings available for common shares by weighted average shares outstanding without adjusting for dilutive items. Diluted
earnings per share is calculated by dividing earnings available for common shares after assumed conversion of dilutive securities by
weighted average shares outstanding adjusted for the effect of dilutive securities. 

In millions, except per share 2001 2000 1999
Earnings available for common shares $279.4 $206.8 $160.5
Convertible bonds .2 .2 .2
Earnings available for common shares after assumed 

conversion of dilutive securities $279.6 $207.0 $160.7

Earnings per share:
Basic $2.49 $2.22 $1.75
Diluted 2.42 2.21 1.75

Weighted average number of common shares used in 
basic earnings per share 112.10 93.05 91.47

Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options and restricted stock 1.46 .42 .32
Convertible bonds .24 .28 .32
Company-obligated preferred securities 1.91 — —

Weighted number of common shares and dilutive 
common stock used in diluted earnings per share 115.71 93.75 92.11

Currency Adjustments
For income statement items, we translate the financial statements
of our foreign subsidiaries and operations into U.S. dollars using
the average exchange rate during the period. For balance sheet
items, we use the year-end exchange rate. When translating 
foreign currency-based assets and liabilities to U.S. dollars, we
show any differences between accounts as unrealized transla-
tion adjustments in common shareholders’ equity. Currency

transaction gains or losses on transactions executed in a cur-
rency other than the functional currency are recorded in
income.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated financial state-
ments have been reclassified where necessary to conform to the
2001 presentation.
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A. Commodity Trading Activities:
Price Risk Management Activities
We trade energy commodity contracts daily. Our trading activi-
ties attempt to match our portfolio of physical and financial
contracts to current or anticipated market conditions. Within
the trading portfolio, we take certain positions to hedge physi-
cal sale or purchase contracts and we take certain positions to
take advantage of market trends and conditions. We record

most energy contracts—both physical and financial—at fair
value. Changes in value are reflected in the consolidated state-
ment of income. We use all forms of financial instruments,
including futures, forwards, swaps and options. Each type of
financial instrument involves different risks. We believe finan-
cial instruments help us manage our contractual commitments,
reduce our exposure to changes in cash market prices and take
advantage of selected arbitrage opportunities. We refer to these
transactions as price risk management activities.

NOTE 2: Price Risk Management

Although we generally attempt to balance our physical and
financial contracts in terms of quantities and contract perform-
ance, net open positions typically exist. We will at times create
a net open position or allow a net open position to continue
when we believe that future price movements will increase the
portfolio’s value. To the extent we have an open position, we are
exposed to fluctuating market prices that may adversely impact
our financial position or results from operations.

Market Valuation
The prices we use to value price risk management activities
reflect our best estimate of fair values considering various fac-
tors, including closing exchange and over-the-counter quota-
tions, time value of money and price volatility factors underly-

ing the commitments. We adjust prices to reflect the potential
impact of liquidating our position in an orderly manner over a
reasonable period of time under present market conditions.

We consider a number of risks and costs associated with the
future contractual commitments included in our energy portfo-
lio, including credit risks associated with the financial condition
of counterparties and the time value of money. The value of all
forward contracts is discounted to December 31, 2001, using
market interest rates for the contract term adjusted for our
credit rating or the credit of the counterparty. We continuously
monitor the portfolio and value it daily based on present market
conditions. The following table displays the fair values of energy
transactions at December 31, 2001, and the average value for the
year ended December 31, 2001:

Market Risk
Our price risk management activities involve offering fixed price commitments into the future. The contractual amounts and terms of
these financial instruments at December 31, 2001 and 2000, are below:

December 31, 2001
Fixed Price Fixed Price Maximum Term

Dollars in millions Payor Receiver In Years
Energy Commodities:

Natural gas (trillion Btu’s) 6,233 5,350 11
Electricity (megawatt-hours) 31,271,408 34,002,676 7
Crude oil (barrels) 9,421,662 7,794,800 3
Natural gas liquids (barrels) 8,902,000 11,364,000 2
Coal (tons) 69,750 153,450 1

Financial Products:
Interest rate instruments $2,047 $4,532 9

December 31, 2000
Fixed Price Fixed Price Maximum Term 

Dollars in millions Payor Receiver In Years
Energy Commodities:

Natural gas (trillion Btu’s) 5,700 4,533 12
Electricity (megawatt-hours) 9,820,208 14,068,008 5
Crude oil (barrels) 5,200,219 5,219,800 4

Financial Products:
Interest rate instruments $1,127 $4,884 10

Price Risk Management Assets Price Risk Management Liabilities
Dollars in millions Average Value December 31, 2001 Average Value December 31, 2001
Natural gas $1,237.4 $ 984.4 $1,652.9 $1,274.5
Electricity 357.0 208.3 276.8 197.9
Coal 44.0 46.5 33.6 21.1
Other 36.1 21.7 19.2 9.0
Total $1,674.5 $1,260.9 $1,982.5 $1,502.5
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Future changes in our creditworthiness and the creditworthi-
ness of our counterparties affect the value of our portfolio. We
adjust the value of contracts and set dollar limits with counter-
parties based on our assessment of their credit quality.

The value of price risk management assets is concentrated 
in five contracts representing 25% of the total asset value of the
portfolio. This concentration of customers may impact our over-
all exposure to credit risk, either positively or negatively, since
the counterparties may be similarly affected by changes in eco-
nomic, regulatory or other conditions. 

In 1997 through 2000, we were paid in advance on certain
contracts with natural gas purchasing agents to deliver gas to
municipal utilities they represent over the subsequent 10 to 12
years. In 2000 and 1999, we received $444 million and $250 mil-
lion, respectively. Included in price risk management liabilities
is $832.5 million of these advance payments. These contracts
are settled monthly through the physical delivery of gas. We
have hedged our exposure to changes in gas prices related to
these contracts. These contracts mature as follows (in millions):
$79.7 in 2002, $81.5 in 2003, $85.1 in 2004, $87.8 in 2005, $91.2
in 2006 and $407.2 from 2007 through 2012.

B. Non-Trading Activities
We use derivative financial instruments primarily to reduce 
our exposure to adverse fluctuations in interest rates, foreign
exchange rates, commodity prices and other market risks. When
we enter into a financial instrument, we formally designate and
document the instrument as a hedge of a specific underlying
exposure, as well as the risk management objectives and strate-
gies for undertaking the hedge transaction. Because of the high
degree of correlation between the hedging instrument and the
underlying exposure being hedged, fluctuations in the value 
of the derivative instruments are generally offset by changes 
in the value or cash flows of the underlying exposures being
hedged. We record derivatives in the consolidated balance
sheets at fair value in either Price Risk Management Assets or
Liabilities and in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI). The fair
values of derivatives used to hedge or modify our risks fluctuate
over time. These fair value amounts should not be viewed in iso-
lation, but rather in relation to the fair values or cash flows of
the underlying hedged transactions and the overall reduction in
our risk relating to adverse fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates, interest rates, commodity prices and other market fac-
tors. In addition, the net income effect resulting from our deriv-
ative instruments is recorded in the same line item within the
consolidated statements of income as the underlying exposure
being hedged. We also formally assess, both at the inception and
at least quarterly thereafter, whether the financial instruments
that are used in hedging transactions are effective at offsetting
changes in either the fair value or cash flows of the related
underlying exposures. Any ineffective portion of a financial

instrument’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in
net income. 

Interest Rate Management 
Our long-term debt contains a combination of fixed and variable
rate instruments. Our policy is to fix the future cash flows
related to this debt within defined parameters. To accomplish
this we use floating to fixed rate swaps. These swaps related to
debt with a principal amount of $199.6 million and had maturi-
ties ranging from less than one year to four years at December
31, 2001. Interest rate swap agreements, which meet the hedge
criterion required under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 133 for cash flow hedges, are accounted
for as such. 

Foreign Currency Management 
We use foreign currency hedging to reduce the risk that our
eventual inflows or outflows of net U.S. dollar cash resulting
from inter-company financing transactions outside the U.S. will
be adversely affected by changes in exchange rates. 

We also enter into forward exchange contracts and swaps to
hedge certain anticipated cash flows denominated in foreign
currencies. These contracts, designated as cash flow hedges,
had maturities of one year or less on December 31, 2001. 

Accounting for Hedging Activities
Effective January 1, 2001, we adopted SFAS No. 133 as
amended, which requires us to recognize all derivative instru-
ments on the balance sheet at fair value. It also establishes new
accounting rules for hedging instruments, which depend on the
nature of the hedge relationship. The adoption of SFAS No. 133
resulted in our recording transition adjustments to recognize
derivative instruments at fair value and to recognize the inef-
fective portion of the change in the fair value of derivatives. The
cumulative effect of these transition adjustments at January 1,
2001, was a reduction to OCI of approximately $4.5 million ($2.7
million net of tax). The reduction in OCI was related to cash
flow hedges of forecasted foreign currency transactions, future
natural gas liquids production and variable interest rate obliga-
tions. The effect on net income was not significant.

We recorded a $3.6 million increase to OCI in 2001, net of
both income taxes and reclassifications to earnings. This will
generally offset future cash flow losses relating to the underly-
ing exposures being hedged. We estimate that we will reclassify
gains into earnings during the next 12 months approximating
$1.7 million from the net amount recorded in OCI as of
December 31, 2001. We did not discontinue any fair value or
cash flow hedge relationships during the year ended December
31, 2001. As of December 31, 2001, the fair value of cash flow
hedges was $1.5 million ($.9 million net of tax). The effect on
net income was not significant.

Business Combinations
In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.” SFAS
141 addresses financial accounting and reporting for business
combinations and requires that all business combinations initi-
ated after June 30, 2001 be accounted for using the purchase
method of accounting. It prohibits the pooling-of-interests
method. SFAS 141 also requires certain additional disclosures

regarding material business combinations. The adoption of this
standard is not expected to have a material impact on our
financial position or results of operations.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS 142 requires that, beginning on
January 1, 2002, goodwill no longer be amortized against earn-

NOTE 3: New Accounting Standards
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Our consolidated balance sheets contain various equity investments as shown in the table below. The table below summarizes our
investments, including shareholder loans, and related equity earnings:

Effective Investment Equity Earnings
Ownership at December 31, Year Ended December 31,

Dollars in millions at 12/31/01 Country 2001 2000 2001 2000 1999
United Energy Limited 34.0% Australia $ 218.8 $ 239.5 $ 16.5 $ 19.8 $28.0
Multinet 25.5% Australia 222.8 168.6 6.5 10.4 (6.9)
AlintaGas Limited 22.5% Australia 87.9 69.4 8.1 .1 —
UnitedNetworks Ltd. 55.5% New Zealand 386.7 374.9 30.4 13.9 —
Independent power project 

partnerships  17%–50% U.S. & Jamaica 312.5 310.4 28.9 18.7 34.0
Oasis Pipe Line Company 50% United States 99.4 97.5 3.5 (.3) .6
Quanta Services, Inc. 38% United States 773.6 711.9 30.6 53.7 13.2
Other Various 43.3 46.2 (1.7) (.8) .6
Total $2,145.0 $2,018.4 $122.8 $115.5 $69.5

NOTE 4: Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Partnerships

ings. Rather, this statement requires that goodwill be tested no
less than annually for impairment, and if impaired, be written
off against earnings at that time. 

During the year ended December 31, 2001, we finalized pur-
chase price allocations related to the acquisitions of TransAlta’s
Alberta electricity distribution business and St. Joseph Light &
Power Company that resulted in the reclassification of approxi-
mately $284 million of additional goodwill from Property, Plant
and Equipment. We estimate the adoption of this standard will
reduce annual amortization by approximately $22.4 million on
approximately $750.6 million of goodwill. Additionally, we expect
this new standard will increase equity in earnings of investments
by approximately $18 million because those underlying invest-
ments currently have goodwill and identified intangibles with
indefinite lives on their balance sheets. We are currently evaluat-
ing the impact the new standard and its impairment testing
could have on our financial position and results of operations.

Asset Retirement Obligations
In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for
Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS 143 requires companies to
record the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obliga-
tion in the period in which the liability is incurred. When the
liability is initially recorded, the entity will capitalize the esti-
mated cost by increasing the carrying amount of the related

long-lived asset. The liability will be accreted to its present value
each subsequent period and the capitalized cost will be depreci-
ated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of
the liability, the company will record a gain or loss for the dif-
ference between the settled liability and the recorded amount.
This standard will become effective for us on January 1, 2003.
Earlier application is encouraged. We are in the process of
assessing how adopting this standard will affect our financial
position and results of operations.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” SFAS 144
supersedes SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed of.” This
standard retains the provisions of SFAS 121 regarding the
impairment of long-lived assets to be held and used. SFAS 144
establishes a single accounting model for long-lived assets to be
disposed of by sale. It requires that those long-lived assets be
measured at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost
to sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in 
discontinued operations. SFAS 144 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2001. The adoption of this stan-
dard is not expected to have a material impact on our financial
position or results of operations.

Our investments include our 34% ownership interest in
United Energy Limited (UEL), an electricity distribution com-
pany in Melbourne, Australia. UEL also owns a 66% interest in
Uecomm Ltd., a communications business, a 25% interest in
Pulse Energy Ltd., a retail electricity and gas company, and a
22.5% interest in AlintaGas Limited, a gas utility in Western
Australia. In addition to equity earnings in 2000, we recorded a
$44 million gain on the Uecomm initial public offering. In 2001,
UEL recognized charges totaling $4.9 million related to its
investment in Uecomm and Pulse that we classified in
Impairments and Other Charges. See Note 8.

On March 12, 1999, we acquired a 25.5% interest in Multinet, a
natural gas network in Melbourne, Australia. Multinet also owns
a 25% interest in Pulse. In December 2001, we advanced an addi-
tional $81.9 million in the form of a loan to enable Multinet to
repay certain external debt. In 2001, we recognized charges total-

ing $6.6 million related to our investment in Multinet and Pulse
that we classified in Impairments and Other Charges. See Note 8.
While this operation has incurred operating losses we do not
believe that this investment is impaired.

On October 17, 2000, we and UEL purchased a 45% interest in
AlintaGas for $166 million. Our 22.5% interest is reflected as an
equity investment with the remaining 22.5% reflected as part of
our interest in UEL.

On June 30, 2000, we sold a portion of our New Zealand
investment to a private equity investor (minority shareholder)
that reduced our effective ownership in UnitedNetworks to
approximately 62%. In connection with the transaction we
granted the minority shareholder substantive participating and
protective rights and therefore no longer consolidate these
operations for financial statement purposes. Our New Zealand
investments were reflected on a consolidated basis from
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October 1998 to June 2000. On April 9, 2001, additional shares
of UnitedNetworks Ltd. were sold, reducing our effective inter-
est in UnitedNetworks to 55.5%. A $5.8 million pretax gain was
recognized on this transaction. The minority shareholder has
the ability in June 2003 and under certain circumstances to sell
(or “put”) its interest to us for approximately $33 million. See
Note 17 for further discussion.

We own interests in 14 independent power projects located in
eight states and Jamaica. These investments are aggregated
because individual investments are not significant. In 1999, our
partner in a power project exercised an option to purchase our
interest in the project. We received $83.8 million and recog-
nized a gain of $7.1 million.

We acquired a 35% interest in Oasis Pipe Line Company, a
natural gas pipeline in Texas, in 1996. In December 2000 we
obtained an additional 15% interest in Oasis, bringing our total
ownership interest to 50%. At December 31, 2001, the unamor-
tized excess of our Oasis investment over our interest in the
underlying net assets of Oasis was approximately $73.3 million.

In 2001, 2000 and 1999, we acquired voting convertible pre-
ferred and common stock of Quanta Services, Inc. (Quanta) for
approximately $40 million, $360 million and $319 million,
respectively. Our fully converted beneficial voting interest in
Quanta is approximately 38%. Quanta paid us management advi-
sory fees of $36.2 million and $7.6 million for 2000 and 1999,
respectively. The management fee agreement was terminated in
December 2000. We used Quanta as a construction contractor in
our utility and communications businesses. These services were
contracted under competitive bids at Quanta’s standard rates
for comparable services. The cost of such services was $35.9
million and $18.2 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively. At
December 31, 2001, the unamortized excess of our Quanta
investment over our interest in the underlying net assets of
Quanta was approximately $328.0 million. Our cost basis in our
Quanta investment is approximately $26.45 per share and is
above Quanta’s trading price of $15.43 per share as of

December 31, 2001. We believe this is temporary and are confi-
dent in the long-term potential of our investment in Quanta. 

We evaluate the carrying value of our equity method invest-
ments periodically or when there are specific indications of
potential impairment, such as continuing operating losses or a
substantial decline in market price if publicly traded. In assess-
ing these investments, we consider the following factors, among
others, relating to the investment: financial performance and
near-term prospects of the company, condition and prospects of
the industry and our investment intent.

Following is the summarized combined financial information
of the unconsolidated material equity investments listed above:

December 31,
In millions 2001 2000
Assets:

Current assets $1,097.6 $1,087.8
Non-current assets 6,084.4 6,713.9

Total Assets $7,182.0 $7,801.7

Liabilities and Equity:
Current liabilities $ 609.6 $ 684.1
Non-current liabilities 4,120.9 3,810.6
Equity 2,451.5 3,307.0

Total Liabilities and Equity $7,182.0 $7,801.7

Year Ended December 31,
In millions 2001 2000 1999(a)

Operating Results:
Sales $3,394.0 $3,069.3 $1,986.0
Costs and expenses 3,122.0 2,751.4 1,801.1

Net Income $ 272.0 $ 317.9 $ 184.9

(a) Excludes UnitedNetworks since this subsidiary is reflected in the 
consolidated statements.

NOTE 5: Accounts and Merchant Notes Receivable

Our accounts receivable on the consolidated balance sheets are
comprised as follows:

December 31,
In millions 2001 2000
Accounts receivable $3,201.8 $4,777.2
Allowance for bad debt (65.9) (53.1)
Unbilled revenue 88.4 166.3
Accounts receivable sale programs (297.5) (405.0)
Total $2,926.8 $4,485.4

We have two agreements allowing us to periodically transfer
undivided ownership interests in a revolving pool of our trade
receivables to multi-seller conduits administered by independ-
ent financial institutions. One agreement, which was terminated
in January 2002, was for up to $275 million of our Merchant
Services receivables. The second, totaling up to $130 million,
relates to accounts receivable generated from sales of gas and
power by our domestic regulated utilities. 

Under the terms of the agreements, the company may trans-
fer trade receivables to bankruptcy-remote special purpose
entities (“SPE’s”). The percentage ownership interest in receiv-
ables purchased by the SPE’s may increase or decrease over
time, depending on the characteristics of the trade receivables,

including delinquency rates and debtor concentrations. We
service the receivables transferred to the SPE’s and receive a
servicing fee, which we have determined approximates market
compensation for these services. We have minimal servicing
assets and liabilities relative to the receivables sold under
these facilities. Collections on these receivables are reinvested
on behalf of the conduits in newly created receivables. We had
gross sales of accounts receivable of $4.1 billion, $4.5 billion
and $3.5 billion during 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. The
selling price of the receivables is tied to short-term commercial
paper rates. Our consolidated statements of income include the
loss on the sale of receivables of $15.6 million, $26.6 million
and $14.2 million in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. As a
result of the termination of the $275 million agreement, we will
not be permitted to reinvest the collections of the $220 million
of receivables sold under the agreement.

We provide capital primarily to client energy-related businesses
seeking financing to fund energy projects. We have classified
these transactions as merchant notes receivable in our consoli-
dated balance sheets. Merchant notes receivable consist of notes
with terms ranging from two to ten years and interest rates
ranging from 5.75% to 13.5%. At December 31, 2001 and 2000,
the fair value of these instruments approximated their carrying
value of $415.6 million and $313.2 million, respectively.
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The components of property, plant and equipment are below:

December 31,
In millions 2001 2000
Electric utility $3,100.8 $3,008.8
Gas utility 1,237.5 1,198.4
Gas gathering and pipeline systems 680.9 647.6
Communications 105.3 52.1
Other 414.8 350.0
Construction in process 239.6 152.9

5,778.9 5,409.8
Less—depreciation and amortization 2,366.9 2,274.7
Property, plant and equipment, net $3,412.0 $3,135.1

Our property, plant and equipment includes acquisition-
related intangibles that are being amortized over useful lives
not exceeding 40 years. Amounts included in electric and gas
utility plant that are not included in rate base were $99.1 
million and $98.6 million at December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively.

Composite
Depreciation

Rates
Electric utility 2.7%
Gas utility 3.3%
Gas gathering and pipeline systems 3.8%
Communications 10.5%
Other 4.5%

NOTE 7: Property, Plant and Equipment

State, provincial or local authorities regulate certain of our 
utility operations. Our financial statements therefore include
the economic effects of rate regulation in accordance with SFAS
No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation.”
This means our consolidated balance sheets show some assets
and liabilities that would not be found on the balance sheets of
a non-regulated company. 

The following table lists our regulatory assets and liabilities
at December 31, 2001 and 2000. We primarily show these as
deferred charges and credits on the consolidated balance
sheets. In 2000, purchased power costs for UtiliCorp Networks
Canada rose to levels well above that collected in rates. We
deferred these excess costs and filed to increase future rates
charged to customers in order to recover these costs. In
November 2000, the provincial government in Alberta, Canada
suspended pending rate increases to recover such purchased
power costs incurred by our Alberta electric operation. In
December 2001, the Alberta Energy and Utility Board issued its
decision permitting us to recover such costs over 2002 through
2003, including carrying costs. Underrecovered gas costs repre-
sent the cost of gas in excess of that in current rates that will
be collected from customers in future periods as we adjust rates
on an annual basis. Income taxes represent amounts due from
customers for accelerated tax benefits previously flowed
through to customers that we expect to recover in the future as
the accelerated tax benefits reverse. Environmental costs
include certain site clean-up costs that are deferred and col-
lected from customers in the future as authorized by regulatory

authorities. Debt-related costs include the cost to reacquire
debt amortized over the term of the reacquired debt or, if refi-
nanced, the term of the new debt and debt issuance costs amor-
tized over the term of the associated debt. Substantially all of
the regulatory assets below are either currently being collected
in rates or will be collected through rates in a future period.

In millions 2001 2000
Purchased power costs $177.5 $232.8
Underrecovered gas costs 21.5 44.8
Income taxes 82.3 69.0
Environmental 17.2 24.4
Debt-related costs 33.4 25.6
Regulatory accounting orders 7.3 8.1
Demand-side management programs 5.9 6.9
Other 40.7 27.5
Total Regulatory Assets $385.8 $439.1
Regulatory liabilities 77.0 34.6
Net Regulatory Assets $308.8 $404.5

If all or a separable portion of our operations were deregulated
and no longer subject to the provisions of SFAS 71, we would
have to write off related regulatory assets and liabilities, unless
some form of transition cost recovery (refund) continues through
rates established and collected for the remaining regulated oper-
ations. We would also be required to determine any impairment
to carrying costs of deregulated plant and inventory assets.

NOTE 6: Regulatory Assets

NOTE 8: Impairments and Other Charges

Year Ended December 31,
In millions 2001 2000 1999
Enron exposures $66.8 $ — $ —
Communications construction 

and lease terminations 16.5 4.0 —
Australian asset write-offs 11.5 — —
Pipeline and retail assets — 10.8 —
Information technology assets — 10.0 —
Corporate identity intangibles — 2.4 —
Total $94.8 $27.2 $ —

In connection with the bankruptcy filing of Enron Corpora-
tion in December 2001, we evaluated our overall exposure with

Enron and wrote off $31.8 million related to an unsecured note
receivable in our Domestic Networks group and $35.0 million
related to trading activity in Merchant Services. While these
write-offs represent our best estimate of our exposure based on
our contracts with Enron, the ultimate outcome is subject to
review by the bankruptcy courts.

During 2001, we decided to limit our fiber-optic communica-
tions business to the Kansas City market. As a result, we wrote
off $16.5 million related to network design, long-term leases
and other development costs related to markets outside of
Kansas City that we currently do not intend to develop. In 2000,
we recorded $4.0 million of charges related to the construction
of our communications networks.
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Short-term debt includes the following components:

December 31,
Dollars in millions 2001 2000
Bank borrowings and other $347.0 $388.0
Commercial paper 201.6 113.0
Total $548.6 $501.0

Weighted average interest 
rate at year end 3.10% 7.32%

We have a $150 million commercial paper program, supported
by a portion of our $400 million domestic revolving credit agree-
ment. At December 31, 2001, $135 million of commercial paper
was outstanding under this credit agreement. Our credit agree-
ment contains restrictive covenants and charges annual commit-
ment fees ranging from .15% to .175%. This agreement requires
us to maintain a ratio of total debt to total capitalization of less
than 65%. We intend to replace our domestic revolving credit
agreement with a new facility totaling $650 million.

We have a $30 million credit facility with a U.S. financial insti-
tution that provides overdraft protection and letters of credit

support to our European energy merchant business. We had
$25.9 million committed on this facility at December 31, 2001,
comprised of $19.5 million in overdrafts recorded in accounts
payable and $6.4 million in letters of credit.

We also had a $125 million letter of credit facility with a
group of banks that is used for trading and other activities of
Aquila Merchant with various counterparties. As of December
31, 2001, we had $49.3 million outstanding against this facility.
This facility was not renewed when it expired in December 2001.

We have $310.5 million outstanding under various uncommitted,
unsecured facilities with U.S. and Canadian institutions.

During 2001, we put in place an additional C$150 (US$94.2)
million commercial paper program at our Canadian networks
business. This program is supported by a C$150 million credit
facility which charges annual commitment fees of .135%. At
December 31, 2001, US$66.6 million was outstanding. 

In addition, we have C$80 (US$50.3) million of credit facilities at
our Canadian networks business that have US$36.5 million out-
standing at an average interest rate of 3.46% at December 31, 2001.

As of December 31, 2001, we were in compliance with all debt
covenants.

NOTE 9: Short-Term Debt

Summarized information regarding our company-obligated preferred securities is as follows:
December 31, Liquidation Value

Dollars in millions except per share 2001 2000 Per Share
UtiliCorp Capital L.P. (UC) 8.875% Cumulative Monthly 

Preferred Securities, Series A (4,000,000 shares at December 31, 2000) (a) $ — $100.0 $ 25
UtiliCorp Capital Trust I (UCT I) 9.75% Premium Equity Participating 

Security Units (PEPS Units) (9,999,960 shares) (b) 250.0 250.0 25
UtiliCorp Capital Trust II (UCT II) 3.68% Trust Preferred Securities 

(100,000 shares)(c) 100.0 100.0 1,000
Total company-obligated preferred securities $350.0 $450.0

Fair value of company-obligated preferred securities (d) $351.5 $488.7

(a) These securities were redeemed in June 2001.
(b) Each PEPS Unit had an issue price of $25 and consists of a contract to purchase shares of our common stock on or prior to November 16, 2002 and a

preferred security of UCT I. The sole asset of UCT I consists of 7.35% senior deferrable notes due November 16, 2004 of Aquila. Each purchase contract
yields 2.40% per year, paid quarterly, on the $25 stated amount of the PEPS Unit. Each trust preferred security yields 7.35% per year, paid quarterly on
the $25 stated amount of the PEPS Unit, until November 16, 2002, at which time the yields will be reset at a rate that will be equal to or greater than
7.35%. Aquila has fully and unconditionally guaranteed these securities.

(c) The sole asset of UCT II consists of senior deferrable notes due September 30, 2002 of Aquila. Each trust preferred security yields interest adjusted
quarterly at three-month LIBOR plus 90 basis points per year. The rate payable at December 31, 2001 was 3.68%. This security is included in current
maturities as of December 31, 2001.

(d) The fair value of the company-obligated preferred securities is based on the most recent quoted market price of the PEPS units plus the cost of the
floating rate 3.68% trust preferred securities which approximates fair value.

NOTE 10: Company-Obligated Preferred Securities

In 2001, we recorded $11.5 million of charges in our Inter-
national Networks group relating to certain of our Australian
equity investments. We recorded charges related to the col-
lectibility of interest on shareholder loans to Multinet and the
realizability of Multinet’s deferred tax assets. Multinet also
wrote off its interest receivable on shareholder loans to Pulse
Energy, an equity investment of both United Energy and
Multinet. In addition, through our investment in United Energy,
which owns approximately 66% of Uecomm, writedowns and
provisions were taken during the year related to the realizabil-
ity of loans and interest due from Uecomm.

During 2000, we adjusted the reported value of certain assets
to their net realizable value. We recognized asset impairment
charges of $7.8 million with respect to our assessment of cer-
tain underperforming pipeline assets; and $3.0 million related
to our investments in certain retail assets in the United
Kingdom. We also recognized charges of $10.0 million related to
certain information technology assets that are no longer used in
the business, and $2.4 million related to our decision to discon-
tinue use of certain corporate identity intangibles.
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All of our Michigan network assets are subject to the lien of a
mortgage indenture. We cannot issue mortgage bonds under our
General Mortgage Indenture without providing security for cer-
tain Senior Notes at the same level as any mortgage bond issue.
Currently we have no plans to issue mortgage bonds.

The amounts of long-term debt maturing in each of the next
five years and thereafter are below:
In millions Maturing Amounts
2002 $ 579.1
2003 148.9
2004 449.8
2005 40.2
2006 124.2
Thereafter 984.8
Total $2,327.0

Current maturities include $334.4 million of international
debt. We intend, as in prior years, to refinance these facilities
under comparable terms.

Senior Notes
On February 2, 2001, we issued $250.0 million of 7.95% senior
notes due in February 2011. Net proceeds from the sale were
used to reduce short-term debt incurred for acquisitions and
general corporate purposes.

Debt Refinancing Exchange Offer 
In June 2001, we exchanged $189.5 million of senior notes with
interest rates ranging from 8.0% to 9.0% for $200.0 million of
new senior notes with interest rates at 7.75%, maturing in June
2011. Additionally, during 2001, we retired $204.1 million of
senior notes, mortgage bonds and company-obligated preferred
securities.

New Zealand Denominated Credit Facilities
Our New Zealand networks business maintains a NZ$290.0
(US$121.0) million credit facility with two banks, which matures
in June 2002. The interest rate on this credit facility fluctuates 

NOTE 11: Long-Term Debt

This table summarizes the company’s long-term debt:
December 31,

In millions 2001 2000
First Mortgage Bonds:

Various, 9.62%*, due 2002–2021 $ 29.5 $ 37.6
Senior Notes:

2.89% Floating Rate Series, due May 15, 2002 230.0 250.0
Aquila Southwest Energy 8.29% Series, due September 15, 2002 12.5 25.0
7.0% Series, due July 15, 2004 250.0 250.0
6.875% Series, due October 1, 2004 150.0 150.0
9.03% Series, due December 1, 2005 20.2 20.2
6.70% Series, due October 15, 2006 85.9 100.0
8.2% Series, due January 15, 2007 36.9 130.0
7.625% Series, due November 15, 2009 200.0 200.0
7.95% Series, due February 1, 2011 250.0 —
10.5% Series, due December 1, 2020 — 35.7
8.27% Series, due November 15, 2021 80.9 131.8
9.0% Series, due November 15, 2021 5.0 18.2
8.0% Series, due March 1, 2023 51.5 125.0

Medium Term Notes:
Various, 7.77%*, due 2005–2023 40.0 40.0

Convertible Subordinated Debentures:
6.625%, due July 1, 2011 (convertible into 231,461 common shares) 3.7 4.2

Other:
Canadian Secured Debentures: 8.87%*, due 2002–2023 62.2 66.5
Canadian Senior Notes, 7.75%, due June 2011 200.0 —
Australian Senior Notes, 6.72%*, due October 2002 76.6 83.8
Australian Medium-term Notes, due December 2003–2006 90.3 44.7
New Zealand Floating Rate Notes, 5.67%, due April–October 2002 83.5 88.8
New Zealand Denominated Credit Facility, due June 2002 110.5 110.8
Australian Denominated Credit Facilities, due March 2002 and March 2004 49.7 114.6
Canadian Denominated Credit Facilities, due February 2002 and June 2003 159.7 290.7
Other notes and obligations 48.4 80.0

Total Long-Term Debt 2,327.0 2,397.6
Less current maturities 579.1 51.7
Long-term debt, net $1,747.9 $2,345.9

Fair value of long-term debt, including current maturities (a) $2,416.6 $2,455.2

* Weighted average interest rate.
(a) The fair value of long-term debt is based on current rates at which the company could borrow funds with similar remaining maturities. 
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with changes in the New Zealand bank bill rate and charges a
commitment fee of .40% on any unused portion of the facility. At
December 31, 2001, US$110.5 million was outstanding at a rate
of 5.72%.

Australian Denominated Credit Facilities
Our Australian networks business maintains a credit facility
with a consortium of banks which matures in March 2002. The
interest rate on this facility fluctuates with changes in the
Australian bank bill rate and charges a commitment fee of .50%
on any unused portion of the facility. At December 31, 2001,
US$33.2 million was outstanding at a rate of 5.37%.

Our Australian networks business also maintains a credit facil-
ity with one bank which matures in March 2004. The interest rate
on this facility fluctuates with changes in the Australian bank bill
rate and charges a commitment fee of .40% on any unused por-
tion of the facility that has not been cancelled. At December 31,
2001, US$16.5 million was outstanding at a rate of 5.24%.

Approximately US$167 million of the Australian Senior Notes
and Medium Term Notes contain provisions that give the debt

holders the ability to put the notes back to us if Aquila’s credit
ratings are lowered to non-investment grade. We currently have
investment grade ratings from three major credit rating agencies.

Canadian Denominated Credit Facilities
Our Canadian networks business maintains a credit facility with
five banks, which matures in June 2003. The interest rate on
this facility fluctuates with changes in the Bankers Acceptance
Discount Rate. At December 31, 2001, US$129.4 million was out-
standing at a rate of 3.64%.

Our Canadian networks business also maintains a credit facil-
ity with two banks, which matures in February 2002. The inter-
est rate on this facility fluctuates with changes in the Bankers
Acceptance Discount Rate. At December 31, 2001, US$30.3 mil-
lion was outstanding at a rate of 3.26%.

In June 2001, our Canadian finance subsidiary, UtiliCorp
Canada Finance Corporation, issued $200.0 million of 7.75%
senior notes in the U.S. public debt market. Aquila has fully and
unconditionally guaranteed these notes.

Capital Stock
We have two types of authorized common stock—unclassified
common stock and Class A common stock. No Class A common
stock is issued or outstanding. We also have authorized
10,000,000 shares of preference stock, without par value, none
of which is issued or outstanding. As of December 31, 2001, we
had no restrictions on our ability to pay cash dividends.

In January 2002, we completed an exchange offer and merger
that resulted in the issuance of approximately 12.6 million
shares of our common stock for all outstanding publicly held
shares of Aquila Merchant. The holders of 1.8 million shares of
Aquila Merchant common stock rejected the consideration in
the merger as inadequate and are pursuing their right to
receive fair value in cash.

On January 30, 2002, we sold 12.5 million shares of our common
stock to the public, including an over-allotment of 1.5 million
shares, which raised approximately $278 million in net proceeds.

Stockholder Rights Plan
Our board of directors has adopted a rights plan and declared a
dividend distribution of one right for each outstanding share of
our common stock. The rights become exercisable if a person
acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our outstand-
ing common stock. If the rights are exercised, the value of the
shares of our common stock held by the acquiring person would
be substantially diluted. The purpose of the rights plan is to
encourage a person desiring to acquire 15% or more of our out-
standing common stock to negotiate the terms of their acquisi-
tion with our board of directors.

Dividend Reinvestment and 
Stock Purchase Plan
We offer to current and potential shareholders a Dividend Rein-
vestment and Common Stock Purchase Plan (the Stock Plan).

The Stock Plan allows participants to purchase up to $10,000
per month of common stock at the average market price on the
date of the transaction, with minimal sales commissions. The
Stock Plan also allows members to reinvest dividends into addi-

tional common shares at a 5% discount. For the year ended
December 31, 2001, 843,201 shares were issued under the Stock
Plan. As of December 31, 2001, 2,778,141 shares were available
to issue under this plan.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Participants in our Employee Stock Purchase Plan have the
opportunity to buy shares of common stock at a reduced price
through regular payroll deductions and/or lump sum deposits of
up to 20% of the employee’s base salary. Contributions are cred-
ited to the participant’s account throughout an option period.
At the end of the option period, the participant’s total account
balance is applied to the purchase of common stock. The shares
are purchased at 85% of the lower of the market price on the
first day or the last day of the option period. Participants must
be enrolled in the Plan as of the first day of an option period in
order to participate in that option period.

Retirement Investment Plan
A defined contribution plan, the Retirement Investment Plan
(Savings Plan), covers all of our full-time and eligible part-time
employees. Participants may generally elect to contribute up to
15% of their annual pay on a before- or after-tax basis subject to
certain limitations. The company generally matches contributions
up to 6% of pay. Participants may direct their contributions into
various investment options. All company matching contributions
are invested in Aquila common stock. Company contributions
were $11.2 million and $9.9 million during the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The Savings Plan also
includes a stock contribution fund to which the company con-
tributes common stock equal to 3% of base wages for eligible full-
time employees. Vesting occurs over five years with distribution
upon termination of employment. All dividends are reinvested in
Aquila common stock. Effective in 2002, participants may elect to
receive their vested dividends in cash. For 2001, compensation
expense of $5.0 million was recognized, which approximates 3% of
eligible employees’ base wages. All shares related to this program
are classified as outstanding when calculating earnings per share.

NOTE 12: Capital Stock and Stock Compensation
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Total restricted stock awards granted during the year were
1,108,776 shares at a weighted average grant date fair value of
$29.83.

Stock Based Compensation
We issue stock options to employees from time to time and
account for these options under Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25 (APB 25). All stock options issued are granted
at the common stock’s current market price. This means we
record no compensation expense related to stock options. We

also offer employees a 15% discount from the market price of
common stock.

Since we record options and discounts under APB 25, we
must disclose the pro forma net income and earnings per share
(dilutive method) as if we reflected the estimated fair value of
options and discounts as compensation at the date of grant or
issue. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999,
our pro forma net income and diluted earnings per share would
have been as follows:

This table summarizes all stock options as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999:

Shares 2001 2000 1999
Beginning balance 7,156,600 7,347,961 5,440,403
Granted 825,069 1,153,487 2,640,401
Exercised (1,779,548) (610,345) (214,724)
Cancelled (83,998) (734,503) (518,119)
Ending balance 6,118,123 7,156,600 7,347,961

Weighted average prices:
Beginning balance $21.39 $21.80 $21.15
Granted price 28.75 18.84 23.19
Exercised price 21.42 20.73 19.09
Cancelled price 21.69 21.91 22.51
Ending balance $22.37 $21.39 $21.80

This table summarizes all outstanding and exercisable stock options as of December 31, 2001:

Outstanding Options Exercisable Options
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining Average Average
Exercise Contractual Exercise Exercise
Price Range Number Life in Years Price Number Price
$16.31–23.99 4,802,959 6.00 $21.10 2,039,729 $20.29
$24.00–29.79 1,315,164 6.82 27.01 474,267 24.15
Total 6,118,123 2,513,996

Long-Term Incentive Plan
Our Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) enables the company to
reward key executives who have an ongoing companywide
impact. Eligible executives are awarded performance units
based on experience and responsibilities in the company.
Incentives earned are based on a comparison of our total share-
holder return to a specific group of companies with operations
similar to ours. Incentives are paid in cash, restricted stock or
restricted stock units based on the executives’ total sharehold-
ings of the company common stock and their elections. Total
compensation expense for the three years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, was $19.6 million, $8.5 mil-
lion and $10.5 million.

Stock Incentive Plan
Our Stock Incentive Plan enables the company to grant common
shares to certain employees as restricted stock awards and as
stock options. The company holds shares issued as restricted
stock awards until certain restrictions lapse, generally on the

third award anniversary. Stock options granted under the Plan
allow the purchase of common shares at a price not less than
fair market value at the date of grant. Options are generally
exercisable commencing with the first anniversary of the grant.
They expire 10 years after the date of grant.

Employee Stock Option Plan
The Board approved the establishment of an Employee Stock
Option Plan in 1991 and readopted the plan in 2001. This Plan
provides for the granting of up to 3.0 million stock options to eli-
gible employees other than those eligible to receive options under
the Stock Incentive Plan. Stock options granted under the
Employee Stock Option Plan carry the same provisions as those
issued under the Stock Incentive Plan. Broad-based option grants
have been made under this plan in only two years. During 1998 and
1992, respectively, options for 1,278,713 and 1,114,350 shares were
granted to employees. The exercise prices of these options are
$24.02 and $18.21, respectively.
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NOTE 13: Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31,
In millions 2001 2000 1999
Currently Payable:

Federal $189.8 $168.5 $58.7
Foreign 20.2 43.4 7.5
State 21.9 17.3 10.0

Deferred:
Federal (23.5) (101.0) (5.9)
State (4.7) (8.9) (1.0)
Investment tax credit 

amortization (1.5) (1.1) (1.1)
Total Income 

Tax Expense $202.2 $118.2 $68.2

The principal components of deferred income taxes consist of
the following:

December 31,
In millions 2001 2000
Deferred Tax Assets:

Alternative minimum tax credit 
carryforward $ — $ 43.0

Deferred Tax Liabilities 
and Credits:
Accelerated depreciation and 

other plant differences:      
Regulated 220.1 209.0
Non-regulated 176.6 170.0

Regulatory asset 29.7 57.8
Mark-to-market (30.2) (15.6)
Other, net (48.4) (16.2)

Total deferred tax liabilities 
and credits 347.8 405.0

Deferred income taxes and 
credits, net $347.8 $362.0

Our effective income tax rates differed from the statutory 
federal income tax rates primarily due to the following:

December 31,
Percent 2001 2000 1999
Statutory Federal Income 

Tax Rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Tax effect of:

Investment tax credit 
amortization (.3) (.3) (.5)

State income taxes, net 
of federal benefit 2.7 1.5 2.7

Difference in tax rate of 
foreign subsidiaries (.8) .4 (2.6)

Minority interest 1.9 — —
Goodwill 1.1 .9 .2
Other 2.4 (1.1) (5.0)

Effective Income 
Tax Rate 42.0% 36.4% 29.8%

At December 31, 2001, all of our alternative minimum tax
credit carryforwards from prior years have been utilized.

We have made no provision for U.S. income taxes on undis-
tributed earnings from our international businesses ($283.3 mil-
lion at December 31, 2001) because it is our intention to rein-
vest those earnings. If we distribute those earnings in the form
of dividends, we may be subject to both foreign withholding
taxes and U.S. income taxes net of allowable foreign tax credits.
Consolidated income before income taxes for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000, and 1999 included (in millions) $78.0,
$129.3 and $70.7, respectively, from international operations.

The fair value of stock options granted in 2001, 2000 and 1999 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. The weighted average fair values and related assumptions were as follows:

2001 2000 1999
Weighted average fair value per share $5.08 $2.39 $3.23
Expected volatility 19.75% 17.78% 17.25%
Risk-free interest rate 5.06% 6.71% 5.45%
Expected lives 8 years 9 years 10 years
Dividend yield 3.93% 6.25% 5.10%

In millions, except per share 2001 2000 1999
Net Income:

As reported $279.4 $206.8 $160.5
Pro forma 277.0 205.3 155.5

Diluted earnings per share:
As reported $2.42 $2.21 $1.75
Pro forma 2.40 2.19 1.70
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NOTE 14: Employee Benefits

Pensions
The following table shows the funded status of our pension plans and the amounts included in the consolidated balance sheets and
statements of income:

Other 
Post-retirement 

Pension Benefits Benefits
Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation at start of year $269.3 $218.6 $221.4 $ 69.6 $ 51.4 $ 42.2
Service cost 9.7 8.3 7.7 1.1 .9 1.0
Interest cost 20.3 16.3 14.8 6.5 3.7 3.2
Plan participants’ contribution .9 .9 .7 1.4 1.0 .9
Amendments 19.3 .3 .3 (9.8) — —
Net acquisitions — 42.5 — — 17.1 —
Actuarial (gain) loss 19.3 (2.1) (16.0) 23.9 1.0 7.5
Curtailment (gain) loss (1.4) (.5) — .7 (.3) —
Benefits paid (17.6) (13.4) (12.5) (6.9) (5.1) (3.6)
Foreign currency exchange changes (3.0) (1.6) 2.2 (.2) (.1) .2
Benefit obligation at end of year $316.8 $269.3 $218.6 $ 86.3 $ 69.6 $ 51.4

Change in Plan Assets:
Fair value of plan assets at start of year $387.6 $259.6 $227.0 $ 13.4 $ 7.6 $ 4.5
Actual return on plan assets (49.9) 51.4 40.6 .1 .4 .3
Employer contribution 1.7 2.1 1.9 4.1 3.6 5.5
Plan participants’ obligation 1.0 .9 .7 1.4 1.0 .9
Net acquisitions — 88.4 — — 5.9 —
Benefits paid (17.6) (13.4) (12.5) (6.9) (5.1) (3.6)
Foreign currency exchange changes (3.4) (1.4) 1.9 — — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $319.4 $387.6 $259.6 $ 12.1 $ 13.4 $ 7.6

Funded status $ 2.6 $118.3 $ 41.0 $(74.2) $(56.2) $(43.8)
Unrecognized transition amount (5.1) (7.0) (7.7) 21.6 28.2 26.3
Unrecognized net actuarial (gain) loss 67.5 (45.6) (13.6) 28.9 10.1 3.8
Unrecognized prior service cost 28.3 12.7 10.0 4.2 1.4 .3
Additional minimum liability (12.2) — — — — —
Employer contribution .7 .7 .9 3.6 2.1 —
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost $ 81.8 $ 79.1 $ 30.6 $(15.9) $(14.4) $(13.4)

Weighted Average Assumptions as of
September 30:

Discount rate 7.42% 7.75% 7.61% 7.50% 7.88% 7.75%
Expected return on plan assets 9.67% 9.47% 9.70% 7.76% 7.87% 7.00%
Rate of compensation increase 5.21% 4.90% 5.04% 5.40% 5.06% 5.40%

For measurement purposes, to calculate the annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health benefits for each
future fiscal year, we used a graded rate starting at 12% in 2002 and decreasing 1% annually until the rate levels out at 5% for years
2008 and thereafter. Other 

Post-retirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost:
Service cost $ 9.7 $ 8.3 $ 7.7 $ 1.1 $ .9 $1.0
Interest cost 20.3 16.3 14.8 6.5 3.7 3.2
Expected return on plan assets (36.8) (27.7) (23.4) (1.0) (.5) (.4)
Amortization of transition amount (1.9) (1.2) (1.2) 2.2 1.9 2.0
Amortization of prior service cost .8 .6 .5 1.3 .1 .1
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss (1.0) (1.9) — .3 — —
Curtailment (gain) loss (.8) (1.0) — 1.5 (.3) —
Regulatory adjustment (4.1) (1.3) .1 — — —
Net Periodic Benefit Cost $(13.8) $ (7.9) $ (1.5) $11.9 $5.8 $5.9
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The U.S. pension plan was amended effective December 1,
1999 to provide the same pension benefits for almost all partici-
pants. The Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan was
amended in 2001 to include certain participants’ annual incen-
tive compensation in the calculation of plan benefits. This
amendment resulted in an $18.3 million increase in plan bene-
fit obligation at December 31, 2001.

We maintain defined benefit pension plans in the United States
and Canada. The actuarial assumptions used to calculate the
benefit obligation and periodic pension costs for those plans are
fundamentally identical. For the United States plan, plan obli-
gations exceeded plan assets by $.6 million at December 31,
2001. Plan assets exceed benefit obligations in the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 1999 by (in millions) $108.3 and $47.1,
respectively. For the Canadian plan, plan assets exceeded bene-
fit obligations by $3.2 million and $10.0 million (in U.S. dollars)
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. For 1999 the
benefit obligation exceeds plan assets by $6.1 million (in U.S.
dollars). The prepaid benefits relating to the United States and
Canada for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
are (in millions) $66.7 and $15.1, $63.6 and $15.5, and $27.3 and
$3.2, respectively.

Our health care plans are contributory, with participants’
contributions adjusted annually. The life insurance plans are
non-contributory. In estimating future health care costs, we
have assumed future cost-sharing changes. The expense recog-
nition for health care costs does not necessarily match the cost
estimates due to certain differences in regulatory accounting at
domestic utility operations.

The assumed health care cost trends significantly affect the
amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-percentage-
point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would
have the following effects for 2001.

1 Percentage-Point
In millions Increase Decrease
Effect on total of 

service and interest
cost components $ .8 $ (.7)

Effect on post-retirement 
benefit obligation 7.3 (6.5)

Acquisition of United Kingdom Electricity
Network
We have entered into an agreement to purchase Midlands
Electricity plc, a United Kingdom electricity network, from
FirstEnergy Corp. The price of this investment is approximately
$362 million, plus the assumption of approximately $1.7 billion
of debt that would be non-recourse to us. If consummated, we
expect to account for this acquisition using the equity method
of accounting. Under terms of our agreement, if the transaction
is not completed by April 26, 2002, either party may terminate
the transaction. Although we have received the necessary regu-
latory approvals, those approvals require that we have a finan-
cial partner. We are in discussions with FirstEnergy to modify
our agreement to allow us to complete the transaction in a
manner consistent with the regulatory approvals and expect
that it will close in March 2002. 

Quanta Ownership
We are presently arbitrating a dispute with Quanta regarding our
right to acquire additional shares of Quanta. We have informed
Quanta’s board of directors that we intend to present an opposi-
tion slate of directors at Quanta’s 2002 annual meeting of share-
holders. As of December 31, 2001, Quanta reported total assets
of $2.0 billion, including $1.0 billion of goodwill, total liabilities
of $842.5 million, including debt of $508.3 million, and equity of
$1.2 billion. Quanta’s revenues and net income for 2001 were
$2.0 billion and $85.8 million, respectively.

Sale of Pipeline Operations
On February 1, 2001, we entered into an agreement to sell 
our wholly owned subsidiary UtiliCorp Pipeline Systems for our
book value of approximately $66 million. We closed the transac-
tion in January 2002.

Purchase of Gas Storage Interest
On August 23, 2001, Aquila Merchant and a partner agreed to
acquire a 12 Bcf gas storage facility under construction near

Lodi, California for $105 million. Further expenditures to com-
plete construction will increase the total project cost to $220
million. We expect this acquisition to close in the second quar-
ter of 2002 after regulatory approval.

UnitedNetworks Ltd. Stock Sale
On April 9, 2001, shares of UnitedNetworks Ltd. were sold to
institutional investors in New Zealand and the United States.
This sale reduced Aquila’s effective interest in UnitedNetworks
to 55.5%. Net proceeds from the sale totaled $41 million, which
resulted in a $5.8 million pretax gain in the second quarter. 

Aquila Merchant Equity Offering 
An initial public offering of 19,975,000 Class A Aquila Merchant
common shares, including an over-allotment of 2,475,000
shares, closed on April 27, 2001. The offering price was $24.00
per share and raised approximately $446 million in net pro-
ceeds. Of the 19,975,000 shares, Aquila Merchant sold
14,225,000 new shares and Aquila sold 5,750,000 previously
issued shares. A pretax gain of $110.8 million, or $.51 per share,
was recognized in the second quarter on the shares sold by
Aquila. Upon completion of the offering, Aquila owned approxi-
mately 80% of Aquila Merchant’s outstanding shares. 

On January 7, 2002, we completed an offer to acquire all of 
the outstanding publicly held shares of Aquila Merchant in
exchange for shares of Aquila common stock and subsequent
merger of Aquila Merchant with another Aquila subsidiary. The
public shareholders of Aquila Merchant received .6896 shares 
of Aquila common stock in a tax-free exchange for each out-
standing share of Aquila Merchant Class A common stock.
Approximately 76% of the outstanding public shares of Aquila
Merchant Class A shares were tendered in the offer. In the 
subsequent merger, each remaining share of Aquila Merchant’s
Class A stock was converted into shares of Aquila common
stock at the same ratio as paid in the exchange offer. Aquila
Merchant shareholders holding approximately 1.8 million
shares of Aquila Merchant Class A shares have advised us 

NOTE 15: Mergers, Acquisitions and Divestitures
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they intend to exercise dissenters’ rights with respect to the
merger.

St. Joseph Light & Power Company
Effective December 31, 2000, St. Joseph Light & Power Com-
pany (SJL&P) merged with us. Under the agreement, SJL&P
shareholders received $23.00 in Aquila common shares for each
SJL&P common share held. We issued approximately 6.6 million
shares of Aquila common stock with a total value of $190.2 mil-
lion in connection with this merger. We also assumed short-term
debt of $23.6 million and long-term debt of $68.1 million. We
accounted for the transaction as a purchase. 

GPU International
On December 22, 2000, Aquila Merchant purchased GPU Inter-
national, a company holding interests in six independent U.S.-
based generating plants, for $225 million. We accounted for the
transaction as a purchase.

AlintaGas
On October 17, 2000, we closed on our $166 million joint acqui-
sition with United Energy Limited of a 45% cornerstone interest
in AlintaGas Limited, a gas distribution utility in Western
Australia. The remaining 55% of the shares of AlintaGas were
sold to the Australian public in a share float on October 17,
2000. Aquila owns approximately 34% of United Energy.

Initial Public Offering—Uecomm Limited
In September 2000, Uecomm Limited (UEC), formerly a wholly
owned subsidiary of United Energy Limited, sold 34% of its com-
mon stock to the public, reducing United Energy’s ownership
share of UEC to 66%. As a result, we recorded a $44 million gain
from the public offering in “Gain on sale of subsidiary stock.”

TransAlta Assets
On August 31, 2000, we completed our acquisition of TransAlta
Corporation’s Alberta-based electricity distribution and retail
assets for approximately $480 million. We operate this business
as UtiliCorp Networks Canada (Alberta) Ltd. On November 28,
2000, we sold the retail assets to Epcor, an Edmonton-based
utility, for approximately $75 million.

Pulse Energy
On June 30, 2000, United Energy and Energy Partnership (Ikon
Energy Pty Ltd) closed a transaction that resulted in the forma-
tion of Pulse Energy, a joint venture with Shell Australia Ltd
and Woodside Energy Ltd. United Energy contributed its elec-
tric retail customers in exchange for $210 million and Ikon con-
tributed its gas retail customers in exchange for $281 million.
United Energy and Ikon each loaned Pulse $70 million, and hold
a combined 50% ownership of Pulse.

Sale of West Virginia Power Division
On September 9, 1999, we agreed to sell our West Virginia
Power division to Allegheny Energy, Inc. for $75 million. The
sale closed on December 31, 1999 and resulted in a 1999 fourth
quarter gain of $4.5 million. In addition to the sale of West
Virginia Power’s electric and natural gas distribution assets, we
entered into a separate agreement for Allegheny to purchase
Appalachian Electric Heating, our heating and air conditioning
service business in West Virginia. 

Aquila Gas Pipeline Tender Offer
On May 7, 1999, approximately 3.4 million shares of Aquila Gas
Pipeline Corporation (AQP) were tendered to us at $8.00. The 3.4
million shares together with the 24.0 million shares already held
represented 93% of AQP’s total shares outstanding. All remaining
shares not tendered were converted in a “short-form” merger into
a right to receive $8.00 per share. Upon completion of the short-
form merger on May 14, 1999, AQP ceased being a publicly traded
company and became wholly owned by Aquila Merchant.

Multinet/Ikon
In March 1999, we acquired a 25.5% equity interest in two
Melbourne-area gas businesses, the Multinet gas distribution util-
ity and the Ikon Energy gas retail sales business, for $224 million.
These investments are accounted for under the equity method.

Natural Gas Storage Facility
On March 29, 1999, we agreed to purchase Western Gas
Resources Storage Inc. The $100 million cash transaction
increased our ownership and control of strategically located
natural gas storage assets. The 2,400-acre subsurface facility in
Katy, Texas has a storage capacity of 20 billion cubic feet. The
purchase closed on May 3, 1999.

Interest in New Zealand Utilities
On March 22, 2000, we expanded our presence in the New Zea-
land energy market by announcing an agreement to purchase
the natural gas distribution network and North Island contract-
ing business of Orion New Zealand Limited for about $274 mil-
lion. The transaction had an effective date of April 1, 2000.

On June 30, 2000, we sold a portion of our New Zealand
investment to a private equity investor (minority shareholder)
that reduced our effective ownership in UnitedNetworks. In
connection with the transaction we granted the minority share-
holder substantive participating and protective rights and
therefore no longer consolidate our New Zealand operations for
financial statement purposes.

Pro Forma Operating Results
The following reflects our results for the two years ended
December 31, 2000, assuming significant acquisitions during
the year ended December 31, 2000 occurred as of the beginning
of each of the respective periods:

(Unaudited)
Year Ended December 31,

Dollars in millions, except per share 2000 1999
Sales $29,418.2 $19,206.0
Net income 243.1 185.9
Diluted earnings per 

common share $2.42 $1.88

The pro forma results of operations are not necessarily indica-
tive of the actual results that would have been obtained had we
made the acquisitions at the beginning of the respective peri-
ods, or of results which may occur in the future. The 2000 pro
forma operating results include certain unusually large mark-to-
market gains. The pro forma operating results do not include
adjustments for synergies or other adjustments to the business
operations. There were no significant acquisitions in 2001.
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A. Business Lines
Year Ended December 31,

Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999
Sales:
Merchant Services—

Wholesale Services $36,607.1 90.7% $25,662.5 $16,345.2
Capacity Services 1,162.9 2.9 815.6 384.8

Total Merchant Services 37,770.0 93.6 26,478.1 16,730.0
Global Networks Group—

International Networks 353.9 .9 492.4 309.2
Domestic Networks 2,292.4 5.6 2,058.1 1,578.8

Total Global Networks Group 2,646.3 6.5 2,550.5 1,888.0
Corporate and other, including eliminations (39.5) (.1) (53.7) 3.5
Total $ 40,376.8 100.0% $28,974.9 $18,621.5

Year Ended December 31,

Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999
Earnings Before Interest and Taxes:*
Merchant Services—

Wholesale Services $261.5 37.1% $145.3 $ 40.7
Capacity Services 113.7 16.1 45.8 39.0
Minority Interest (26.4) (3.7) — —
Gain on sale of Aquila Merchant shares by Aquila 110.8 15.7 — —

Total Merchant Services 459.6 65.2 191.1 79.7
Global Networks Group—

International Networks 121.5 17.3 158.0 129.9
Domestic Networks 117.9 16.7 215.6 208.3

Total Global Networks Group 239.4 34.0 373.6 338.2
Corporate and other 5.7 .8 (24.7) (3.9)
Total $704.7 100.0% $540.0 $414.0

* Included in EBIT for each segment for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, is Equity in Earnings of Investments as follows (in
millions): Wholesale Services, $.2 in 2001; Capacity Services, $32.4, $18.4 and $34.7; International Networks, $61.5, $44.3 and $21.7; and Domestic
Networks, $28.5, $52.9 and $13.2.

Year Ended December 31,

Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999
Depreciation and Amortization Expense:
Merchant Services—

Wholesale Services $ 16.2 5.9% $ 16.5 $ 9.6
Capacity Services 39.3 14.4 32.3 29.5

Total Merchant Services 55.5 20.3 48.8 39.1
Global Networks Group—

International Networks 55.8 20.5 45.5 42.2
Domestic Networks 162.1 59.4 129.3 115.3

Total Global Networks Group 217.9 79.9 174.8 157.5
Corporate and other (.5) (.2) 1.4 (2.9)
Total $272.9 100.0% $225.0 $193.7

NOTE 16: Segment Information

We manage our business in two distinct groups, Merchant
Services and Global Networks Group. Merchant Services is 
further divided and managed in two segments, the Wholesale
Services segment and the Capacity Services segment. Our Global
Networks Group is divided and managed in the International

Networks segment and Domestic Networks segment. Each seg-
ment is managed based on operating results, expressed as earn-
ings before interest and taxes. Generally, decisions on finance,
dividends and taxes are made at the Corporate and other level.
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December 31,
Dollars in millions 2001 2000
Identifiable Assets:
Merchant Services—

Wholesale Services $ 4,653.5 38.9% $ 6,505.0
Capacity Services 1,595.1 13.4 1,382.1

Total Merchant Services 6,248.6 52.3 7,887.1
Global Networks Group—

International Networks 1,864.9 15.6 2,174.0
Domestic Networks 3,512.5 29.4 3,584.7

Total Global Networks Group 5,377.4 45.0 5,758.7
Corporate and other 322.3 2.7 381.1
Total $11,948.3 100.0% $14,026.9

Year Ended December 31,
Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999
Capital Expenditures:
Merchant Services—

Wholesale Services $ 36.1 5.8% $ 32.2 $ 4.7
Capacity Services 237.5 37.9 23.9 104.2

Total Merchant Services 273.6 43.7 56.1 108.9
Global Networks Group—

International Networks 95.7 15.3 24.2 23.0
Domestic Networks 223.3 35.6 249.9 130.2

Total Global Networks Group 319.0 50.9 274.1 153.2
Corporate and other 33.5 5.4 24.8 39.0
Total $626.1 100.0% $355.0 $301.1

B. Geographical Information
Year Ended December 31,

Dollars in millions 2001 2000 1999
Sales:
United States $32,935.7 81.6% $22,671.5 $15,348.5
Canada 3,806.5 9.4 4,358.0 2,381.8
Other international 3,634.6 9.0 1,945.4 891.2
Total $40,376.8 100.0% $28,974.9 $18,621.5

December 31,
Dollars in millions 2001 2000
Long-Lived Assets:*
United States $4,116.3 74.1% $3,819.9
Canada 482.3 8.7 438.4
Other international 958.4 17.2 895.2
Total $5,557.0 100.0% $5,135.5

* Includes Property, Plant and Equipment, net and Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries and Partnerships.
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Commitments
We have various commitments relating to power, gas and coal supply commitments and lease commitments as summarized below. As
with any estimates, the actual amounts paid or received could differ materially.

Dollars in millions 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Thereafter

Future minimum lease payments $ 31.2 $ 31.7 $ 31.7 $ 27.7 $ 21.6 $ 164.9
Purchased power obligations 191.8 240.4 245.0 199.4 187.2 1,456.3
Purchased gas obligations 104.8 6.7 — — — —
Coal contracts 82.9 54.8 53.7 41.7 33.8 406.0

NOTE 17: Commitments and Contingencies

Future minimum lease payments primarily relate to coal cars
and office space. Rent expense for the years 2001, 2000, and 1999
was (in millions) $35.6, $23.9, and $26.9, respectively.

In 1998 we entered into a 15-year agreement to obtain the
rights to dispatch 279 megawatts of purchased power from a
facility owned by a third party. As part of the agreement we will
provide the natural gas to the power plant and will be able to dis-
patch the power. This facility became operational in July 2000.

In October 2000, we announced two agreements, a 15-year
agreement and a 20-year agreement, for the power output of
two natural gas-fired peaking facilities. The agreements are
expected to provide us with approximately 1,184 megawatts of
additional capacity. One of these plants became operational in
the summer of 2001 and the other is expected to be operational
in the summer of 2002. 

In January 2000, we formed a joint venture with Calpine
Corporation (Calpine) to develop a 580-megawatt, combined-
cycle power plant in Missouri. In September 2000, the joint ven-
ture closed on the financing of this project. Prior to completion
of construction, the project costs are funded through a project
level construction loan facility. After completion of construction,
the joint venture will sell the facility to a group of investors and
enter into a 30-year lease of the facility. This is expected to occur
in the first half of 2002. This lease is classified as an operating
lease in the partnership financial statements. As such, we have
included the annual purchased power above. We manage the
plant’s fuel supply and the marketing of the plant’s power. Calpine
oversees construction, operation and maintenance of the plant.

In November 2000, we entered into a $145.0 million synthetic
lease through a special purpose entity to finance a 340-megawatt
power plant, currently under construction. We expect this plant
to be completed by May 2002. The lease has a term of seven
years. During construction, we guarantee up to 89.95% of con-
struction costs, and under certain limited circumstances, we
guarantee up to 100% of the construction cost. As of December
31, 2001, approximately $78.9 million had been funded under
this lease agreement. We have guaranteed up to 82% of the
power plant’s value at the end of the lease under the agreement. 

In May 2001, we entered into a five-year operating lease
through a special purpose entity for 10 GE turbines plus related
equipment. Lease payments are not required during the con-
struction period and will commence at date of operation, or, if 
a site has not been selected, once construction of the turbines
is completed. We can lease up to $265 million in turbines and
equipment under this agreement. During construction, we guar-
antee up to 89.99% of construction costs, and under certain 
limited circumstances, we guarantee up to 100% of the con-
struction cost. As of December 31, 2001, approximately $99 mil-
lion had been spent under the above agreement. Under the
terms of the turbine and equipment lease, we must cash collat-
eralize cumulative borrowings of the lessor above $42.4 million.
As of December 31, 2001, our outstanding collateral balance
was approximately $56.2 million, which is included in Deferred

Charges and Other Assets in the consolidated balance sheets.
Upon expiration of the lease, we may either extend the lease if
accepted, refinance the agreement or sell the equipment on
behalf of the lessor. We have guaranteed up to 84% of the
lessor’s unrecovered principal and costs should the sale pro-
ceeds not be sufficient. 

Purchase of United Kingdom Electricity
Network
As further discussed in Note 15, we have entered into an acquisi-
tion agreement that is expected to close in the first quarter of
2002. Under the terms of the agreement, we are committed to pur-
chase an equity investment in certain United Kingdom electricity
networks estimated to be valued at approximately $362 million.

Purchase of Gas Storage Interest
In August 2001, Aquila Merchant and a partner agreed to pur-
chase a 12 Bcf gas storage facility under development in Lodi,
California for $105 million. Further capital expenditures are
expected to bring the total project cost to $220 million. We
expect this acquisition to close in the second quarter of 2002
after regulatory approval. As of December 31, 2001, we have
invested approximately $18.8 million. In order to complete con-
struction of the project, interim bank financing of up to $60 mil-
lion was put in place and guaranteed by Aquila. As of December
31, 2001, $37.5 million was outstanding under this facility. Once
the acquisition closes, the interim financing will be replaced with
$170 million of non-recourse project level debt, in addition to a
net investment of $50 million by Aquila Merchant and its partner.

New Zealand Interest
In connection with the sale of a 21% preferred and common stock
interest in our New Zealand electricity distribution business to a
financial partner in June 2000, the financial partner received an
option that entitles it to sell their equity interest to us on the
third anniversary of the initial sale, or on the occurrence of cer-
tain events. This purchase would be exercised at par value for the
preferred stock and fair value for the common stock for a total
value of approximately $33 million. If the option were exercised,
we would be required to include the financial statements of this
operation in our consolidated financial statements. This opera-
tion had total assets of approximately $1.0 billion and long-term
debt of $520.6 million as of December 31, 2001. We expect to
extend or remove this option before it matures and do not expect
to reconsolidate our New Zealand interests.

Legal
A consolidated lawsuit was filed in connection with the Aquila
recombination. The plaintiffs’ initial claims for equitable relief
have been denied by the courts. We do not believe the pending
litigation will have an outcome materially adverse to us.

We have a dispute with an insurance company regarding cer-
tain indemnity agreements we have with them. These agree-
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NOTE 18: Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

2001 Quarters 2000 Quarters
In millions, except per share First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth
Sales $11,980.0 $10,441.4 $9,315.5 $8,639.9 $4,609.1 $5,761.0 $7,998.9 $10,605.9
Gross profit 506.2 559.4 343.8 378.6 317.9 323.2 267.8 519.8
Net income 73.5 143.2 68.9 (6.2) 54.4 29.3 74.9 48.2
Earnings per common share:*

Basic $.71 $1.26 $.60 $(.05) $.59 $.32 $.80 $.51
Diluted .69 1.21 .58 (.05) .59 .31 .80 .50

Cash dividend per common share $.30 $ .30 $.30 $ .30 $.30 $.30 $.30 $.30
Market price per common share:

High $32.40 $37.85 $33.00 $31.80 $20.06 $21.88 $28.50 $31.31
Low 24.81 29.35 26.60 21.85 15.19 17.31 19.88 23.94

* The sum of the quarterly earnings per share amounts may differ from that reflected in Note 1 due to the weighting of common shares outstanding during
each of the respective periods.

ments relate to surety bonds issued to support our obligations
under certain long-term gas supply contracts. The maximum
amount that the insurance company could be required to pay
under the surety bonds is approximately $570 million. Notwith-
standing our continued performance under the gas supply agree-
ments and strong financial position, this company has demanded
that we replace it as the surety, or alternatively, that we post
collateral to secure all of their obligations under the agreements.
We believe there is no merit to the insurance company’s position
given our full compliance with the related gas supply contracts,
and that a court would agree with our interpretation of the
indemnity agreements.

The company is subject to various other legal proceedings and
claims that arise in the ordinary course of business operations. We
do not expect the amount of liability, if any, from these actions to
materially affect our consolidated financial position or results of
operations.

Environmental
We are subject to various environmental laws. These include
regulations governing air and water quality and the storage and
disposal of hazardous or toxic wastes. We continually assess ways
to ensure we comply with laws and regulations on hazardous
materials and hazardous waste and remediation activities.

We own or previously operated former manufactured gas plant
(MGP) sites which may, or may not, require some form of envi-
ronmental remediation. We have contacted appropriate federal
and state agencies and are working to determine what, if any,
specific cleanup activities these sites may require.

As of December 31, 2001, we estimate probable cleanup costs
on our identified MGP sites to be $9.0 million. This amount is
our best estimate of the costs of investigation and remediation
of our identified MGP sites, and is the amount we consider to
be probable for future investigation and remediation of these
sites. This estimate is based upon a comprehensive review of the
potential costs associated with conducting investigative and
remedial actions at our identified MGP sites, as well as the like-
lihood of whether such actions will be necessary. There are also
additional costs that we consider to be less likely but still “rea-
sonably possible” to be incurred at these sites. Based upon the
results of studies at these sites and our knowledge and review
of potential remedial action options, it is reasonably possible
that these additional costs could exceed our best estimate by

approximately $31.1 million. This estimate could change materi-
ally once we have investigated further. It could also be affected
by the actions of environmental agencies and the financial via-
bility of other responsible parties. Ultimate liability also may be
affected significantly if we are held responsible for parties
unable to contribute financially to the cleanup effort.

We have received favorable rate orders that enable us to
recover environmental cleanup costs in certain jurisdictions. In
other jurisdictions, there are favorable regulatory precedents for
recovery of these costs. We are also pursuing recovery from insur-
ance carriers and other potentially responsible parties.

In May 2000, the state of Missouri adopted a revised regula-
tion that requires reduction of nitrous oxide (NOx) from our
power plants. We estimate the cost of compliance to be $21.9
million in capital costs and $2.2 million in annual operation and
maintenance expense. The new standard is effective in May 2003.

In December 2000, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) announced that it would regulate mercury emissions
from coal- and oil-fired power plants. The EPA is expected to
propose regulations by December 2003 and issue final regula-
tions by December 2004. The impact of this action on our power
plants cannot be determined until final regulations are issued.

We do not expect final resolution of these environmental mat-
ters to have a material adverse affect on our financial position
or results of operations.

Rate Proceedings
We filed a $9.8 million Minnesota gas rate case in August 2000.
The case is pending before the Minnesota Utilities Commission
with an interim rate increase of approximately $5.2 million in
effect at this time. We filed a $14.2 million Kansas electric rate
case in December 2000. A final order for an increase of $3.9 mil-
lion became effective in August 2001. In June 2001, we filed for
a $49.4 million increase in our Missouri electric rates. Approxi-
mately $39 million of the requested increase related to antici-
pated increased fuel and purchased power costs that did not
materialize. In February 2002, we reached a negotiated settle-
ment with the Commission staff and all intervenors that will
result in a $4.3 million rate reduction.

In December 2001, we filed for an annual rate increase in
Alberta of about $30 million along with an application for a per-
formance-based rate-setting mechanism. We expect hearings to
be held in May 2002.

Financial results for interim periods do not necessarily indicate trends for any 12-month period. Quarterly results can be affected by
the timing of acquisitions, the effect of weather on sales, and other factors typical of utility operations and energy related businesses.
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Report of Management

The management of Aquila, Inc. is responsible for the informa-
tion that appears in this annual report, including its accuracy.
We prepared the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addition to select-
ing appropriate accounting principles, we are responsible for
the way information is presented and for its reliability. To
report financial results we must often make estimates based on
currently available information and judgments of current condi-
tions and circumstances.

We have set up well-developed systems of internal control to

ensure the integrity and objectivity of the consolidated financial
information in this report. These systems are designed to pro-
vide reasonable assurance that Aquila’s assets are safeguarded
and that the transactions are properly authorized and recorded
in accordance with the appropriate accounting principles.

Through its Audit Committee, the Board of Directors partici-
pates in the process of reporting financial information. The
Audit Committee selects our independent accountants. It also
reviews, along with management, our financial reporting and
internal accounting controls, policies and practices.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of Aquila, Inc. (formerly UtiliCorp United Inc.) and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the related consolidated
statements of income, common shareholders’ equity, compre-
hensive income, and cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2001. These financial state-
ments are the responsibility of the company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial state-
ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing stan-
dards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments are free of material misstatement. An audit includes

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifi-
cant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated finan-
cial position of Aquila, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2001 and 2000 and the consolidated results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2001 in conformity with accounting prin-
ciples generally accepted in the United States of America.

Robert F. Jackson, Jr. 
Audit Committee Chairman

Dan Streek
Chief Financial Officer

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Aquila, Inc.:

Arthur Andersen LLP
Kansas City, Missouri
February 5, 2002

Report of Independent Public Accountants



A Q U I L A  2 0 0 1 65

Domestic Networks Statistics

10-Year 
Average Annual

Dollars in millions Growth Rate 2001 2000 1999
Electric Operations
Sales:

Residential 6.4% $269.7 35.6% $234.7 $236.4
Commercial 8.1% 186.6 24.6 162.6 162.1
Industrial 10.6% 97.2 12.8 83.4 77.2
Other 18.5% 204.7 27.0 236.9 199.7

Total Sales 9.6% $758.2 100.0% $717.6 $675.4

MWH sales (000’s):
Residential 7.4% 3,847 29.3% 3,137 3,130
Commercial 9.4% 3,209 24.4 2,641 2,654
Industrial 11.8% 2,325 17.7 1,874 1,838
Other 19.1% 3,762 28.6 4,522 4,421

Total MWH Sales 11.0% 13,143 100.0% 12,174 12,043

Customers at year end:
Residential 2.6% 368,682 85.6% 349,165 299,995
Commercial 2.7% 57,939 13.4 54,901 45,404
Industrial 5.8% 469 .1 460 317
Other 4.0% 3,836 .9 3,967 3,590

Total Customers 2.7% 430,926 100.0% 408,493 349,306

Generation mix:
Coal 90.8% 84.8% 85.4%
Natural gas and oil 9.2 15.2 14.6

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Generating capability (MW):
Coal 1,184 56.0% 1,174 895
Natural gas and oil 931 44.0 912 802

Total Generating Capability 2,115 100.0% 2,086 1,697

Gas Operations
Sales:

Residential 8.9% $603.0 62.5% $516.3 $398.1
Commercial 8.1% 258.0 26.7 213.8 161.7
Industrial (6.4%) 47.0 4.9 43.4 29.3
Other 7.0% 56.3 5.9 53.0 49.1

Total Sales 6.9% $964.3 100.0% $826.5 $638.2

MCF sales (000’s):
Residential 1.7% 66,858 30.9% 72,648 70,082
Commercial .2% 31,474 14.5 34,247 33,418
Industrial (13.0%) 7,664 3.5 8,247 7,305
Other (13.9%) 431 .2 607 1,334

Total MCF Sales (1.2%) 106,427 49.1 115,749 112,139
Gas transportation .2% 110,132 50.9 125,959 135,692

Total Sales and Transportation (.5%) 216,559 100.0% 241,708 247,831

Customers at year end:
Residential 4.2% 783,409 89.6% 773,017 749,219
Commercial 3.0% 78,062 8.9 77,319 71,933
Industrial (4.9%) 2,226 .3 2,361 1,354
Other 34.4% 10,341 1.2 10,019 8,665

Total Customers 4.2% 874,038 100.0% 862,716 831,171
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10-Year
Average Annual

Dollars in millions except per share Growth Rate 2001 2000 1999 1998
Statement of Income
Total sales 43.7% $40,376.8 $28,974.9 $18,621.5 $12,563.4 
Total cost of sales 53.0% 38,588.8 27,546.2 17,464.7 11,596.0 
Gross profit 13.0% 1,788.0 1,428.7 1,156.8 967.4 
Total expenses, net 12.9% 1,083.3 888.7 742.8 616.0 
Earnings before interest and taxes 13.2% 704.7 540.0 414.0 351.4 
Total interest expense 10.5% 223.1 215.0 185.3 132.6 
Income tax expense 16.6% 202.2 118.2 68.2 86.6 
Earnings before extraordinary items

and effects of accounting changes 13.7% 279.4 206.8 160.5 132.2 
Extraordinary items and effects of

accounting changes — — — —
Net income 13.7% 279.4 206.8 160.5 132.2 
Preference and preferred dividends — — — —
Earnings Available for Common Shares 14.9% $ 279.4 $ 206.8 $ 160.5 $ 132.2 

Common Stock Data
Diluted earnings per common share 4.8% $ 2.42 $ 2.21 $ 1.75 $ 1.63
Return on average common equity (1.3%) 11.70% 13.46% 10.80% 11.43%
Cash dividends paid per common share 1.6% $ 1.20 $ 1.20 $ 1.20 $ 1.20
Book value per common share at year end 5.6% 22.01 17.94 16.34 15.83
Market price of common stock at year end 2.9% 25.17 31.00 19.44 24.46

Capitalization
Common shareholders’ equity $2,551.6 $1,799.6 $1,525.4 $1,446.3
Preference and preferred stock — — — —
Company-obligated preferred securities (b) 350.0 450.0 350.0 100.0
Short-term debt 548.6 501.0 248.9 235.6
Long-term debt (b) 2,327.0 2,397.6 2,245.1 1,625.4
Total Capitalization $5,777.2 $5,148.2 $4,369.4 $3,407.3

Capitalization ratios:
Common shareholders’ equity 44.2% 35.0% 34.9% 42.5%
Preference and preferred stock — — — —
Company-obligated preferred securities (b) 6.0 8.7 8.0 2.9
Short-term debt 9.5 9.7 5.7 6.9
Long-term debt (b) 40.3 46.6 51.4 47.7
Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Debt Ratings
Fitch Ratings BBB– BBB BBB BBB
Moody’s Investors Service Baa3 Baa3 Baa3 Baa3
Standard and Poor’s Corporation BBB BBB BBB BBB

(a) Amounts prior to 1999 may not reflect reclassifications to conform to the 2001 presentation, and may not consistently reflect changes in accounting
policies that may have occurred during the eight years prior to 1999.

(b) Includes current maturities.
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1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991

$8,926.3 $4,332.3 $2,792.6 $2,398.1 $ 2,746.1 $ 1,298.9 $ 1,075.2
7,972.0 3,420.3 1,886.1 1,575.8 1,960.6 707.5 549.9

954.3 912.0 906.5 822.3 785.5 591.4 525.3
595.2 585.8 652.9 582.3 578.6 407.8 321.6
359.1 326.2 253.6 240.0 206.9 183.6 203.7
135.3 139.7 121.8 93.5 90.5 99.1 82.5
89.7 80.7 52.0 52.1 30.0 31.6 43.6

134.1 105.8 79.8 94.4 86.4 52.9 77.6

12.0 — — — — — —
122.1 105.8 79.8 94.4 86.4 52.9 77.6

.3 2.1 2.1 3.0 6.9 6.9 7.8
$ 121.8 $ 103.7 $ 77.7 $ 91.4 $ 79.5 $ 46.0 $ 69.8

$ 1.51 $ 1.46 $ 1.14 $ 1.37 $ 1.28 $ .87 $ 1.51
10.27% 10.31% 8.40% 10.24% 9.84% 6.93% 13.32%

$ 1.17 $ 1.17 $ 1.15 $ 1.13 $ 1.08 $ 1.07 $ 1.03
14.43 14.50 13.73 13.49 13.51 12.44 12.79
25.87 18.00 19.59 17.67 21.17 18.42 19.00

$1,163.6 $1,158.0 $ 946.3 $ 906.8 $ 851.7 $ 661.1 $ 660.7
— 25.0 25.4 25.4 83.9 95.1 97.1

100.0 100.0 100.0 — — — —
113.8 252.0 288.6 182.4 70.0 230.9 111.0

1,508.9 1,496.4 1,370.5 1,115.7 1,011.5 896.7 931.6
$2,886.3 $3,031.4 $2,730.8 $2,230.3 $ 2,017.1 $ 1,883.8 $ 1,800.4

40.3% 38.2% 34.7% 40.7% 42.2% 35.1% 36.7%
— .8 .9 1.1 4.2 5.0 5.4
3.5 3.3 3.7 — — — —
3.9 8.3 10.6 8.2 3.5 12.3 6.2

52.3 49.4 50.1 50.0 50.1 47.6 51.7
100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

BBB BBB BBB BBB BBB BBB BBB
Baa3 Baa3 Baa3 Baa3 Baa3 Baa2 Baa2
BBB BBB BBB BBB BBB BBB BBB
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www.aquila.com
Information you’ll find on our website includes our news
releases, annual reports, live stock quotes, audio and video of
management presentations, documents filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission such as Forms 10-K and 10-Q, and
information about our products and services. 

Links make it easy to visit the home pages of our business
units. From time to time we also provide live webcasts of pre-
sentations to the investment community. 

For the quickest way to stay informed, sign up through the
website to receive dividend information, press releases, meeting
notices and other types of information by e-mail as soon as they
are released.

Annual Meeting
We will hold our 2002 annual meeting of Aquila shareholders 
in Kansas City, Missouri at 2:30 p.m. on Wednesday, May 1 at
Starlight Theatre, 4600 Starlight Road. We will host a reception
with light refreshments before the meeting. 

You can file your proxy for the annual meeting electronically.
See page 69 for details on this easy process. We also encourage
you to help us reduce costs and save trees by signing up to
receive future annual reports electronically instead of by mail.

Stock Listings
The common shares of Aquila, Inc. are listed on the New York,
Pacific and Toronto stock exchanges. The company’s trading
symbol is ILA. At the end of 2001, Aquila had approximately
112,000 common shareholders and about 115.9 million shares
outstanding.

The Aquila name and the “ILA” symbol were previously used
by the former Aquila, Inc. subsidiary of UtiliCorp United (NYSE:
UCU). UtiliCorp acquired all of the publicly held shares of the
subsidiary in January 2002 and the subsidiary’s shares ceased
trading. In March, the parent of the recombined company
changed its name from UtiliCorp United to Aquila, Inc. and
adopted the ILA ticker symbol. The subsidiary formerly known
as Aquila, Inc. is now Aquila Merchant Services, Inc.

Sources of current investment research on Aquila, Inc. secu-
rities are shown on page 21. 

Shares of UnitedNetworks Limited, which is 55 percent
owned by Aquila, are traded on the New Zealand Stock
Exchange under the symbol UNL.NZ. Shares of United Energy
Limited, 34 percent owned by Aquila, are traded on the
Australian Stock Exchange (ASE) under the symbol UEL.AX.
Shares of Uecomm Limited, 66 percent owned by United Energy,
are also traded on the ASE under the symbol UEC.AX. Shares of
AlintaGas Limited, in which Aquila and United Energy jointly
hold a 45 percent interest, are traded on the ASE under the
symbol ALN.AX.

Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Purchases
Aquila’s Dividend Reinvestment and Common Stock Purchase
Plan combines dividend reinvestment and optional cash pur-
chase with a direct purchase provision. This enables investors
to acquire their first shares of our common stock directly from
the company without brokerage fees. (The minimum initial pur-
chase for first-time buyers is $250.) 

■ You may purchase $50 or more in additional shares under
the terms of our purchase plan, up to a maximum of
$10,000 per month. 

■ Direct shareholders can buy more shares automatically
with all or some of their dividends. 

■ We purchase reinvestment shares for you under the plan at
5% less than the market price. 

■ Other options include partial reinvestment of dividends,
electronic payment for cash purchases, and safekeeping of
share certificates. 

■ The plan prospectus explains all of these points in full
detail. You may download the prospectus and an enroll-
ment form from www.aquila.com; or call 1-866-235-0223
toll-free to have them come by mail.

Shareholder Inquiries
Our transfer agent is UMB Bank, n.a. Please call them for
answers to questions about your account, including dividend
payments, the Dividend Reinvestment and Common Stock
Purchase Plan, direct deposit service or the transfer of shares.

Here is how to reach them:

Toll-free.  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  1-866-235-0223
From outside the United States .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  816-860-7786
Internet .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  www.umb.com/business/shareholder

You may contact Aquila Investor Relations toll-free at 
1-800-487-6661, or at 816-421-6600. However, we usually refer
to the transfer agent any calls about the transfer of shares, 
dividend reinvestment, cash purchases or direct deposit service.
You may also contact Investor Relations by e-mail through the
Investor Relations section of Aquila’s website: www.aquila.com.

Mailing Addresses 
Investor Relations
Aquila, Inc.
P.O. Box 13287
Kansas City, MO 64199-3287

Mail regarding the transfer of shares should be addressed to
the transfer agent:

UMB Bank, n.a.
Securities Transfer Division
P.O. Box 410064
Kansas City, MO 64141-0064

Documents may also be delivered to UMB Securities Transfer
Division, 928 Grand Blvd., 13th Floor, Kansas City, MO 64106. 

Form 10-K
Contact Investor Relations if you want to receive a printed copy
of the Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.

Investor Information
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Electronic Proxy Voting
There are several ways to cast your proxy vote. Each proxy card
contains instructions and a personal security number to allow
you to vote over the telephone or via the Internet. You may vote
by telephone using a toll-free number. Just follow the voice
prompts to vote on each issue shown on the proxy card. This
takes only minutes. You may also vote online by accessing our
secure Aquila shareholder voting site. The web address and
instructions are shown on your 2002 proxy card.

When you vote online, you can also sign up to receive all
future proxy materials, annual meeting notices and annual
reports electronically. When doing this, you will be prompted to
supply your e-mail address.

Online Account Access
You can review your Aquila stock account over the Internet,
using your personal identification number (PIN). To access your
account, log on to www.UMB.com/business/shareholder and

choose Shareholder View. Then use the account number shown
on your statement. Your new PIN will be supplied on the first
dividend check or reinvestment statement you receive from
UMB in March. You may also request a new PIN at
www.UMB.com/business/shareholder under Shareholder View,
or by calling 1-866-235-0223. This service allows you to check
the current share price and total value of your account, obtain
account and dividend history, or request investment plan infor-
mation. It is available 24 hours a day.

Shareholder Information Line
Our current stock price, news releases and other Aquila 
information are accessible by dialing a toll-free number—
1-888-828-2000. By following the voice prompts, you can also
get information about our shareholder services and transfer
agent.

Age / Year 
Joined Company

Richard C. Green, Jr. Chairman of the Board 47 / 1976

Robert K. Green President and Chief Executive Officer 40 / 1988

Keith Stamm President and Chief Operating Officer, Global Networks Group 41 / 1983

Edward Mills President and Chief Operating Officer, Aquila Merchant Services 42 / 1993

Dan Streek Chief Financial Officer 40 / 1992

Leo E. Morton Senior Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer 56 / 1994

Leslie J. Parrette, Jr. Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary 40 / 2000

C. E. Payne, Jr. Senior Vice President and Chief Risk Officer 51 / 1995

R. Paul Perkins Senior Vice President, Corporate Development 59 / 1994

Corporate Leadership

When you call or e-mail Aquila Investor Relations for informa-

tion, the person you reach is likely to be (left to right) either

Stephanie Sulzen, Kay McMillan or Pat Blanton. They’re pre-

pared to help you with your individual shareholder account or

answer your questions.

Investor Relations
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The depth and diversity of Aquila’s outside directors equip the board

to provide our senior management with objective counsel seasoned

by a broad range of experience. Their input reflects a variety of

backgrounds and professional experience, including retail products

and services, higher education, banking and finance, risk manage-

ment, manufacturing and marketing. In the past year we welcomed

two new directors, bringing the number of board members back up

to 10. Gerald L. Shaheen, group president at Caterpillar Inc., joined

the board in August 2001. Heidi E. Hutter, chief executive officer and

a principal of The Black Diamond Group, LLC, became an Aquila

director in February 2002. Dr. Shirley Ann Jackson resigned as a

director in May 2001 to devote more of her time to her duties as

president of Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute.

The Aquila board welcomes two new directors, continues 
to draw on diverse strengths to guide the company’s strategy.

Board of Directors

Committee chairmen are underlined.

Executive Committee: R.C. Green, R.K. Green, Jackson and Hockaday.
When the Board is not in session, exercises the Board’s authority to the extent delegated by the Board.

Audit Committee: Jackson, Baker, Ikenberry and Shaheen.
Reviews management’s selection of independent accountants and makes recommendation to the Board; reviews and approves 

audit plans, accounting policies, financial statements and reporting, and internal audit reports and controls.

Compensation Committee: Cain, Hockaday and Ikenberry.
Reviews policies, practices and procedures covering compensation of key employees; establishes and administers compensation 

programs and plans.

Nominating Committee: Ikenberry, Baker, Cain and Hockaday.
Considers and recommends nominees for director, including those nominated by shareholders.

Pension and Benefits Committee: Baker, R.K. Green and Jackson.
Establishes and administers the retirement plan and certain other employee benefit plans.

Corporate Governance

47; a director since 1982.
Chairman of the board since
1989. Chief executive officer
from 1985 through 2001.
Joined the company in 1976
and held various positions in
network operations, legal
affairs, treasury and finance
prior to becoming executive
vice president in 1982.
Launched the company’s
growth strategy in 1985 and
formed UtiliCorp United (now
Aquila, Inc.) from Missouri
Public Service Company.

Richard C. Green, Jr.
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75; a director since 1971.
Retired as Aquila’s vice 
chairman of the board in 1995;
47 years as an employee
included many different 
positions in accounting,
finance and corporate 
development. Played a key
role in Aquila’s successful
merger and acquisition 
program during his tenure 
as senior vice president, 
corporate development,
1985-91.

56; a director since 1992.
Chief executive officer of
T.H.E. Inc., a leadership 
consulting company, and
chairman of the board of
Godfather’s Pizza, Inc.,
Omaha, NE. Former chief
executive officer and 
president of the National
Restaurant Association, 
and a former director of 
the Federal Reserve Bank,
Kansas City.

40; a director since 1993.
President and chief executive
officer since January 2002.
Served as president and chief
operating officer, 1996-2001.
Previously was executive vice
president of the company,
1993-96; president of the
Missouri Public Service divi-
sion, 1991-96; and held other
executive positions, 1989-91.
Practiced law 1987-89.

65; a director since 1995.
Retired as president and 
CEO of Hallmark Cards, Inc.,
Kansas City, MO, at the end
of 2001; joined Hallmark in
1983. Previously president
and CEO of Kansas City
Southern Industries, Inc. 
(rail transportation and 
financial services). Practiced
law before joining KCSI in
1968. A former chairman of
the Federal Reserve Bank,
Kansas City.

67; a director since 1993.
Former president, American
Council on Education,
Washington, DC (association
of American institutions of
higher learning), 1996-2001.
Previously president, the
University of Illinois, Urbana,
IL, 1979-95. Prior posts
include senior vice president,
The Pennsylvania State
University and administrative
and research positions at
West Virginia University and
Michigan State University.

76; a director since 1981.
Retired in 1985 as president
of CharterCorp of Kansas
City, MO, a bank holding
company comprised of 26
affiliate banks in Missouri
(through mergers, now Bank
of America Corporation).
Long career in banking
included a number of execu-
tive positions and service as
a director of banks and 
banking associations.

57; a director since August
2001. Group president at
Caterpillar Inc. since 1998, 
responsible for the design,
development and production 
of Caterpillar’s mining, 
forest and construction
equipment and North
American marketing and
sales. Has served as managing
director of Caterpillar
Overseas S.A. in Geneva,
Switzerland, then vice 
president of the Engine
Products Division. He joined
Caterpillar in 1967.

73; a director since 1986.
Retired as vice chairman 
of Marsh & McLennan, 
Incorporated, an international
insurance brokerage company,
New York, NY; held several
other senior executive 
positions before becoming
vice chairman. Previously
president of Mann-Kline, 
an insurance brokerage 
firm which merged with 
Marsh & McLennan in 1969.

86; Director emeritus since
May 2000; previously a
director since 1973. Editor
and publisher of The Daily
Star-Journal (a daily 
newspaper), Warrensburg,
Missouri. Became chairman
of the board of directors 
of Aquila’s predecessor,
Missouri Public Service
Company, in 1982. Retired
as Aquila’s chairman in 1989.

John R. Baker Herman Cain Robert K. Green Irvine O. Hockaday, Jr.

Dr. Stanley O. Ikenberry Robert F. Jackson, Jr. Gerald L. ShaheenL. Patton Kline Avis Green Tucker

Heidi E. Hutter

44; a director since February
2002. Chief executive officer
and a principal of The Black
Diamond Group, LLC, a 
merchant bank and advisory
company, New York, NY, 
since 2001. Chairman, 
president and CEO of Swiss
Reinsurance America Corp.,
1996-99. Prior insurance
industry experience includes
project management for
Lloyd’s of London.




